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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements defined by the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements, which are based on certain assumptions and
describe our future plans, strategies and expectations, are generally identified by our use of words such as “intend,” “plan,”
“may,” “should,” “will,” “project,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “expect,” “continue,” “potential,” “opportunity” and similar
expressions, whether in the negative or affirmative. All statements about future expectations or projections, including
statements about loan volume, the appropriateness of the allowance for loan losses, operating income and expenses,
leverage and debt-to-equity ratios, borrower financial performance, impaired loans, and sources and uses of liquidity,
are forward-looking statements. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in our forward-looking statements
are based on reasonable assumptions, actual results and performance could materially differ. Factors that could cause
future results to vary from current expectations include, but are not limited to, general economic conditions, legislative
changes including those that could affect our tax status, governmental monetary and fiscal policies, demand for our
loan products, lending competition, changes in the quality or composition of our loan portfolio, changes in our ability
to access external financing, changes in the credit ratings on our debt, valuation of collateral supporting impaired
loans, charges associated with our operation or disposition of foreclosed assets, regulatory and economic conditions in
the rural electric industry, non-performance of counterparties to our derivative agreements and the costs and effects of
legal or governmental proceedings involving CFC or its members. Some of these and other factors are discussed in
our annual and quarterly reports previously filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Except as
required by law, we undertake no obligation to update or publicly release any revisions to forward-looking statements
to reflect events, circumstances or changes in expectations after the date on which the statement is made.

The information in this section should be read with our consolidated financial statements and related notes and the
information contained elsewhere in this Form 10-K, including that set forth under "Item 1A. Risk Factors" and "Item
7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

PART I
Item 1. Business

OVERVIEW

National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (“CFC”) is a member-owned cooperative association
incorporated under the laws of the District of Columbia in April 1969. CFC’s principal purpose is to provide its
members with financing to supplement the loan programs of the Rural Utilities Service (“RUS”) of the United States
Department of Agriculture (“USDA”). CFC makes loans to its rural electric members so they can acquire, construct and
operate electric distribution, generation, transmission and related facilities. CFC also provides its members with credit
enhancements in the form of letters of credit and guarantees of debt obligations. As a cooperative, CFC is owned by
and exclusively serves its membership, which consists solely of not-for-profit entities or subsidiaries or affiliates of
not-for-profit entities. CFC is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue
Code. As a member-owned cooperative, CFC has no publicly held equity securities outstanding. CFC funds its
activities primarily through a combination of publicly and privately held debt securities and member investments. As a
member-owned cooperative, CFC's objective is not to maximize profit, but rather offer its members cost-based
financial products and services consistent with sound financial management. As described below under “Allocation and
Retirement of Patronage Capital,” CFC annually allocates its net earnings, which consist of net income excluding the
effect of certain non-cash accounting entries, to a cooperative educational fund, a members’ capital reserve, a general
reserve, if necessary, and to members based on each member’s patronage of CFC’s loan programs during the year.
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For financial statement purposes, CFC’s results of operations and financial condition are consolidated with and include
Rural Telephone Finance Cooperative (“RTFC”) and National Cooperative Services Corporation (“NCSC”). Unless stated
otherwise, references to “we,” “our” or “us” relate to the consolidation of CFC, RTFC, NCSC and certain entities created
and controlled by CFC to hold foreclosed assets and to accommodate loan securitization transactions.

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to
those reports are available, free of charge, at www.nrucfc.coop as soon as reasonably practicable after they are
electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. These reports are also available free of charge on the SEC Web site
at www.sec.gov. Information posted on our Web site is not incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K.

1

Edgar Filing: NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORP /DC/ - Form 10-K

8



RTFC is a cooperative association originally incorporated in South Dakota in 1987 and reincorporated as a
member-owned cooperative association in the District of Columbia in 2005. RTFC’s principal purpose is to provide
financing for its rural telecommunications members and their affiliates. RTFC’s membership consists of a combination
of not-for-profit entities and for-profit entities. CFC is the sole lender to and manages the business operations of
RTFC through a management agreement in effect until December 1, 2016, which is automatically renewed for
one-year terms thereafter unless terminated by either party. Under a guarantee agreement, RTFC pays CFC a fee and,
in exchange, CFC reimburses RTFC for loan losses. RTFC is headquartered with CFC in Dulles, Virginia. RTFC is a
taxable cooperative that pays income tax based on its net income, excluding patronage-sourced earnings allocated to
its patrons, as permitted under Subchapter T of the Internal Revenue Code.

NCSC was incorporated in 1981 in the District of Columbia as a member-owned cooperative association. The
principal purpose of NCSC is to provide financing to members of CFC, entities eligible to be members of CFC and the
for-profit and nonprofit entities that are owned, operated or controlled by, or provide significant benefit to Class A, B
and C members of CFC. See the section "Our Members" below for a description of our member classes. At May 31,
2014, NCSC’s membership consisted primarily of distribution systems, power supply systems and statewide and
regional associations that were members of CFC. CFC is the primary source of funding to and manages the business
operations of NCSC through a management agreement that is automatically renewable on an annual basis unless
terminated by either party. Under a guarantee agreement, NCSC pays CFC a fee and, in exchange, CFC reimburses
NCSC for loan losses. NCSC is headquartered with CFC in Dulles, Virginia. NCSC is a taxable cooperative. Thus,
NCSC pays income tax based on its reported taxable income and deductions.

OUR BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Our business strategy and policies are set by our board of directors and, may be amended or revised from time to time
by the board of directors. We are a not-for-profit tax-exempt cooperative finance organization, whose primary focus is
to provide our members with the credit products they need to fund their operations. As such, our business
development strategies primarily focus on lending to electric systems and our ability to secure access to capital at rates
that allow us to offer competitively priced credit products to our members. In recent years, we have continued to
undertake the following initiatives related to our primary focus: (i) concentrate on electric lending, (ii) diversify
funding sources, (iii) decrease cost of funding and (iv) increase member investments and equity retention.

Focus on Electric Lending

In recent years, we renewed our focus on lending to our electric systems while strategically decreasing our
telecommunications exposure through RTFC. A majority of NCSC’s lending activities are to electric utility
organizations and when NCSC is combined with CFC, electric utility organizations represent approximately 98% of
the outstanding loan portfolio at May 31, 2014. Most of our electric cooperative borrowers continue to demonstrate
stable operating performance and strong financial ratios because the majority of electric cooperatives’ customers are
residential, for whom electricity is an essential service. Our electric cooperative members experience limited
competition as they generally operate in exclusive territories, the majority of which are not rate regulated.
Additionally, they generally have access to low-cost capital from the federal government in addition to our lending
resources. In our 45-year history, we have experienced $19 million in net write-offs for distribution borrowers and $67
million in net write-offs for power supply borrowers. Loans outstanding to electric utility organizations increased
approximately 8% over the last five years. On the other hand, the telecommunications service providers, to which
RTFC provides loans, have experienced fast-paced technological change, increasing competition and uncertainty with
respect to their regulatory environment. For these reasons, RTFC became more selective as to the companies it
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finances and strategically exited lending relationships with or reduced its exposure to its larger borrowers. The
telecommunications loan portfolio decreased by 73% over the last five years.

Diversify Funding Sources

Diversifying our funding sources to expand beyond capital markets offerings of collateral trust bonds and
medium-term notes and the sale of commercial paper has been a primary initiative in recent years. To help meet our
capital needs, we expanded our funding programs to include the Guaranteed Underwriter Program of the USDA, as
well as note purchase agreements and whole-loan sale programs primarily with the Federal Agricultural Mortgage
Corporation. At May 31, 2014, we have bond purchase agreements with the Federal Financing Bank totaling $4,923
million with a guarantee of repayment by USDA as part of the funding mechanism for the Rural Economic
Development Loan and Grant program. At May 31, 2014, we had debt outstanding totaling $4,299 million under this
program, with a remaining available commitment of $624 million. The guarantee fees paid to the government by CFC
in connection with these borrowings are used to fund economic development programs administered by the USDA in
the rural areas served by electric cooperatives and rural telephone organizations. At

2
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May 31, 2014, we have a note purchase agreement with the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation totaling
$3,900 million. Under the agreement we may borrow, repay and re-borrow funds up to $3,900 million at any time or
from time to time through January 11, 2016 as market conditions permit. We may select a fixed rate or a variable rate
at the time of each advance. Additionally, we developed a program to sell member systems’ distribution and power
supply loans to the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation to help manage single-obligor exposures within our
loan portfolio, to create an additional form of liquidity and to manage the level of our debt-to-equity ratio. In addition
to the program we have with the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation, we established a similar program with
KeyBank National Association (“KeyBank”) during fiscal year 2012. At May 31, 2014, we were servicing $1,044
million of loans sold to our loan sales program partners.

Decrease Cost of Funding

In recent years, we have also sought to decrease costs related to our funding where possible. During fiscal year 2014,
we refinanced higher-cost, maturing debt with lower-cost debt. Specifically, in May 2014, we completed an exchange
of $209 million of our outstanding 8% medium-term notes, Series C, due 2032 for $218 million of 4.023% collateral
trust bonds due 2032 and $91 million of cash. On December 16, 2013, we redeemed early $150 million of our $600
million 4.75% collateral trust bonds due March 1, 2014.

During fiscal year 2014, the CFC Board of Directors authorized management to execute the call of our 7.5% member
capital securities and offer members the option to invest in a new series of member capital securities that currently
have a 5% interest rate. As of May 31, 2014, $267 million of the 7.5% member capital securities were redeemed and
we had call notices outstanding for another $59 million. As of May 31, 2014, members have invested $147 million in
the new series of member capital securities. The portion that was not reinvested is being funded with lower-cost
short-term debt.

We also continued to maintain a high utilization of our commercial paper and other short-term funding to take
advantage of the low interest rate environment. At May 31, 2014 and 2013, commercial paper, select notes, daily
liquidity fund notes and bank bid notes outstanding represented 19% and 20%, respectively, of total debt outstanding.
See "Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" for additional
information regarding our funding sources.

Increase Member Investments and Equity Retention

In fiscal year 2009, we developed a corporate objective to increase the investments of our members and our equity
retention by implementing two primary initiatives: (i) offering of member capital securities, a 30-year or 35-year
unsecured and subordinated voluntary debt investment, to our members beginning in November 2008 and (ii)
adjusting CFC’s patronage capital retirement practices in June 2009.

Member capital securities are unsecured obligations and are subordinate to all of our existing and future senior
indebtedness and all of our existing and future subordinated indebtedness that may be held by or transferred to
non-members, but rank on a parity to all other members’ subordinated certificates. Series 2008 member capital
maturities mature 35 years from the date of issuance, typically pay interest at 7.5% and are callable at par at our option
five years from the date of issuance and anytime thereafter. Series 2013 member capital securities mature 30 years
from the date of issuance, typically pay interest at 5% and are callable at par at our option 10 years from the date of
issuance and anytime thereafter.

For computing compliance with our revolving credit agreement covenants, we are required to adjust our leverage ratio
by subtracting members’ subordinated certificates, including member capital securities, from total liabilities and adding
this amount to total equity.
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At the end of each fiscal year, the CFC Board of Directors allocates net earnings to members in the form of patronage
capital and to board-approved reserves. CFC bases the amount of net earnings allocated to each member on the
member’s patronage of CFC’s lending programs during the year. The CFC Board of Directors historically votes to retire
a portion of the prior year’s patronage capital allocation. The current policy of the CFC Board of Directors is to retire
50% of the prior fiscal year’s allocated net earnings following the end of each fiscal year and to hold the remaining
50% for 25 years to fund operations and maintain adequate equity. The CFC Board of Directors has continued to add
to the members’ capital reserve each year from net earnings. As of May 31, 2014, the members’ capital reserve is $485
million, representing a significant component of retained equity.

3
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LOAN PROGRAMS

CFC lends to its members and associates; RTFC lends to its members, organizations affiliated with its members and
its associates; NCSC lends to its members and associates. The loans to NCSC associates may require a guarantee of
repayment to NCSC from the CFC member cooperative with which it is affiliated.

The loans of CFC, RTFC and NCSC generally provide that an event of default has occurred if there is any material
adverse change in the business or condition, financial or otherwise, of the borrower. Our loan standards are generally
comparable to those of RUS, and most members significantly exceed the financial tests set by both RUS and CFC.

CFC Loan Programs

Long-Term Loans

CFC’s long-term loans generally have the following characteristics:
•terms of up to 35 years on a senior secured basis;
•amortizing or bullet maturity loans with serial payment structures;

•the property, plant and equipment financed by and securing the long-term loan has a useful life equal to or in excessof the loan maturity;
•flexibility for the borrower to select a fixed interest rate for periods of one to 35 years or a variable rate; and
•the ability for the borrower to select various tranches with either a fixed or variable interest rate for each tranche.

Most borrowers may select a fixed or a variable interest rate at the time of each advance on long-term loan facilities.
When selecting a fixed rate, the borrower has the option to choose a fixed rate for a term of one year through the final
maturity of the loan. When the selected fixed interest rate term expires, the borrower may select another fixed rate for
a term of one year through the loan maturity or the current variable rate. Long-term fixed rates are set daily for new
loan advances and loans that reprice. The fixed rate on each loan is determined on the day the loan is advanced or
repriced based on the term selected. The long-term variable rate is set on the first day of each month.

To be in compliance with the covenants in the loan agreement and eligible for loan advances, distribution systems
generally must maintain an average modified debt service coverage ratio, as defined in the loan agreement, of 1.35 or
greater. CFC may make long-term loans to distribution systems, on a case-by-case basis, that do not meet these
general criteria. Power supply systems generally are required either (i) to maintain an average modified debt service
coverage ratio, as defined in the loan agreement, of 1.00 or greater or (ii) to establish and collect rates and other
revenue in an amount to yield margins for interest, as defined in the indenture, in each fiscal year sufficient to equal at
least 1.00, or (iii) both. CFC may make long-term loans to power supply systems, on a case-by-case basis, that may
include other requirements, such as maintenance of a minimum equity level.

Line of Credit Loans

Line of credit loans are generally unsecured. Line of credit loans are designed primarily to assist borrowers with
liquidity and cash management and are generally advanced at variable interest rates. Line of credit loans are typically
revolving facilities and generally require the borrower to pay off the principal balance for at least five consecutive
business days at least once during each 12-month period. Line of credit loans are also made available as interim
financing when a member either receives RUS approval to obtain a loan and is awaiting its initial advance of funds or
submits a loan application that is pending approval from RUS (sometimes referred to as “bridge loans”). RUS loan
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advances, when received, must be used to repay these interim facilities.

Syndicated Line of Credit Loans

A syndicated loan is typically a large financing offered by a group of lenders that work together to provide funds for a
single borrower. Syndicated loans are generally unsecured, floating-rate loans that can be provided on a revolving or
term basis for tenors that range from several months to five years. Syndicated financing is arranged for borrowers on a
case-by-case basis. CFC may act as lead lender, arranger and administrative agent for the syndicated facilities. CFC
uses its best efforts to syndicate the loan requirements of certain borrowers. The success of such efforts depends on the
financial position and credit quality of the borrower as well as market conditions.

4
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RTFC Loan Programs

At May 31, 2014 and 2013, 93% of RTFC loans were outstanding to rural local exchange carriers or holding
companies of rural local exchange carriers. Most of these rural telecommunications companies have diversified their
operations and also provide broadband services.

Long-Term Loans

RTFC makes long-term loans to rural telecommunications companies for debt refinancing, construction or upgrades of
infrastructure, acquisitions and other corporate purposes.

RTFC’s long-term loans generally have the following characteristics:
•terms not exceeding 10 years on a senior secured basis;

•the property, plant and equipment financed by and securing the long-term loan has a useful life equal to or in excessof the loan maturity;

•flexibility for the borrower to select a fixed interest rate for periods from one year to the final loan maturity or avariable interest rate; and
•the ability for the borrower to select various tranches with either a fixed or variable interest rate for each tranche.

For most loans, when a selected fixed interest rate term expires, the borrower may select another fixed-rate term or a
variable rate. The fixed rate on a loan is determined on the day the loan is advanced or converted to a fixed rate based
on the term selected. The long-term variable rate is set on the first day of each month.

To borrow from RTFC, a rural telecommunication system generally must be able to demonstrate the ability to achieve
and maintain an annual debt service coverage ratio of 1.25. RTFC may make long-term loans to rural
telecommunication systems, on a case-by-case basis, that do not meet these general criteria.

Line of Credit Loans

Line of credit loans are generally unsecured. Line of credit loans are designed primarily to assist borrowers with
liquidity and cash management and are generally advanced at variable interest rates. Line of credit loans are typically
revolving facilities and generally require the borrower to pay off the principal balance for at least five consecutive
business days at least once during each 12-month period. Line of credit loans are also made available as interim
financing, or bridge loans, when a borrower either receives RUS approval to obtain a loan and is awaiting its initial
advance of funds or submits a loan application that is pending approval from RUS. RUS loan advances, when
received, must be used to repay these interim facilities.

NCSC Loan Programs

Long-Term Loans

NCSC’s long-term loans generally have the following characteristics:
•terms of up to 35 years on a senior secured or unsecured basis;
•amortizing or bullet maturity loans with serial payment structures;

•the property, plant and equipment financed by and securing the long-term loan has a useful life equal to or in excessof the loan maturity;
•flexibility for the borrower to select a fixed interest rate for periods of one to 35 years or a variable rate; and
•the ability for the borrower to select various tranches with either a fixed or variable interest rate for each tranche.
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NCSC allows most borrowers to select a fixed interest rate or a variable interest at the time of each advance on
long-term loan facilities. When selecting a fixed rate, the borrower has the option to choose a fixed rate for a term of
one year through the final maturity of the loan. When the selected fixed interest rate term expires, the borrower may
select another fixed rate for a term of one year through the loan maturity or the current variable rate. NCSC sets
long-term fixed rates daily for new loan advances and loans that reprice. The fixed rate on a loan is determined on the
day the loan is advanced or repriced based on the term selected. The long-term variable rate is set on the first day of
each month.

Line of Credit Loans

Line of credit loans are generally secured. Line of credit loans are designed primarily to assist borrowers with liquidity
and cash management and are generally advanced at variable interest rates. Line of credit loans are typically revolving
facilities.

5
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Loan Features and Options

Interest Rates on Loans

As a member-owned cooperative finance organization, we are a cost-based lender. Our interest rates are set primarily
based on our cost of funding, general and administrative expenses, loan loss provision and to provide a reasonable
level of earnings. Various standardized discounts may reduce the stated interest rates for Class A and Class B
borrowers meeting certain criteria related to business type, performance, volume and whether they borrow solely from
us.

Conversion of Loans

Generally, a borrower may convert a long-term loan from a variable interest rate to a fixed interest rate at any time
without a fee and convert a long-term loan from a fixed rate to another fixed rate or to a variable rate at any time upon
payment of a conversion fee, if applicable, based on current loan policies.

Prepayment of Loans

Generally, borrowers may prepay long-term fixed-rate loans at any time, subject to payment of an administrative fee
and a make-whole premium and prepay long-term variable-rate loans at any time, subject to payment of an
administrative fee. Line of credit loans may be prepaid at any time without a fee, unless the interest rate on the loan is
fixed or based on a LIBOR index.

Loan Security

Long-term loans are typically senior secured on parity with other secured lenders (primarily RUS), if any, by all assets
and revenue of the borrower, subject to standard liens typical in utility mortgages such as those related to taxes,
worker’s compensation awards, mechanics’ and similar liens, rights-of-way, governmental rights and judgment liens.
We are able to obtain liens on parity with liens for the benefit of RUS even where the RUS loan was made earlier in
time than ours because RUS’ form of mortgage expressly provides for other lenders such as CFC to have a parity lien
position if the borrower satisfies certain conditions or obtains a written lien accommodation from RUS. When we
make loans to borrowers that have existing loans from RUS, we generally require those borrowers to either obtain
such a lien accommodation or satisfy the conditions necessary for our loan to be secured on parity under the mortgage
with the loan from RUS.

As noted above, our line of credit loans are generally unsecured.

GUARANTEE PROGRAMS

When we guarantee debt obligations for our members, we use the same credit policies and monitoring procedures for
guarantees as for loans and commitments. If a member system defaults in its obligation to pay debt service, then we
are obligated to pay any required amounts under our guarantees. Meeting our guarantee obligations satisfies the
underlying obligation of our member systems and prevents the exercise of remedies by the guarantee beneficiary
based upon a payment default by a member system. In general, the member system is required to repay, any amount
advanced by us with interest, pursuant to the documents evidencing the member system’s reimbursement obligation.
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We have no significant guarantee concentrations in any one state or territory.

Guarantees of Long-Term Tax-Exempt Bonds

We guarantee debt issued for our members’ construction or acquisition of pollution control, solid waste disposal,
industrial development and electric distribution facilities. Governmental authorities issue such debt on a non-recourse
basis and the interest thereon is exempt from federal taxation. The proceeds of the offering are made available to the
member system, which in turn is obligated to pay the governmental authority amounts sufficient to service the debt.
The debt we guarantee may include short- and long-term obligations.

If a system defaults for failure to make the debt payments, we are obligated to pay, after available debt service reserve
funds have been exhausted, scheduled debt service under our guarantee. Such payment will prevent the occurrence of
an event of default that would otherwise permit acceleration of the bond issue. The system is required to repay any
amount that we advance pursuant to our guarantee plus interest on that advance. This repayment obligation, together
with the interest thereon, is
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typically senior secured on a parity with other lenders (including, in most cases, RUS), by a lien on substantially all of
the system’s assets. If the security instrument is a common mortgage with RUS, then in general, we may not exercise
remedies for up to two years following default. However, if the debt is accelerated under the common mortgage
because of a determination that the related interest is not tax-exempt, the system’s obligation to reimburse us for any
guarantee payments will be treated as a long-term loan. The system is required to pay us initial and/or ongoing
guarantee fees in connection with these transactions.

Certain guaranteed long-term debt bears interest at variable rates that are adjusted at intervals of one to 270 days
including weekly, every five weeks or semi-annually to a level favorable to their resale or auction at par. If funding
sources are available, the member that issued the debt may choose a fixed interest rate on the debt. When the variable
rate is reset, holders of variable-rate debt have the right to tender the debt for purchase at par. In some transactions, we
have committed to purchase this debt as liquidity provider if it cannot otherwise be remarketed. If we hold the
securities, the cooperative pays interest to us at our short-term variable interest rate. The system is required to pay us
standby liquidity fees in connection with these transactions.

Letters of Credit

In exchange for a fee, we issue irrevocable letters of credit to support members’ obligations to energy marketers, other
third parties and to the USDA Rural Business and Cooperative Development Service. Each letter of credit is supported
by a reimbursement agreement with the member on whose behalf the letter of credit was issued. In the event a
beneficiary draws on a letter of credit, the agreement generally requires the member to reimburse us within one year
from the date of the draw, with interest accruing from that date at our line of credit variable interest rate.

Other Guarantees

We may provide other guarantees as requested by our members. These guarantees may be made on a secured or
unsecured basis with guarantee fees set to cover our general and administrative expenses, a provision for losses and a
reasonable margin.

INVESTMENT POLICY

We invest funds in accordance with policies adopted by our Board of Directors. Under our current investment policy,
funds may be invested in direct obligations of, or guaranteed by, the United States or agencies thereof and investments
in government sponsored enterprises. Our policy also permits us to invest in certain financial institutions in the form
of overnight investment products and Eurodollar deposits, bankers’ acceptances, certificates of deposit, working capital
acceptances or other deposits. Other permitted investments include highly rated obligations, such as commercial
paper, certain obligations of foreign governments and certain corporate bonds. In addition, we may invest in
repurchase agreements secured by direct obligations of the United States or its agencies and highly rated commercial
paper that is set aside in a segregated account. All of these investments are subject to certain limitations set forth in
our investment policy.

OUR LENDING COMPETITION

Electric Lending
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RUS is the largest lender to electric cooperatives. RUS provides long-term secured loans. CFC provides financial
products and services, primarily in the form of long-term and short-term loans, to its electric cooperative members to
supplement RUS financing, to provide loans to members that have elected not to borrow from RUS, and to bridge
long-term financing provided by RUS.

CFC’s primary competitor is CoBank, ACB, a federally chartered instrumentality of the United States that is a member
of the Farm Credit System. CFC also competes with banks, other financial institutions, and the capital markets to
provide loans and other financial products to our members. As a result, we are competing with the customer service,
pricing and funding options the member is able to obtain from these sources. We attempt to minimize the effect of
competition by offering a variety of loan options and value-added services and by leveraging the working
relationships developed with the majority of our members. Further, on an annual basis, we allocate substantially all
net earnings to members (i) through the members’ capital reserve and (ii) in the form of patronage capital, which
reduces our members’ effective cost of borrowing. The value-added services that we
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provide include, but are not limited to, cash management services, benchmarking tools, financial models, and various
conferences, meetings, and training workshops.

In order to meet other financing needs of our members, we offer options including credit support in the form of letters
of credit and guarantees, loan syndications and loan participations. Our credit products are tailored to meet the specific
needs of each cooperative and we often offer specific transaction structures that our competitors do not or are unable
to provide. CFC also offers certain risk mitigation products and interest rate discounts on secured, long-term loans for
its members that meet certain criteria, including performance, volume, collateral and equity requirements.

CFC has established certain funds to benefit its members. Since 1981, CFC has set aside a portion of its annual net
earnings in a cooperative educational fund to promote awareness and appreciation of the cooperative principles. As
directed by the CFC Board of Directors, a portion of the contributions to the funds are distributed through the electric
cooperative statewide associations. Since 1986, CFC has supported its members’ efforts to protect their service
territories from erosion or takeover by other utilities through assistance from the Cooperative System Integrity Fund.
This program is funded through voluntary contributions from members, and amounts are distributed to applicants who
establish that (i) all or a significant portion of their consumers, services or facilities face a hostile threat of acquisition
or annexation by a competing entity, (ii) that it faces a significant threat in its ability to continue to provide electric or
other energy services to customers, or (iii) it is facing regulatory, judicial or legislative challenges that may materially
affect other cooperatives in its state, region or nation.

Our rural electric borrowers are mostly private companies; thus, the overall size of the rural electric lending market
cannot be determined from public information. We estimate the size of the overall rural electric lending market from
the annual financial and statistical reports filed with us by our members using calendar year data; however, there are
certain limitations with regard to these estimates, including the following:

•while the underlying data included in the financial and statistical reports may be audited, the preparation of thefinancial and statistical reports is not audited;

•in some cases, not all members provide the annual financial and statistical reports on a timely basis to be included insummarized results; and
•the financial and statistical reports do not include comprehensive data on indebtedness by lenders other than RUS.

According to financial data provided to us by our 810 reporting distribution systems and 58 reporting power supply
systems as of December 31, 2013, and our 809 reporting electric cooperative distribution systems and 57 reporting
power supply systems as of December 31, 2012, long-term debt outstanding to CFC, RUS and other lenders in the
electric cooperative industry by those entities was as follows at December 31, 2013 and 2012:
(Dollars in thousands) 2013 2012
Total long-term debt reported by members:
Distribution $43,556,428 $40,738,408
Power supply 44,323,068 42,815,991
Less: long-term debt funded by RUS (42,485,241 ) (39,680,399 )
Members’ non-RUS long-term debt $45,394,255 $43,874,000

(Dollars in thousands) 2013 % of Total 2012 % of Total
Long-term debt funded by CFC $18,463,481 41 % $17,101,777 39 %
Long-term debt funded by other lenders 26,930,774 59 26,772,223 61
Members’ non-RUS long-term debt $45,394,255 100 % $43,874,000 100 %

Members’ long-term debt funded by CFC is further summarized by type below at December 31, 2013 and 2012:
(Dollars in thousands) 2013 % of Total 2012 % of Total
Distribution $14,641,426 79 % $13,343,007 78 %

Edgar Filing: NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORP /DC/ - Form 10-K

21



Power supply 3,822,055 21 3,758,770 22
Long-term debt funded by CFC $18,463,481 100 % $17,101,777 100 %

We are not able to specifically identify the amount of debt our members have outstanding to CoBank, ACB, from
either the annual financial and statistical reports our members file with us or from CoBank, ACB’s public disclosure,
but we believe that
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CoBank, ACB, is the lender other than CFC and RUS with significant long-term debt outstanding to the rural electric
cooperatives.

Telecommunications Lending

In 1949, the Rural Electrification Act was amended to allow lending for the establishment and improvement of rural
telecommunications service. For the federal government’s fiscal year ending September 30, 2014, RUS has $690
million in annual lending authority for its Telecommunications Infrastructure Loan program. In addition, the
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 provided RUS with $2,500 million of budget authority for loans
and grants and the U.S. Department of Commerce’s National Telecommunications and Information Administration
with $4,700 million in budget authority for grants to support the expansion of broadband service into unserved and
underserved areas.

RTFC is not in direct competition with RUS, but rather competes with other lenders for supplemental lending and for
the full lending requirement of the rural telecommunications companies that decide not to borrow from RUS or for
projects not eligible for RUS financing. Given the increased availability of government financing for rural broadband,
it is unlikely we will participate in this financing to any significant degree outside of incremental lending to existing
rural local exchange carrier borrowers to provide broadband services to their customers or interim financing in
connection with the federal funding programs.

RTFC’s competition includes commercial banks and CoBank, ACB. The competitive market for providing credit to the
rural telecommunications industry is difficult to quantify. Many rural telecommunications companies are not
borrowers of RTFC, RUS or CoBank, ACB, and commercial banks generally do not publish information solely on
their telecom portfolios.

As of December 31, 2013, RUS had approximately $4,567 million in long-term loans outstanding to
telecommunications borrowers. At December 31, 2013, RTFC had $440 million in long-term loans outstanding to
telecommunications borrowers.

OUR REGULATION

CFC, RTFC and NCSC are not subject to federal regulatory oversight or compliance with regard to lending. CFC,
RTFC and NCSC are subject to state laws that pertain to the business conducted in each state, including but not
limited to lending laws, usury laws and laws governing mortgages.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”), which was signed into law
on July 21, 2010, significantly changed the regulation of the financial services industry. Of particular importance for
our operations are the Act’s Title VII provisions imposing new requirements on certain entities that use derivatives,
including requirements for swap end-users, such as mandatory clearing, margin mandates and recordkeeping
requirements.
Implementation of the Dodd-Frank Act is being accomplished through numerous rulemakings, many of which are still
in progress. Accordingly, it is difficult to fully assess the impact of the Dodd-Frank Act on CFC and the financial
services industry at this time. Numerous federal agencies, including the Commodity Futures Trading Commission
(“CFTC”) and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) have significant discretion in drafting and
implementing rules and regulations under the Dodd-Frank Act. These rules may subject us to additional costs and
operational requirements associated with any such regulations. However, the full impact of the Dodd-Frank Act will
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not be known until all final rules become effective. In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act requires various studies and
reports to be delivered to Congress, which could result in future legislative changes or regulatory action.
Dodd-Frank Act rulemakings and developments that may impact CFC include, but are not limited to, the following:
Title VII Derivatives Rulemakings - CFC is not a swap dealer under the final definition rules issued by the CFTC. We
are subject to certain requirements including the CFTC anti-fraud provisions, recordkeeping, and reporting.
Clearing Exemption - The Dodd-Frank Act generally requires that certain swaps, including interest rate swaps which
are utilized by CFC, be cleared through a central clearinghouse. On August 13, 2013, the CFTC approved a final rule,
“Clearing Exemption for Certain Swaps Entered into by Cooperatives,” exempting qualifying cooperative swaps from
mandatory clearing requirements. As a qualified cooperative, CFC is exempt from mandatory clearing requirements
pursuant to the final rule, provided certain conditions are met.
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Proposed Margin Requirements - The SEC, CFTC and other regulatory agencies have proposed rules that may require
us to post margins with our derivative counterparties. We have been actively engaged through the regulatory process
in advocating that CFC, as a not-for-profit lender owned and controlled by its member electric cooperatives, which are
commercial end-users, should be exempt from clearing and margin requirements, just as CFC’s members are exempt.
We will continue to urge the relevant federal agencies to include in their final rules an exemption for qualified
cooperatives from mandatory margin requirements for uncleared swaps. Additionally, we will continue to monitor the
rulemakings process and assess the impact of final rules and other regulatory activities under the Dodd-Frank Act on
our operations.
CFC Counterparties - We continue to assess the impact of the Dodd-Frank Act regulations affecting the derivative
activities of the banks, swap dealers, major swap participants, and other regulated entities that are our counterparties
in derivatives transactions, including the domestic and international proposed rules on mandatory uncleared swap
margin requirements for prudentially regulated banking institutions and other financial institutions. These rules, as
currently drafted, could result in additional operational and transactional costs for us.
SEC Corporate Governance - The Dodd-Frank Act requires the SEC to promulgate rules related to executive
compensation and compensation clawbacks, which may require us to make additional disclosures or alter controls
and/or risk management practices.

OUR MEMBERS

At May 31, 2014, after taking into consideration systems that are members of both CFC and NCSC and eliminating
memberships between CFC, RTFC and NCSC, our consolidated membership totaled 1,460 members and 229
associates.

CFC

Each of CFC’s distribution and power supply members received or is eligible to receive financing from RUS. One of
the criteria for eligibility for RUS financing is a “rural area” test. Thus, as an entity that supplements RUS financing,
CFC relies on the definition of “rural” as specified in the Rural Electrification Act, as amended. “Rural” is defined in the
Rural Electrification Act as any area other than a city, town or unincorporated area that has a population of less than
20,000, or any area within the service area of a borrower who, at the date of enactment of the Food, Conservation, and
Energy Act of 2008, had an outstanding RUS electric loan. The definition of “rural” under the act permits an area to be
defined as “rural” regardless of the development of such area subsequent to the approval of the outstanding loan. Thus,
if an RUS borrower met the “rural area” definition at the time of its first loan origination from RUS and continues to
have outstanding RUS loans, RUS has the authority to continue lending to the entity regardless of subsequent
population growth in its service territory. Similar to RUS, CFC establishes eligibility only at the time a system
initially borrows from CFC, and that eligibility, as it relates to the “rural area” test, is based on a determination of
whether the system borrowed or is eligible to borrow from RUS.

CFC’s Bylaws provide that cooperative or nonprofit corporations, public corporations, utility districts and other public
bodies that received or are eligible to receive a loan or commitment for a loan from RUS or any successor agency (as
well as subsidiaries, federations or statewide and regional associations that are wholly owned or controlled by such
entities) are eligible for membership. Thus, those entities that received or qualify for financing from RUS are eligible
to apply for membership and subsequently borrow from CFC regardless of whether there is an outstanding loan with
RUS. There are no requirements to maintain membership, although the board has the authority to suspend a member
under certain circumstances. CFC has not suspended a member to date.

CFC has the following types of members, all of which are not-for-profit entities or subsidiaries or affiliates of
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not-for-profit entities.

Class A – Distribution Systems

Cooperative or nonprofit corporations, public corporations, utility districts and other public bodies, which received or
are eligible to receive a loan or commitment for a loan from RUS or any successor agency, and that are engaged or
planning to engage in furnishing utility services to their members and patrons for their use as ultimate consumers. The
majority of our distribution system members are consumer-owned electric cooperatives.

Distribution systems are utilities engaged in retail sales of electricity to residential and commercial consumers in their
defined service areas. Such sales are generally on an exclusive basis using the distribution system's infrastructure
including substations,
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wires and related support systems. Distribution systems vary in size from small systems that serve a few thousand
customers to large systems that serve more than 200,000 customers. Thus, the amount of loan funding required by
different distribution systems varies significantly. Distribution systems may serve customers in more than one state.

Most distribution systems have all-requirements power purchase contracts with their power supply systems, which are
owned and controlled by the member distribution systems. Wholesale power for resale also comes from other sources,
including power supply contracts with government agencies, investor-owned utilities and other entities, and, in some
cases, the distribution systems own generating facilities.

Class B – Power Supply Systems

Cooperative or nonprofit corporations that are federations of Class A members or of other Class B members, or both,
or that are owned and controlled by Class A members or by other Class B members, or both, and that are engaged or
planning to engage in furnishing utility services primarily to Class A members or other Class B members. Our power
supply system members are member-owned electric cooperatives.

The power supply systems vary in size from one with hundreds of megawatts of power generation capacity to systems
that have no generating capacity, which generally operate transmission lines to supply certain distribution systems or
manage power supply purchase arrangements for the benefit of their distribution system members. Certain other
power supply systems have been formed but do not yet own generation or transmission facilities or have financing
commitments from us. Thus, the amount of loan funding required by different power supply systems varies
significantly. Power supply members may serve distribution systems located in more than one state.

The wholesale power supply contracts with their distribution system members permit the power supply system,
subject to regulatory approval in certain instances, to establish rates to produce revenue sufficient to cover debt
service, to meet the cost of operation and maintenance of all generation, transmission and related facilities and to pay
the cost of any power and energy purchased for resale.

Class C – Statewide and Regional Associations

Statewide and regional associations that are wholly owned or controlled by Class A members or Class B members, or
both, or that are wholly owned subsidiaries of a CFC member, and that do not furnish utility services but supply other
forms of service to their members. Such statewide organizations provide training, and legislative, regulatory, media
and related services. Certain states have an organization that represents and serves the distribution systems and power
supply systems located in the state.

Class D – National Associations of Cooperatives

National associations of cooperatives that are Class A, Class B and Class C members, provided said national
associations have, at the time of admission to membership in CFC, members domiciled in at least 80% of the states in
the United States. National Rural Electric Cooperative Association (“NRECA”) is our sole Class D member. NRECA
provides training, sponsors regional and national meetings, and provides legislative, regulatory, media, and related
services for nearly all rural electric cooperatives.

In addition, CFC has associates that are nonprofit groups or entities organized on a cooperative basis that are owned,
controlled or operated by Class A, B, C or D members and are engaged in or plan to engage in furnishing non-electric
services primarily for the benefit of the ultimate consumers of CFC members.
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CFC Class A, B, C and D members are eligible to vote on matters put to a vote of the membership. Associates are not
eligible to vote on matters put to a vote of the membership.

At May 31, 2014, CFC’s membership included:
•838 Class A distribution systems;
•71 Class B power supply systems;
•64 Class C statewide and regional associations, including NCSC; and
•1 Class D national association of cooperatives.

In addition, CFC had 49 associates, including RTFC, at May 31, 2014.
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RTFC

Membership in RTFC is limited to cooperative corporations, private corporations, public corporations, nonprofit
corporations, utility districts and other public bodies that are approved by the RTFC Board of Directors and are
actively borrowing or are eligible to borrow from RUS. These companies must be engaged directly or indirectly in
furnishing telephone or telecommunications services. Holding companies, subsidiaries and other organizations that are
owned, controlled or operated by members are referred to as affiliates, and are eligible to borrow from RTFC.
Associates are organizations that provide non-telecommunications services to rural telecommunications companies
that are approved by the RTFC Board of Directors. Neither affiliates nor associates are eligible to vote at meetings of
the members.

At May 31, 2014, RTFC’s membership included 486 members and four associates. CFC is not a member of RTFC.
RTFC’s members and associates consist of 193 not-for-profit entities and 297 for-profit entities.

NCSC

Membership in NCSC includes organizations that are Class A, B or C members of CFC, or eligible for such
membership.

At May 31, 2014, NCSC’s membership included 378 distribution systems, 1 power supply system, and 1 statewide
association. All of the NCSC distribution members were also CFC members. CFC is not a member of NCSC. In
addition, NCSC had 177 associates at May 31, 2014. NCSC’s associates may include members of CFC, entities
eligible to be members of CFC and for-profit and not-for-profit entities that are owned, controlled or operated by or
provide significant benefit to Class A, B and C members of CFC.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

CFC

Pursuant to the CFC Bylaws, there are 11 districts, comprising 10 districts for the general membership and one for the
Class D membership. Pursuant to its bylaws, CFC holds an annual meeting of the members each calendar year. The
board of directors also calls a meeting annually of the members for each of districts 1 to 10 for the purpose of electing
a nominating committee, or electing directors or both. Each member is entitled to one vote upon each matter
submitted to a vote at all meetings of the members.

The business affairs of CFC are governed by a board of up to 23 directors that exercises all of the powers of CFC
except such as are by law, the Articles of Incorporation or the bylaws conferred upon or reserved to the members.

Each district is represented by two board members. In districts 1 to 10, one of the two positions on the board of
directors in each district is held by a person who is a trustee or director of a member organization within the district
and the other position is held by a person who is a CEO or general manager of a member organization within the
district. Additionally, two directors are designated by the Class D (District 11) member, NRECA.

In addition to the 20 directors elected and two directors designated from the districts described above, if the board of
directors in its discretion so determines, there may be one additional at-large director elected to serve on the board of
directors of CFC from time to time. The at-large director is elected by the members and serves on the Audit
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Committee. No person is eligible to become or remain the at-large director unless the person (i) is a trustee, director,
manager, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of a member of CFC or holds a comparable position of a
member of CFC, (ii) satisfies the applicable requirements of an Audit Committee financial expert and (iii) is otherwise
independent in accordance with Rule 10A-3 under the Securities Exchange Act and under the New York Stock
Exchange standards, which the board of directors adopted to evaluate the independence of our directors. Since March
2007, CFC has had such an at-large director on its board of directors.

Pursuant to the CFC Bylaws, the officers of CFC include a president, vice president, secretary-treasurer and such
other officers as may be determined from time to time by the board of directors. The officers are elected or appointed
annually by the board of directors at the first meeting of the board of directors held after each annual meeting. The
president, vice president, and secretary-treasurer must be members of the board of directors.

The CFC Board of Directors is responsible for the oversight and direction of risk management, while CFC’s
management has primary responsibility for day-to-day management of the risks associated with CFC’s business. In
fulfilling its risk management
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oversight duties, the CFC Board of Directors receives periodic reports on business activities from executive
management and from various operating groups and committees across the organization, including the Credit Risk
Management group, Internal Audit group and the Corporate Compliance group, as well as the Asset Liability
Committee, the Corporate Credit Committee and the Disclosure Committee. The CFC Board of Directors also reviews
CFC’s risk profile and management’s response to those risks throughout the year at its meetings. The board of directors
establishes CFC’s loan policies and has established a Loan Committee of the board comprising no fewer than 10
directors that reviews the performance of the loan portfolio in accordance with those policies. See "MD&A—Credit
Risk—Credit Policies, Process and Monitoring" for additional information about the role of our board of directors in our
lending business.

RTFC

The business affairs of RTFC are governed by a board of no less than five and no more than 10 directors. Pursuant to
the RTFC Bylaws, there are five districts for the membership, and no less than one director must be a director, trustee,
officer or manager of a member in each of the five districts. Directors are elected at the annual meeting of the
members. Each member is entitled to one vote upon each matter submitted to a vote at all meetings of the members.
CFC is not a member of RTFC and there are no CFC directors, officers or employees that serve as a director of RTFC.

The RTFC Board of Directors established an Executive Committee of the board of directors pursuant to a written
board policy that sets forth the delegations of responsibility, authorities and functions of the Executive Committee of
the board of directors. The board policy delegates to the Executive Committee the authority to advise and consult with
the Chief Executive Officer with respect to the development of policies governing RTFC’s making of loans, guarantees
and investments to or for the benefit of members.

The RTFC Board of Directors reserves the authority to approve certain loans and guarantees based on the loan
amount, credit quality and other criteria established by the board of directors from time to time. During intervals
between board meetings, the Executive Committee may consider and approve financing arrangements that require
approval by the full board. The board of directors delegates to the Chief Executive Officer or to the Chief Executive
Officer’s designee(s) the authority to approve certain financing arrangements up to certain dollar thresholds and with
certain credit characteristics and also authorizes the Chief Executive Officer to establish an internal Corporate Credit
Committee.

One of the loan policies established by the RTFC Board of Directors sets forth the loan guidelines and credit products
established to implement the corporate purpose and program objectives of RTFC. Loans and guarantees are made to
members, affiliates of members and associates that meet applicable financial and feasibility criteria, security
requirements and conditions as established for each type of loan pursuant to RTFC’s practices and procedures in effect
at the time. A credit analysis is conducted by staff during the underwriting process for each application to determine if
the applicant has the ability to meet its obligations and RTFC’s financial standards and if the proposed structure
provides adequate security for each secured credit facility. The RTFC Board of Directors delegates to the Chief
Executive Officer or the Chief Executive Officer’s designee(s) the authority to implement this policy.

NCSC

The business affairs of the association are governed by a board of up to 11 directors. Pursuant to the NCSC Bylaws,
there are five districts for the general membership and one district for CFC if CFC becomes a member of NCSC. The
five general membership districts are represented by two directors, one of which must be a director or trustee of a
member and one of which must be a CEO of a member. Directors are elected at the annual meeting of the members.
Each member is entitled to one vote upon each matter submitted to a vote at all meetings of the members. CFC is not a
member of NCSC and there are no CFC directors, officers or employees that serve as a director of NCSC. If CFC
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becomes a member of NCSC, it would be the sole member of the sixth district, in which case CFC would nominate
one director for election by the members.

The NCSC Board of Directors established an Executive Committee of the board of directors pursuant to a written
board policy that sets forth the delegations of responsibility, authorities and functions of the Executive Committee of
the board of directors. The board policy delegates to the Executive Committee the authority to advise and consult with
the Chief Executive Officer with respect to the development of policies governing NCSC’s making of loans,
guarantees and investments to or for the benefit of members.

The NCSC Board of Directors reserves the authority to approve certain loans and guarantees based on the loan
amount, credit quality and other criteria established by the board of directors from time to time. During intervals
between board meetings, the Executive Committee may consider and approve financing arrangements that require
approval by the full board. The board of directors delegates to the Chief Executive Officer or to the Chief Executive
Officer’s designee(s) the authority to approve
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certain financing arrangements up to certain dollar thresholds and with certain credit characteristics and also
authorizes the Chief Executive Officer to establish an internal Corporate Credit Committee.

One of the loan policies established by the NCSC Board of Directors sets forth the loan guidelines and credit products
established to implement the corporate purpose and program objectives of NCSC. Loans and guarantees are made to
members and associates that meet applicable financial and feasibility criteria, security requirements, and conditions as
established for each type of loan pursuant to NCSC’s practices and procedures in effect at the time. A credit analysis is
conducted by staff during the underwriting process for each application to determine if the applicant has the ability to
meet its obligations and NCSC’s financial standards and if the proposed structure provides adequate security for each
secured credit facility. The NCSC Board of Directors has delegated to the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief
Executive Officer’s designee(s) the authority to implement this policy.

RURAL ELECTRIC INDUSTRY

Since the enactment of the Rural Electrification Act in 1936, RUS has financed the construction of electric generating
plants, transmission facilities and distribution systems to provide electricity to rural areas. Principally through the
creation of local electric cooperatives originally financed under the Rural Electrification Act loan program in 47 states
and three U.S. territories, the percentage of farms and residences in rural areas of the United States receiving central
station electric service increased from 11% in 1934 to almost 100% currently. According to 2013 data from the U.S.
Energy Information Administration, rural electric systems serve approximately 13% of all consumers of electricity in
the United States and its territories and serve about seven consumers per mile of line, compared with 35 customers per
mile of line for investor-owned utilities. Rural electric systems account for approximately 11% of total sales of
electricity and own about 5% of the nation’s electricity generating capacity.

RUS makes insured loans and loan guarantees and provides other forms of financial assistance to rural electric system
borrowers. RUS is authorized to make direct loans to systems that qualify for the hardship program (5% interest rate),
the municipal rate program (based on a municipal government obligation index), and a treasury rate program (at
treasury plus 1/8%). RUS is also authorized to guarantee loans that bear interest at a rate agreed upon by the borrower
and the lender (which generally has been the Federal Financing Bank). RUS exercises financial and technical
supervision over borrowers’ operations. Its loans and guarantees are secured by a mortgage or indenture on
substantially all of the system’s assets and revenue.

Leading up to CFC’s formation in 1969, there was a growing need for capital for electric cooperatives to build new
electric facilities due to growth in rural America. The electric cooperatives formed CFC so a source of financing
would be available to them to supplement the RUS loan programs and to mitigate uncertainty related to government
funding. Providing the electric cooperatives with financial products and services to supplement the RUS loan
programs remains the purpose of CFC.

CFC aggregates the combined strength of its rural electric member cooperatives to access the public capital markets
and provide supplemental funding to that of RUS. CFC works cooperatively with RUS; however, CFC is not a federal
agency or a government-sponsored enterprise, and is not owned or controlled by any federal agency or
government-sponsored enterprise. Our members are not required to have outstanding loans from RUS as a condition
of borrowing from CFC. CFC supplements the RUS financing programs to meet the financial needs of its rural
members by:

• providing bridge loans required by borrowers in anticipation of receiving RUS
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funding;

•
providing financial products not otherwise available from RUS including lines of credit, letters of credit, guarantees
on tax-exempt financing, weather-related disaster recovery lines of credit, unsecured loans, and investment products
such as commercial paper, member capital securities, select notes, and medium-term notes;

•meeting the financing needs of those rural electric systems that repay or prepay their RUS loans and replace thegovernment loans with private capital; and

•

providing financing to RUS-eligible rural electric systems for facilities that are not eligible for financing from RUS.
Examples of such facilities include electric utility facilities acquired by a cooperative from a municipal utility for
service to an area that falls outside of an eligible rural area, as defined in the Rural Electrification Act. RUS has
instituted restrictions on financing for certain baseload generation facilities. A cooperative with such facilities will
need financing to complete this work, and it may not be able to obtain this additional funding from RUS.
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Electric Member Competition

The movement toward electric competition at the retail level has largely ceased. The electric utility industry has
settled into a “hybrid” model in which there are significant differences in the retail regulatory approaches followed in
different states and regions.

Customer choice regulation, where customers have a choice of alternative energy suppliers, has had little to no impact
on distribution and power supply cooperatives, and we do not expect a material impact going forward. As of May 31,
2014, retail customer choice exists in 14 states. Those states are Connecticut, Delaware, Illinois, Maine, Maryland,
Massachusetts, Michigan, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island and Texas. In
general, even in those states, very few consumers served by CFC members have switched to other suppliers.

Many factors restrict the choices customers have available to them and, therefore, mitigate the effect of customer
choice and competition in areas served by cooperatives. These factors include, but are not limited to, the following:
•utilities in many states may still be regulated regarding rates on non-competitive services, such as distribution;

•20 states regulate the debt securities issued by utilities, including cooperatives, which could affect funding costs and,therefore, the electric rates charged to customers;
•Federal Energy Regulatory Commission regulation of rates as well as terms and conditions of transmission service;

•the fact that few competitors demonstrated much interest in providing electric energy to residential or rural customers;and

•
distribution systems own the lines to the customer and it would not be feasible for a competitor to build a second line
to serve the same customers in almost all situations. Therefore, the distribution systems still charge a fee or access
tariff for the service of delivering power, regardless of who supplies the power.

Electric Member Regulation

There are 25 states in which some or all electric cooperatives are subject to state regulation over the rates they charge.
In 14 of the 25 states, all electric cooperatives are subject to full or partial state regulation over their electric rates and
the cooperatives in these states do not have a right to opt out of regulation. Those states are Arizona, Arkansas,
Georgia, Hawaii, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, New Mexico, New York, Utah, Vermont, Virginia and
West Virginia. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission also has jurisdiction to regulate transmission rates, wholesale
rates, terms and conditions of service, and the issuance of securities by public utilities within its jurisdiction, which
includes only a few cooperatives.

Our distribution and power supply members are subject to regulation by various federal, regional, state and local
authorities with respect to the environmental effects of their operations. At the federal level, the U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency (“EPA”) has proposed a number of rulemakings including cooling water intake structures, coal ash
disposal, hazardous air pollutants and interstate transport of air pollutants, that could force the electric utility industry
to incur capital costs to comply with these regulations and possibly retire coal-fired generating capacity. Additionally,
in calendar year 2012, the EPA began the process of regulating greenhouse gas emissions by issuing proposed rules
concerning new source performance standards for carbon emissions from new fossil fuel-based power plants. On June
2, 2014, the EPA issued proposed rules to regulate carbon emissions from existing power plants. These greenhouse
gas emissions regulations have the potential to raise the cost of electricity generated from fossil fuel plants and
accelerate the retirement of some existing plants. If such rules are finalized and upheld, we believe the financial
impact of these laws and regulations on our members will be contingent upon on how the emission reductions are
apportioned under the state implementation plans. In most cases, the associated costs of compliance can be passed
through to the customers without additional regulatory approval.
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RURAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS INDUSTRY

Telecommunications systems include not-for-profit cooperative organizations and for-profit commercial organizations
that primarily provide local exchange and access telecommunications services to rural areas.

Independent rural telecommunications companies provide service throughout many of the rural areas of the United
States. These approximately 1,300 companies are called independent because they are not affiliated with the former
Regional Bell Operating Companies, mainly, Verizon, AT&T and CenturyLink. Included in the 1,300 total are
approximately 260 not-for-profit cooperatives. A majority of the remainder of these independent rural
telecommunications companies are privately held commercial companies. Less than 15 of these commercial
companies are publicly traded or have issued bonds in the capital markets.
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Most rural telecommunications companies’ networks incorporate digital switching, fiber optics, internet protocol
telephony and other advanced technologies that support the provision of voice, data and video services.

Telecommunications Competition

The Telecommunications Act of 1996 (the "Telecom Act") created a framework for competition and deregulation in
the local wireline telecommunications market. For the most part, local exchange competition has benefited rural local
exchange carriers by enabling them to enter nearby towns and cities as competitive local exchange carriers, leveraging
their existing infrastructure and reputation for providing high-quality, modern telecommunications service. Rural local
exchange carriers enjoy an exemption from the Telecom Act requirement to provide competitors with access to their
networks, absent a determination that it would be in the public interest to do so. Relatively few rural local exchange
carriers have competitive local exchange carriers request access to their networks. The expansion of wireless
telephone service has contributed to the decrease in wireline telephone subscribers as numerous residential customers
elect to rely solely on a mobile device for voice service. Competition within the wireless market is robust as intended
by the Federal Communications Commission ( “FCC”) by licensing multiple providers in each market.

Telecommunications Regulation

Rural local exchange carriers generally are regulated at the state and federal levels. Most state commissions regulate
local service rates and intrastate access rates and some regulate borrowing. The FCC regulates interstate access rates
and the issuance of licenses required to operate certain types of telecom operations.

The FCC regulates wireline telephony under Title II of the Telecom Act. Internet, video, wireless and competitive
local exchange services are much less regulated. In pursuit of its net neutrality policy, however, the FCC in December
2010 promulgated new “open Internet” rules related to service transparency, blocking and discrimination, which are
applicable to certain broadband Internet access services. In January 2014, the United States Court of Appeals rejected
the FCC’s rules and the FCC released a new set of proposed rules that were opened to a public comment period in May
2014. Most rural local exchange carriers are expanding their service offerings to customers in less regulated business
segments. With few competitors in the most rural parts of their service areas, rural local exchange carriers generally
have been successful in these growth and diversification efforts.

The goal of universal service is accomplished through a support mechanism, the Universal Service Fund (“USF”), that is
required by law to be: (i) sufficient to ensure that consumers throughout the nation, including those in rural and insular
areas, receive communications services at rates and of a quality that are reasonably comparable with those obtained by
users in urban areas, and (ii) portable; that is, available to all eligible providers. The USF provides support for rural
local exchange carriers with costs significantly above the national average. The USF is to be transformed, in stages,
over a multi-year period, from a mechanism to support voice telephone service to one that supports the deployment of
both fixed and mobile broadband. The existing USF is to be phased out and replaced with a new Connect America
Fund with a firm budget of no more than $4,500 million per year over the next five years. The Connect America Fund
includes the targeted Mobility Fund to support the deployment of wireless broadband networks to unserved areas and
the Remote Areas Fund, to ensure affordable access to broadband networks for the most remote areas in the nation.

In regard to intercarrier compensation systems, the FCC’s order included immediate reforms aimed at curbing arbitrage
schemes, phantom traffic and other such schemes as well as a multiyear “glide path” toward comprehensive reform of
the intercarrier compensation systems payment framework. The ultimate goal is bill-and-keep, a system where carriers
look first to their subscribers to cover the costs of the networks, then to explicit universal service support where
necessary.
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On October 27, 2011, the FCC adopted an order to reform the USF and intercarrier compensation systems. This
comprehensive plan was intended to restructure the USF to support broadband deployment to unserved parts of the
country going forward and revamp the rates carriers pay each other to connect local calls.

TAX STATUS

In 1969, CFC obtained a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service recognizing CFC’s exemption from the payment of
federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code. Such exempt status could be revoked as a
result of changes in legislation or in administrative policy or as a result of changes in CFC’s business.
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In order for CFC to maintain its exemption under Section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code, CFC must be “not
organized for profit” and must be “operated exclusively for the promotion of social welfare” within the meaning of that
section of the tax code. The Internal Revenue Service determined that CFC is an organization that is “operated
exclusively for the promotion of social welfare” because the ultimate beneficiaries of its lending activities, like those of
the RUS loan program, are the consumers of electricity produced by rural electric systems, the communities served by
these systems and the nation as a whole.

As an organization described under Section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code, no part of CFC’s net earnings can
inure to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual. This requirement is referred to as the private inurement
prohibition and was added to Section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code in 1996. A legislative exception allows
organizations like CFC to continue to make allocations of net earnings to members in accordance with its cooperative
status.

CFC believes its operations have not changed materially from those described to the Internal Revenue Service in its
exemption filing. CFC reviews the impact on operations of any new activity or potential change in product offerings
or business in general to determine whether such change in activity or operations would be inconsistent with its status
as an organization described under Section 501(c)(4).

RTFC is a taxable cooperative under Subchapter T of the Internal Revenue Code and is not subject to income taxes on
income from patronage sources that is allocated to its borrowers, as long as the allocation is properly noticed and at
least 20% of the amount allocated is retired in cash prior to filing the applicable tax return. RTFC pays income tax
based on its net income, excluding amounts allocated to its borrowers.

NCSC is a taxable cooperative that pays income tax based on its reported taxable income and deductions.

ALLOCATION AND RETIREMENT OF PATRONAGE CAPITAL

District of Columbia cooperative law requires cooperatives to allocate net earnings to patrons, to a general reserve in
an amount sufficient to maintain a balance of at least 50% of paid-up capital, and to a cooperative educational fund, as
well as permits additional allocations to board-approved reserves. District of Columbia cooperative law also requires
that a cooperative’s net earnings be allocated to all patrons in proportion to their individual patronage and each patron’s
allocation be distributed to the patron unless the patron agrees that the cooperative may retain its share as additional
capital.

CFC

Annually, the CFC Board of Directors allocates its net earnings to its patrons in the form of patronage capital, to a
cooperative educational fund, to a general reserve, if necessary, and to other board-approved reserves. Net earnings
are calculated by adjusting net income to exclude the non-cash effects of the accounting for derivative financial
instruments and foreign currency translation. Negative net earnings, if any, are not allocated to members or to the
reserves and do not affect amounts previously allocated as patronage capital or to the reserves. Net earnings may first
be used to offset prior-period losses, if any.

An allocation to the general reserve is made, if necessary, to maintain the balance of the general reserve at 50% of the
membership fees collected. CFC’s bylaws require the allocation to the cooperative educational fund to be at least
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0.25% of its net earnings. Funds from the cooperative educational fund are disbursed annually to statewide
cooperative organizations to fund the teaching of cooperative principles and for other cooperative education programs.

Currently, CFC has one additional board-approved reserve, the members’ capital reserve. The CFC Board of Directors
determines the amount of net earnings that is allocated to the members’ capital reserve, if any. The members’ capital
reserve represents net earnings that CFC holds to increase equity retention. The net earnings held in the members’
capital reserve have not been specifically allocated to members, but may be allocated to individual members in the
future as patronage capital if authorized by the CFC Board of Directors.

All remaining net earnings are allocated to CFC’s members in the form of patronage capital. The amount of net
earnings allocated to each member is based on the members’ patronage of CFC’s lending programs during the year. No
interest is earned by members on allocated patronage capital. There is no effect on CFC’s total equity as a result of
allocating net earnings to members in the form of patronage capital or to board-approved reserves. The CFC Board of
Directors has voted annually to retire a portion of the patronage capital allocation. Upon retirement, patronage capital
is paid out in cash to the members to
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which it was allocated. CFC’s total equity is reduced by the amount of patronage capital retired to its members and by
amounts disbursed from board-approved reserves.

Pursuant to CFC’s bylaws, the CFC Board of Directors shall determine the method, basis, priority and order of
retirement of amounts allocated. The current policy of the CFC Board of Directors is to retire 50% of the prior fiscal
year’s allocated net earnings following the end of each fiscal year and to hold the remaining 50% for 25 years to fund
operations. The amount and timing of future retirements remains subject to annual approval by the CFC Board of
Directors, and may be affected by CFC’s financial condition and other factors. The CFC Board of Directors has the
authority to change the current practice for allocating and retiring net earnings at any time, subject to applicable
cooperative law.

RTFC

In accordance with District of Columbia cooperative law and its bylaws and board policies, RTFC allocates its net
earnings to its patrons, a cooperative educational fund and a general reserve, if necessary. Negative net earnings, if
any, are not allocated to members or to the reserves and do not affect amounts previously allocated as patronage
capital or to the reserves.

Pursuant to RTFC’s bylaws, the RTFC Board of Directors shall determine the method, basis, priority and order of
retirement of amounts allocated. RTFC’s bylaws require that it allocate at least 1% of net earnings to a cooperative
educational fund. Funds from the cooperative educational fund are disbursed annually to fund the teaching of
cooperative principles and for other cooperative education programs. An allocation to the general reserve is made, if
necessary, to maintain the balance of the general reserve at 50% of the membership fees collected. The remainder is
allocated to borrowers in proportion to their patronage. RTFC provides notice to its members of the amount allocated
and retires 20% of the allocation for that year in cash prior to the filing of the applicable tax return. Any additional
amounts are retired as determined by the RTFC Board of Directors with due regard for RTFC’s financial condition.
There is no effect on the balance of equity due to the allocation of net earnings to members or board-approved
reserves. The retirement of amounts previously allocated to members or amounts disbursed from board-approved
reserves reduces the balance of RTFC equity.

NCSC

In accordance with District of Columbia cooperative law and its bylaws and board policies, NCSC allocates its net
earnings to a cooperative educational fund, to a general reserve, if necessary, and to other board-approved reserves.
Net earnings are calculated by adjusting net income to exclude the non-cash effects of the accounting for derivative
financial instruments. Negative net earnings, if any, are not allocated to members or to the reserves and do not affect
amounts previously allocated to the reserves.

Pursuant to NCSC’s bylaws, the NCSC Board of Directors shall determine the method, basis, priority and order of
amounts allocated and retired. An allocation to the general reserve is made, if necessary, to maintain the balance of the
general reserve at 50% of the membership fees collected. NCSC’s bylaws require the allocation to the cooperative
educational fund to be at least 0.25% of its net earnings. Funds from the cooperative educational fund are disbursed
annually to fund the teaching of cooperative principles and for other cooperative education programs. The NCSC
Board of Directors has the authority to determine if and when patronage-sourced net earnings will be retired. There is
no effect on the balance of equity due to the allocation of net earnings. The amounts disbursed from board-approved
reserves reduce the balance of NCSC equity.

EMPLOYEES
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At May 31, 2014, we had 221 employees. We believe that our relations with our employees are good.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity are subject to various risks and uncertainties inherent in our
business. The risks described below are the risks we consider to be material to our business. Other risks may prove to
be material or important in the future. If any of the events or circumstances described in the following risks actually
occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations could suffer adversely. You should consider all of the
following risks together with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Our business depends on access to external financing.
We depend on access to the capital markets and other sources of financing, such as our revolving credit agreements,
investment from our members, private debt issuances through the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation, and
funding from the Federal Financing Bank through the Guaranteed Underwriter Program, to fund new loan advances
and refinance our long-term and short-term debt and, if necessary, to fulfill our obligations under our guarantee and
repurchase agreements. We cannot assure that we will be able to raise capital in the future at all or on terms that are
acceptable to us. Market disruptions, downgrades to our long-term debt and/or short-term debt ratings, adverse
changes in our business or performance, downturns in the electric industry and other events over which we have no
control may deny or limit our access to the capital markets and/or subject us to higher costs for such funding. Our
access to other sources of funding also could be limited by the same factors, by adverse changes in the business or
performance of our members, by the banks committed to our revolving credit agreements or the Federal Agricultural
Mortgage Corporation, or by changes in federal law or the Guaranteed Underwriter Program.

Our funding needs are determined primarily by scheduled long- and short-term debt maturities and the amount of our
loan advances to our borrowers relative to the scheduled amortization of loans previously made by us. If we are unable
to timely issue debt into the capital markets or obtain funding from other sources, we may not have the funds to meet
all of our obligations as they become due.

Fluctuating interest rates could adversely affect our income, margin and cash flow.
We are a cost-based lender that sets our interest rates on loans based on our cost of funding. We set our line of credit
interest rate and long-term variable interest rate monthly based on the cost of our underlying funding. We do not
match fund the majority of our long-term fixed-rate loans with a specific debt issuance at the time the loans are
advanced. Instead, long-term fixed-rate loans are aggregated until the volume reaches a level that will allow an
economically efficient issuance of long-term debt to fund long-term fixed-rate loans. As such, we are exposed to
interest rate risk on our long-term fixed-rate loans during the period from which we have set a fixed rate on the loan
until the time we obtain the long-term funding for the loan. At May 31, 2014, fixed-rate loans funded with
variable-rate debt totaled $1,240 million, or 5.58% of total assets and 5.63% of total assets excluding derivative assets.

A decrease in long-term fixed interest rates provided by other lenders could result in an increase in prepayments on
long-term fixed-rate loans scheduled to reprice. Borrowers are able to prepay the long-term fixed-rate loan without a
make-whole fee at the time the fixed-rate term expires and the loan reprices. An increase in loan prepayments due to
repricings could cause a decrease to earnings for the period of time it takes to use cash from such prepayments to
repay maturing debt or make new loan advances. At May 31, 2014, $1,283 million of fixed-rate loans have a
fixed-rate term scheduled to reprice during the next 12 months.

Competition from other lenders could impair our financial results.
We compete with other lenders for the portion of the rural utility loan demand for which RUS will not lend and for
loans to members which have elected not to borrow from RUS. The primary competition for the non-RUS loan
volume is from CoBank, ACB, a federally chartered instrumentality of the United States that is a member of the Farm
Credit System. As a government-sponsored enterprise, CoBank, ACB, has the benefit of an implied government
guarantee. Competition may limit our ability to raise rates to cover all increases in costs and may negatively impact
net income. Raising our interest rates to cover increased costs could cause a reduction in new lending business.

Our elected directors also serve as officers or directors of certain of our individual member cooperatives, which may
result in a potential conflict of interest with respect to loans, guarantees and extensions of credit that we may make to
or on behalf of such member cooperatives.
In accordance with our charter documents and the purpose for which we were formed, we lend only to our members
and associates. CFC’s directors are elected or appointed from our membership, with 10 director positions filled by
directors of members, 10 director positions filled by general managers or chief executive officers of members, two
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positions appointed by NRECA and one at large position that must, among other things, be a director, financial
officer, general manager or chief executive of one of our members. CFC currently has loans outstanding to members
that are affiliated with CFC directors and may periodically extend new loans to such members. The relationship of
CFC’s directors to our members may give rise to conflicts of interests from time to time. See "Item 13. Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence—Review and Approval of Transactions with
Related Persons” for a description of our policies with regard to approval of loans to members affiliated with CFC
directors.
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We are subject to credit risks related to collecting the amounts owed to us on our outstanding loans. Increased credit
risk related to our loans or actual losses that exceed our allowance for loan losses could impair our financial results.
Our allowance for loan losses is established through a provision charged to expense that represents management’s best
estimate of probable losses that have been incurred within the existing loan portfolio. The level of the allowance
reflects management’s continuing evaluation of credit risk related to industry concentrations; economic conditions;
specific credit risks; loan loss experience; current loan portfolio quality; present economic, political and regulatory
conditions; and unidentified losses and risks inherent in the current loan portfolio. The determination of the
appropriate level of the allowance for loan losses involves a high degree of subjectivity and requires us to make
significant estimates of current credit risks and future trends, all of which may undergo material changes. Changes in
economic conditions affecting borrowers, new information regarding existing loans, identification of additional
problem loans and other factors, both within and outside of our control, may require an increase in the allowance for
loan losses. In addition, if actual losses incurred exceed current estimates of probable losses included in the allowance
for loan losses, we will need additional provisions to increase the allowance for loan losses. Material increases in the
allowance for loan losses will result in a decrease in net income, and may have a material adverse effect on our
financial results.

We have been and may in the future be in litigation with borrowers related to enforcement or collection actions
pursuant to loan documents. In such cases, the borrower or others may assert counterclaims against us or initiate
actions against us related to the loan documents. Unfavorable rulings could have a material adverse effect on our
financial results.

We own and operate assets and entities obtained through foreclosure and are subject to the same performance and
financial risks as any other owner or operator of similar assets or businesses.
As the owner and operator of assets and entities obtained through foreclosure, we are subject to the same performance
and financial risks as any other owner or operator of similar assets or entities. In particular, there is the risk that the
value of the foreclosed assets or entities will deteriorate, negatively affecting our results of operations. We assess our
portfolio of foreclosed assets for impairment periodically as required under generally accepted accounting principles
in the United States. Impairment charges, if required, represent a reduction to earnings in the period of the charge.
There may be substantial judgment used in the determination of whether such assets are impaired and in the
calculation of the amount of the impairment. In addition, when foreclosed assets are sold to a third-party, the sale
price we receive may be below the amount previously recorded in our financial statements, which will result in a loss
being recorded in the period of the sale.

The non-performance of counterparties to our derivative agreements could impair our financial results.
We use interest rate swaps to manage our interest rate risk. There is a risk that the counterparties to these agreements
will not perform as agreed, which could adversely affect our results of operations. The non-performance of a
counterparty on an agreement would result in the derivative no longer being an effective risk management tool, which
could negatively affect our overall interest rate risk position. In addition, if a counterparty fails to perform on our
derivative obligation, we could incur a financial loss to replace the derivative with another counterparty and/or a loss
through the failure of the counterparty to pay us amounts owed.

At May 31, 2014, we were a party to derivative instruments with notional amounts totaling $8,447 million. At May
31, 2014, the highest concentration of total notional exposure to any one counterparty was 21% of total derivative
instruments. Based on the fair market value of our derivative instruments at May 31, 2014, there were three
counterparties that would be required to make payments to us totaling $48 million if all of our derivative instruments
were terminated on that date. The largest amount owed to us by a single counterparty was $35 million, or 71% of the
total payments owed to us at May 31, 2014.

A reduction in the credit ratings for our debt could adversely affect our liquidity and/or cost of debt.

Edgar Filing: NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORP /DC/ - Form 10-K

45



Nationally recognized statistical rating organizations play an important role in determining, by means of the ratings
they assign to issuers and their debt, the availability and cost of debt funding. We currently contract with two
nationally recognized statistical rating organizations to receive ratings for our secured and unsecured debt and our
commercial paper. Our credit ratings are important to our liquidity. In order to access the commercial paper markets at
current levels, we believe that we need to maintain our current ratings for commercial paper of P1 from Moody’s
Investors Service and A1 from Standard & Poor’s Corporation. Changes in rating agencies’ rating methodology, actions
by governmental entities or others, additional losses from impaired loans and other factors could adversely affect the
credit ratings on our debt. A reduction in our credit ratings could adversely affect our liquidity, competitive position,
or the supply or cost of debt financing available to us. A significant increase in our interest expense could cause us to
sustain losses or impair our liquidity by requiring us to seek other sources of financing, which may be difficult to
obtain.
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A decline in our credit rating could trigger payments under our derivative agreements, which could impair our
financial results.
We have certain interest rate swaps that contain credit risk-related contingent features referred to as rating triggers.
Under certain rating triggers, if the credit rating for either counterparty falls to the level specified in the agreement, the
other counterparty may, but is not obligated to, terminate the agreement. If either counterparty terminates the
agreement, a net payment may be due from one counterparty to the other based on the fair value, excluding credit risk,
of the underlying derivative instrument. These rating triggers are based on our senior unsecured credit rating from
Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s Corporation. Based on the fair market value of our interest rate
exchange agreements subject to rating triggers at May 31, 2014, we may be required to make a payment of up to $173
million if our senior unsecured ratings from Moody’s Investors Service falls to or below Baa1 or from Standard &
Poor’s Corporation falls to or below BBB+ and all agreements for which we owe amounts are terminated. In
calculating the required payments, we only considered agreements that, when netted for each counterparty as allowed
by the underlying master agreement, would require a payment upon termination. In the event that we are required to
make a payment as a result of a rating trigger, it could have a material adverse impact on our financial results.

At May 31, 2014, our senior unsecured debt credit ratings from Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s
Corporation were A2 and A, respectively. While the rating triggers on our interest rate exchange agreements are not
tied to the rating outlooks from Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s Corporation, such rating outlooks
may provide an indication of possible future movement in the ratings. At May 31, 2014, both Moody’s Investors
Service and Standard & Poor’s Corporation had our ratings on stable outlook.

Our concentration of loans to borrowers within the rural electric industry could impair our revenue if that industry
experiences economic difficulties.
At May 31, 2014, approximately 98% of our total exposure was to rural electric cooperatives. Factors that have a
negative impact on our member rural electric cooperatives’ financial results could also impair their ability to make
payments on our loans. If our members’ financial results materially deteriorate, we could be required to increase our
allowance for loan losses through provisions for loan loss on our income statement that would reduce reported net
income.

Advances in technology may change the way electricity is generated and transmitted prior to the maturity of our loans
to rural electric systems.
To the extent that advances in technology make our electric system members’ power supply, transmission and/or
distribution facilities obsolete prior to the maturity of our loans, there could be an adverse impact on the ability of our
members to repay such loans. This could lead to an increase in nonperforming or restructured loans and an adverse
impact on our results of operations.

Loss of our tax-exempt status could increase our tax liability.
CFC has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as an organization for which income is exempt from federal
taxation under Section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code (other than any net income from an unrelated trade or
business). In order to maintain CFC’s tax-exempt status, it must continue to operate exclusively for the promotion of
social welfare by operating on a cooperative basis for the benefit of its members by providing them cost-based
financial products and services consistent with sound financial management, and no part of CFC’s net earnings may
inure to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual other than the allocation or return of net earnings or
capital to its members in accordance with CFC’s current bylaws and incorporating statute.

If CFC were to lose its status as a 501(c)(4) organization, we believe that it would be subject to the tax rules generally
applicable to cooperatives under Subchapter T of the Internal Revenue Code. As a Subchapter T cooperative, CFC
would be allowed to allocate its patronage-sourced income to its members and take a deduction for the amount of such
patronage dividends that are paid in cash or qualified written notices of allocation. However, CFC would be taxed as a
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regular corporation on income in excess of allowed deductions, if any.

Our ability to comply with covenants related to our revolving credit agreements, collateral trust bond and
medium-term note indentures and debt agreements could affect our ability to retire patronage capital, may accelerate
certain debt obligations and could affect our ability to obtain financing and maintain preferred rating levels on our
debt.
We must maintain compliance with all covenants and conditions related to our revolving credit agreements and debt
indentures. We are required to maintain a minimum adjusted TIER for the six most recent fiscal quarters of 1.025, an
adjusted leverage ratio of no more than 10-to-1 and we must maintain loans pledged as collateral for various debt
issuances at or below 150% of
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the related secured debt outstanding as a condition to borrowing under our revolving credit agreements. Our revolving
credit agreements also state that we must earn a minimum annual adjusted TIER of 1.05 in order to retire patronage
capital to members. See "MD&A—Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for further explanation and a reconciliation of our
adjusted ratios.

If we are unable to borrow under the revolving credit agreements, our short-term debt ratings would most likely
decline, and our ability to issue commercial paper could become significantly impaired. As a member-owned
cooperative, all of our retained equity belongs to our members. As such, a restriction on the retirement of patronage
capital in any year would result in a delay in the return of such amounts to the members until we earn an annual TIER
of at least 1.05 and our board approves the retirement of the amounts allocated from the year in which retirement was
restricted. A patronage capital retirement in any one year reduces the effective cost of borrowing for a member’s loan
from CFC. Thus, if CFC does not retire patronage capital to its members, it results in a higher effective rate of
borrowing from CFC for that year.

Pursuant to our collateral trust bond indentures, we are required to maintain eligible collateral pledged at least equal to
100% of the principal amount of the bonds issued under the indenture. Pursuant to one of our collateral trust bond
indentures and our medium-term note indenture, we are required to limit senior indebtedness to 20 times the sum of
our members’ equity, subordinated deferrable debt and members’ subordinated certificates.

If we are in default under our collateral trust bond or medium-term note indentures, the existing holders of these
securities have the right to accelerate the repayment of the full amount of the outstanding debt principal of the security
before the stated maturity of such debt. That acceleration of debt repayments poses a significant liquidity risk as we
might not have enough cash or committed credit available to repay the debt. In addition, if we are not in compliance
with the collateral trust bond and medium-term note covenants, we would be unable to issue new debt securities under
such indentures. If we were unable to issue new collateral trust bonds and medium-term notes, our ability to fund new
loan advances and refinance maturing debt would be impaired.

We are required to pledge eligible distribution system or power supply system loans as collateral equal to at least
100% of the outstanding balance of debt issued under a revolving note purchase agreement with the Federal
Agricultural Mortgage Corporation. We are also required to maintain distribution and power supply loans as collateral
on deposit equal to at least 100% of the outstanding balance of debt under the Guaranteed Underwriter Program of the
USDA, which supports the Rural Economic Development Loan and Grant program. Collateral coverage under 100%
for either of these debt programs constitutes an event of default, which if not cured within 30 days, could result in
creditors accelerating the repayment of the outstanding debt principal before the stated maturity. This poses a liquidity
risk of possibly not having enough cash or committed credit available to repay the debt. In addition, we would be
unable to issue new debt securities under the applicable debt agreement, which could impair our ability to fund new
loan advances and refinance maturing debt.

Breaches of our information technology systems may damage relationships with our members or subject us to
reputational, financial, legal or operational consequences.
Cyber-related attacks pose a risk to the security of our members’ strategic business information and the confidentiality
and integrity of our data. Although we employ a number of measures to secure such information and prevent access to
our data, including encryption and authentication technologies, monitoring and testing, and employee training,
security breaches may occur through the actions of third parties, employee error, malfeasance, technology failures or
other irregularities. Any such breach or unauthorized access could result in a loss of this information, a delay or
inability to provide service of affected products, damage to our reputation, including a loss of confidence in the
security of our products and services, and significant legal and financial exposure. Because the techniques used to
obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service or sabotage systems change frequently, we may be unable to
anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. While CFC maintains insurance coverage
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that, subject to policy terms and conditions, covers certain aspects of cyber risks, such insurance coverage may be
insufficient to cover all losses. Data security and privacy continue to receive heightened legislative and regulatory
focus in the United States. Many states have enacted legislation requiring notification to those affected by a security
breach. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations could result in fines, sanction, and litigation.
Additionally, new regulation in the areas of data security and privacy may increase our costs and our members’ costs.

Our lending activities are not subject to regulation or regulatory oversight.
Unlike FDIC-insured banking institutions, our lending activity is not subject to federal regulation. Some federal
regulations require FDIC-insured financial institutions to meet certain requirements or refrain from certain activities,
such as requirements to maintain certain levels of capital and restrictions on engaging in activities that may cause
conflicts of interest or excess risk. These regulations also appoint one or more regulatory agencies to evaluate and
oversee compliance with these regulations. Although our policies and practices require us to meet some of these
requirements, we are not required by law or regulation to adhere to these requirements and no external agency ensures
compliance with our policies and practices.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

CFC owns approximately 141,000 square feet of office, meeting and storage space that serves as its headquarters in
Loudoun County, Virginia.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, CFC is subject to certain legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business, including
litigation with borrowers related to enforcement or collection actions. In such cases, the borrower or others may assert
counterclaims or initiate actions against us. Management presently believes that the ultimate outcome of these
proceedings, individually and in the aggregate, will not materially harm our financial position, liquidity, or results of
operations. CFC establishes reserves for specific legal matters when it determines that the likelihood of an unfavorable
outcome is probable and the loss is reasonably estimable. Accordingly, no reserve has been taken with respect to any
legal proceedings at this time. Related to the Innovative Communication Corporation (“ICC”) bankruptcy proceedings,
ICC’s former indirect majority shareholder and former chairman, and related parties, continue to assert claims against
CFC and certain of its officers and directors and other parties in various proceedings and forums. CFC has
successfully defended these claims in various proceedings and forums, and they are now on appeal.

Item 4.Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Not applicable.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following is a summary of selected financial data for the years ended and as of May 31, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011
and 2010.
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
For the year ended May 31:
Interest income $957,540 $955,753 $960,961 $1,008,911 $1,043,635
Net interest income 302,885 263,728 199,183 167,831 131,524
Derivative (losses) gains (1) (34,421 ) 84,843 (236,620 ) (30,236 ) (20,608 )
Income (loss) prior to income taxes 194,930 360,836 (151,404 ) 152,542 110,251
Net income (loss)(2) 192,926 358,087 (148,797 ) 151,215 110,547

Fixed-charge coverage ratio/TIER (2)(3) 1.29 1.52 — 1.18 1.12
Adjusted TIER(4) 1.21 1.29 1.10 1.21 1.12

As of May 31:
Loans to members $20,476,642 $20,305,874 $18,919,612 $19,330,797 $19,342,704
Allowance for loan losses (56,429 ) (54,325 ) (143,326 ) (161,177 ) (592,764 )
Assets 22,232,743 22,071,651 19,951,335 20,561,622 20,143,215
Short-term debt 5,399,394 7,719,483 4,493,434 5,842,924 4,606,361
Long-term debt(5) 13,303,931 10,696,433 12,151,967 11,293,249 12,054,497
Subordinated deferrable debt 400,000 400,000 186,440 186,440 311,440
Members’ subordinated certificates(6) 1,521,517 1,729,226 1,722,744 1,801,212 1,810,715
Total equity 970,374 811,261 490,755 687,309 586,767
Guarantees 1,064,822 1,112,771 1,249,330 1,104,988 1,171,109

Leverage ratio(3) 23.01 27.58 42.20 30.52 35.33
Adjusted leverage ratio(4) 6.24 6.11 6.46 6.48 6.34
Debt-to-equity ratio(3) 21.91 26.21 39.65 28.92 33.33
Adjusted debt-to-equity ratio(4) 5.90 5.76 6.01 6.09 5.93
(1) Amount represents changes in the fair value of derivative instruments (forward value) along with realized gains and
losses from cash settlements. Derivative cash settlements represent the net settlements received/paid on interest rate
and cross-currency exchange agreements that do not qualify for hedge accounting. The derivative forward value
represents the change in fair value on exchange agreements that do not qualify for hedge accounting, as well as
amortization related to the transition adjustment recorded as an other comprehensive loss on June 1, 2001.
(2) For the years ended May 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 the fixed-charge coverage ratio includes capitalized interest in
total fixed charges, which is not included in our times interest earned ratio (“TIER”) calculation. For the years ended
May 31, 2014 and 2013, the fixed-charge coverage ratio is the same calculation as our TIER as we did not have any
capitalized interest during these years. For the year ended May 31, 2012, earnings were insufficient to cover fixed
charges by $149 million.
(3) See "MD&A—Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for the GAAP calculations of these ratios.
(4) Adjusted ratios include non-GAAP adjustments that we make to financial measures in assessing our financial
performance. See "MD&A—Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for further explanation of these calculations and a
reconciliation of the adjustments.
(5)Excludes $1,512 million, $3,669 million, $1,247 million, $2,523 million and $2,312 million in long-term debt that
comes due, matures and /or will be redeemed during fiscal years 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. See
"Note 5—Short-Term Debt and Credit Arrangements" of the consolidated financial statements for additional
information.
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(6)Excludes $91 million, $37 million, $17 million and $12 million of loan and guarantee subordinated certificates, and
member capital securities reported as short-term debt at May 31, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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Item 7.Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

INTRODUCTION

The following discussion and analysis is designed to provide a better understanding of our consolidated financial
condition and results of operations and as such should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements, including the notes thereto and the information contained elsewhere in this Form 10-K, including "Item
1A. Risk Factors."

Unless stated otherwise, references to “we,” “our” or “us” relate to the consolidation of National Rural Utilities Cooperative
Finance Corporation (“CFC”), Rural Telephone Finance Cooperative (“RTFC”), National Cooperative Services
Corporation (“NCSC”) and certain entities created and controlled by CFC to hold foreclosed assets and to accommodate
loan securitization transactions.

Throughout this MD&A, we refer to certain of our financial measures that are based on amounts not in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”) as non-GAAP “adjusted” measures. In
addition to discussing our reported GAAP results, our "Executive Summary" below discusses the key non-GAAP
metrics that we use to evaluate our business and financial performance, which consist of adjusted times interest earned
ratio (“TIER”) and adjusted debt-to-equity ratio. The most closely related GAAP measures are TIER and debt-to-equity
ratio. The financial covenants in our revolving credit agreements and debt indentures are based on our adjusted
measures rather than the comparable GAAP measures. The primary adjustments we make to calculate these
non-GAAP measures consist of (i) adjusting interest expense to include the impact of derivative cash settlements; (ii)
adjusting net income, senior debt and total equity to exclude the non-cash impact of the accounting for derivative
financial instruments; (iii) adjusting senior debt to exclude the amount that funds CFC member loans guaranteed by
the Rural Utilities Service (“RUS”), subordinated deferrable debt and members’ subordinated certificates; and (iv)
adjusting total equity to include subordinated deferrable debt and members’ subordinated certificates. See "Non-GAAP
Financial Measures" for further explanation of the adjustments we make to our financial results for our own analysis
and covenant compliance and for a reconciliation to the most comparable GAAP measures.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Our primary objective as a member-owned cooperative lender is to provide cost-based financial products to our rural
electric and telecommunications members while maintaining sound financial results required for investment-grade
credit ratings on our debt instruments. Our objective is not to maximize net income; therefore, the rates we charge our
member-borrowers reflect our adjusted interest expense plus a spread to cover our operating expenses, a provision for
loan losses and earnings sufficient to achieve interest coverage to meet our financial objectives. Our goal is to earn an
annual minimum adjusted TIER of 1.10 and to achieve and maintain an adjusted debt-to-equity ratio below 6.00-to-1.

Lending Activity

Total loans outstanding were $20,467 million as of May 31, 2014, an increase of $171 million, or 1%, from May 31,
2013. The increase reflected an increase of $94 million in CFC distribution loans, an increase of $78 million in CFC
power supply loans and an increase of $55 million in NCSC loans, which was partially offset by a decrease of $53
million in RTFC loans.
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During the year ended May 31, 2014, $1,164 million of CFC long-term fixed-rate loans repriced. Of this total, $984
million repriced to a new long-term fixed rate; $69 million repriced to a long-term variable rate; $21 million repriced
to a new rate offered as part of our loan sales program and were sold with servicing retained by CFC; and $90 million
were repaid in full.

Funding Activity

Total debt outstanding was $20,625 million as of May 31, 2014, an increase of $80 million, or 0.4%, from May 31,
2013. The increase in debt outstanding, coupled with an increase in retained equity of $149 million, was primarily due
to funding for the $171 million increase in loans outstanding.

In May 2014, we completed an exchange of $209 million of our outstanding 8% medium-term notes, Series C, due
2032 for $218 million of 4.023% collateral trust bonds due 2032 and $91 million of cash.
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During the year ended May 31, 2014, we took advantage of availability in the capital markets to extend the maturity
and increase the amount of our revolving credit agreements thereby providing us with an additional source of
liquidity. Specifically, we amended our three-year, four-year, and five-year revolving credit agreements to extend the
maturity dates by one year each to October 28, 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively. We also exercised our option to
increase the commitment level for the three-year, four-year, and five-year revolving credit agreements by $120
million, $115 million and $110 million, respectively, to $1,036 million, $1,122 million, and $1,068 million,
respectively.

Financial Results

We generated net income of $193 million and $358 million for the years ended May 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively,
and TIER of 1.29 and 1.52, respectively. As previously noted, we use adjusted non-GAAP measures in our analysis to
evaluate our performance and for debt covenant compliance. Our adjusted net income was $153 million and $217
million for the years ended May 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and adjusted TIER was 1.21 and 1.29, respectively.
Our debt-to-equity ratio decreased to 21.91-to-1 as of May 31, 2014, from 26.21-to-1 as of May 31, 2013. Our
adjusted debt-to-equity ratio increased to 5.90-to-1 as of May 31, 2014, from 5.76-to-1 as of May 31, 2013, primarily
due to an increase in adjusted liabilities.

Net Income

The decrease of $165 million in our net income in fiscal year 2014 from the prior fiscal year was primarily driven by a
shift in the provision for loan losses to an expense of $3 million in the current year from a negative provision of $70
million in the prior year and a shift to derivative losses of $34 million in the current year from derivative gains of $85
million in the prior year. The unfavorable impact of these factors was partially offset by a $39 million increase in net
interest income.

The $70 million negative provision for loan losses recorded in fiscal year 2013 was attributable to a reduction in our
allowance due to refinements we made in certain assumptions used in estimating our allowance for loan losses. The
derivative fair value losses recorded in fiscal year 2014 versus gains in 2013 reflect the composition of our derivative
portfolio and changes in interest rates. The increase in net interest income of $39 million in fiscal year 2014 was
largely attributable to the refinancing of higher-cost debt with lower-cost debt.

Adjusted Net Income

The decrease of $63 million in our adjusted net income in fiscal year 2014 from the prior fiscal year was primarily
driven by the shift in the provision for loan losses discussed above partially offset by a $22 million increase in
adjusted net interest income. The increase in adjusted net interest income of $22 million was due to the $39 million
increase to net interest income resulting from the refinancing of higher-cost debt discussed above partially offset by an
increase of $17 million to derivative cash settlements expense during fiscal year 2014.

Outlook for the Next 12 Months

We expect the amount of new long-term loan advances to exceed scheduled loan repayments over the next 12 months.
We anticipate an increase to earnings from core lending operations over the next 12 months due to the expected
increase in long-term loans outstanding and the decrease in our funding costs resulting from the call of our 7.5%
member capital securities and the debt exchange completed in May 2014.

During fiscal year 2014, the CFC Board of Directors authorized management to execute the call of our 7.5% member
capital securities and offer members the option to invest in a new series of member capital securities that currently
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have a 5% interest rate. As of May 31, 2014, $267 million of the 7.5% member capital securities were redeemed and
we had call notices outstanding for another $59 million. The call dates for the $59 million will take place through
August 2014. Over the next 12 months, we expect to provide notice to members for the early call of an additional $61
million of 7.5% member capital securities with call dates through January 2015. As of May 31, 2014, members have
invested $147 million in the new series of member capital securities.

We have $1,512 million of long-term debt scheduled to mature over the next 12 months. We believe that we have
sufficient liquidity from the combination of member loan repayments and our ability to issue debt in the capital
markets, to our members and in private placements, to satisfy member loan advances and meet our need to fund
long-term debt maturing over the next 12 months. At May 31, 2014, we had $944 million in cash, investments, and
time deposits, up to $624 million available under committed loan facilities from the Federal Financing Bank, $3,224
million available under committed revolving lines of credit with a syndicate of banks and, subject to market
conditions, up to $2,232 million available under a revolving note purchase agreement with the Federal Agricultural
Mortgage Corporation. We also have the ability to issue collateral trust bonds and
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medium-term notes in the capital markets and medium-term notes to members. We believe we can continue to roll
over the $3,887 million of commercial paper, select notes, daily liquidity fund notes and bank bid notes scheduled to
mature over the next 12 months, as we expect to continue to maximize the utilization of these short-term funding
options. We expect to be in compliance with the covenants under our revolving credit agreements; therefore, we could
draw on these facilities to repay dealer or member commercial paper that cannot be rolled over in the event of market
disruptions.

We expect to be able to maintain the adjusted debt-to-equity ratio below 6.00-to-1 over the next 12 months.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our significant accounting principles, as described in "Note 1—General Information and Accounting Policies" to the
consolidated financial statements, are essential in understanding MD&A. Many of our significant accounting
principles require complex judgments to estimate values of assets and liabilities. We have procedures and processes to
facilitate making these judgments.

We identified the allowance for loan losses and the determination of fair value of certain items on our balance sheet as
critical accounting policies because they require significant estimations and judgments by management. These policies
are summarized below and identify and describe the development of the variables most important in the estimation
process. In many cases, there are numerous alternative judgments that could be used in the process of determining the
inputs required for estimation. Where alternatives exist, we used the factors we believe represent the most reasonable
value in developing the inputs. Actual performance that differs from our estimates of the key variables could affect net
income. Separate from the possible future effect to net income from our model inputs, market-sensitive assets and
liabilities may change subsequent to the balance sheet date, often significantly, due to the nature and magnitude of
future credit and market conditions. Such credit and market conditions may change quickly and in unforeseen ways,
and the resulting volatility could have a significant negative effect on future operating results.

Below is a description of the process used in determining the appropriateness of the allowance for loan losses and the
determination of fair value for certain items on our balance sheet.

Allowance for Loan Losses

We are required to report loans receivable on our consolidated balance sheets at net realizable value. The net
realizable value is the total principal amount of loans outstanding less an estimate of the probable losses inherent in
the portfolio. We maintain an allowance for loan losses at a level estimated by management to provide for probable
losses inherent in the loan portfolio. The allowance for loan losses is reported separately on the consolidated balance
sheet, and the provision for loan losses is reported as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of operations.

There are significant subjective assumptions and estimates used in calculating the amount of the loss allowance
required. We review the estimates and assumptions used in the calculations of the allowance for loan losses on a
quarterly basis. Because of the subjective nature of these estimates, other estimates could be reasonable, and changes
in the assumptions used and our estimates could have a material effect on our financial statements. The estimate of the
allowance for loan losses is based on a review of the composition of the loan portfolio, past loss experience, specific
problem loans, current economic conditions, available market data and/or projection of future cash flows and other
pertinent factors that in management’s judgment may contribute to incurred losses. The methodology used to calculate
the allowance for loan losses is summarized below.
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The allowance for loan losses is calculated by dividing the portfolio into two categories of loans:
(1)the general portfolio, which comprises loans that are performing according to the contractual agreements; and

(2)

the impaired portfolio, which comprises loans that (i) are not currently performing or (ii) for various reasons we do
not expect to collect all amounts as and when due and payable under the loan agreement or (iii) are performing
according to a restructured loan agreement, but as a result of the troubled debt restructuring are required to be
classified as impaired.

General Portfolio

The general portfolio of loans consists of all loans not specifically identified in the impaired category. We
disaggregate the loans in the general portfolio by company: CFC, RTFC and NCSC. We further disaggregate the CFC
loan portfolio by member class: distribution, power supply and statewide and associates.
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We use the following factors to determine the allowance for loan losses for the general portfolio category:

•Internal risk ratings system. We maintain risk ratings for our borrowers that are updated at least annually and are
based on the following:
◦general financial condition of the borrower;
◦our judgment of the quality of the borrower’s management;
◦our judgment of the borrower’s competitive position within its service territory and industry;
◦our estimate of the potential impact of proposed regulation and litigation; and
◦other factors specific to individual borrowers or classes of borrowers.

•

Standard & Poor’s historical utility sector default table. The table provides expected default rates for the utility sector
based on rating level and the remaining maturity. We correlate our internal risk ratings to the ratings used in the utility
sector default table. We use the default table to assist in estimating our allowance for loan losses because we have
limited history from which to develop loss expectations.

•Loss Emergence Period. Based on the estimated time between the loss-causing event(s) and the date that we chargeoff the unrecoverable portion of the loan.

•
Recovery rates. Estimated recovery rates are based on our historical recovery experience by member class calculated
by comparing loan balances at the time of default to the total loss recorded on the loan. We have been lending to
electric cooperatives since our incorporation in 1969.

At May 31, 2014, the $43 million reserve produced by our general allowance for loan losses model represented 0.21%
of the outstanding balance of loans. An increase or decrease of 10% in our default rates would result in a
corresponding increase or decrease of $4 million to the general allowance for loan losses model. An increase or
decrease of 1% in our recovery rates would result in a corresponding increase or decrease of $3 million to the general
allowance for loan losses model.

In addition to the allowance for loan losses for the general portfolio, we maintain a qualitative reserve for the general
portfolio based on risk factors not captured in the general allowance for loan losses. The overriding factor that creates
the necessity for this additional component of loan loss reserves not captured in our loan loss model is lag in the
timing of receipt of information regarding our borrowers. We actively monitor the operations and financial
performance of our borrowers through the review of audited financial statements, review of borrower-prepared
financial statements (if required) and discussions with borrower management. As a result of the lag, there could be
credit events or circumstances that exist with our borrowers for which we have not been made aware that could
potentially lead to reassessing/downgrading of certain borrower risk ratings to better reflect the risk of default and
ultimate loss. Additional qualitative considerations include our expectations with respect to loan workouts, risks
associated with large loan exposures and economic and environmental factors.

To measure these additional risk factors supporting an additional reserve for the general portfolio, we perform an
internal credit risk ratings portfolio stress test quantifying the impact that both upgrades and downgrades in internal
credit risk ratings would have on our estimate of losses inherent in the portfolio.

Impaired Loans

A loan is considered to be impaired when we do not expect to collect all principal and interest payments as scheduled
by the original loan terms, other than an insignificant delay or an insignificant shortfall in amount. Factors considered
in determining impairment may include, but are not limited to:

• the review of the borrower’s audited financial statements and interim financial statements if
available,

•the borrower’s payment history,
•communication with the borrower,
•economic conditions in the borrower’s service territory,
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•pending legal action involving the borrower,
•restructure agreements between us and the borrower and
•estimates of the value of the borrower’s assets that have been pledged as collateral to secure our loans.

We generally measure impairment for individually impaired loans based on the difference between the recorded
investment of the loan and the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest
rate of the loan. If the loan is collateral dependent, we measure impairment based upon the fair value of the underlying
collateral, which we determine based on the current fair value of the collateral less estimated selling costs. Loans are
identified as collateral dependent if we believe that collateral is the expected source of repayment.

In calculating the impairment on a loan, the estimates of the expected future cash flows or collateral value are the key
estimates made by management. Changes in the estimated future cash flows or collateral value affect the amount of
the calculated impairment. The change in cash flows required to make the change in the calculated impairment
material will be different for
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each borrower and depend on the period covered, the effective interest rate at the time the loan became impaired and
the amount of the loan outstanding. Estimates are not used to determine our investment in the receivables or the
discount rate since, in all cases, the investment is equal to the loan balance outstanding at the reporting date, and the
discount rate is equal to the effective interest rate on the loan at the time the loan became impaired.

We recognize interest income on impaired loans on a case-by-case basis. An impaired loan to a borrower that is
nonperforming will generally be placed on non-accrual status and we will reverse all accrued and unpaid interest. We
generally apply all cash received during the non-accrual period to the reduction of principal, thereby foregoing interest
income recognition. Interest income may be recognized on an accrual basis for restructured impaired loans where the
borrower is performing and is expected to continue to perform based on agreed-upon terms.

All loans are written off in the period that it becomes evident that collectability is highly unlikely; however, our
efforts to recover all charged-off amounts may continue. The determination to write off all or a portion of a loan
balance is made based on various factors on a case-by-case basis including, but not limited to, cash flow analysis and
the fair value of collateral securing the borrower’s loans.

We provide additional information on the allowance for loan losses in "Note 3—Loans and Commitments."

Fair Value

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We identify fair value as a critical accounting policy because of the subjective nature and the requirement for
management to make significant estimations in determining the amounts to be recorded. Different assumptions and
estimates could also be reasonable, and changes in the assumptions used and estimates made could have a material
effect on our financial statements.

The primary instruments recorded on our balance sheet at fair value are derivative financial instruments. Derivative
instruments must be recorded on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at fair value. Since these
instruments generally do not qualify for hedge accounting, the accounting standards require that we record all changes
in fair value through earnings. We record the change in the fair value of derivative instruments, along with realized
gains and losses from cash settlements, in the derivative gains (losses) line item of the consolidated statement of
operations each reporting period.

Since there is not an active secondary market for the types of derivative instruments we use, we obtain market quotes
from our dealer counterparties. The market quotes are based on the expected future cash flows and estimated yield
curves. We perform our own analysis to confirm the values obtained from the counterparties and indicate a valuation
adjustment for potential default risk as needed. The counterparties estimate future interest rates as part of the quotes
they provide to us. We adjust all derivatives to fair value on a quarterly basis. The fair value we record will change as
estimates of future interest rates change. To estimate the impact of changes to interest rates on the forward value of
derivatives, we would need to estimate all changes to interest rates through the maturity of our outstanding
derivatives. The maturities of our derivatives in the current portfolio run through 2044. Since many of the derivative
instruments we use for risk management have such long-dated maturities, the valuation of these derivatives may
require extrapolation of market data that is subject to significant judgment. Accounting standards on fair value require
that credit risk be considered in determining the market value of any asset or liability carried at fair value. We adjust
the market values of our derivatives received from the counterparties based on our counterparties’ and our credit
spreads observed in the credit default swap market. See "Note 13—Fair Value Measurement" and "Note 14—Fair Value of
Financial Instruments" for additional information.
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Fair Value of Foreclosed Assets

In addition to the valuation associated with derivative financial instruments, we also present foreclosed assets at fair
value when initially recorded on the balance sheet. Foreclosed assets that do not qualify as assets held for sale are
periodically reviewed for impairment.

In many instances the valuation of these assets is judgmental and dependent upon comparisons to similar assets or
estimations of future cash flows that are expected to be generated by the underlying foreclosed properties. In both of
these instances, management uses its best estimates, based upon available market data and/or projections of future
cash flows. However, because of the subjective nature of these estimates, other estimates could be reasonable, and
changes in the assumptions used and our estimates could have a material effect on our financial statements. See "Note
4—Foreclosed Assets" for additional information.
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ACCOUNTING CHANGES AND DEVELOPMENTS

See "Note 1—General Information and Accounting Policies" for information on accounting standards adopted in fiscal
year 2014, as well as recently issued accounting standards not yet required to be adopted and the expected impact of
these accounting standards. To the extent we believe the adoption of new accounting standards has had or will have a
material impact on our results of operations, financial condition or liquidity, we discuss the impacts in the applicable
section(s) of MD&A.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The section below provides a comparative discussion of our consolidated results of operations between fiscal years
2014 and 2013 and between fiscal years 2013 and 2012. Table 1 presents our consolidated results of operations for
fiscal years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.
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Table 1: Results of Operations 
For the years ended May 31, Change from the previous year

(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs.
2013

2013 vs.
2012

Interest income $957,540 $955,753 $960,961 $1,787 $(5,208 )
Interest expense (654,655 ) (692,025 ) (761,778 ) 37,370 69,753
Net interest income 302,885 263,728 199,183 39,157 64,545
Provision for loan losses (3,498 ) 70,091 18,108 (73,589 ) 51,983
Net interest income after provision for loan
losses 299,387 333,819 217,291 (34,432 ) 116,528

Non-interest income:
Fee and other income 17,762 38,181 17,749 (20,419 ) 20,432
Derivative (losses) gains (34,421 ) 84,843 (236,620 ) (119,264 ) 321,463
Results of operations from foreclosed assets (13,494 ) (897 ) (67,497 ) (12,597 ) 66,600
Total non-interest income (30,153 ) 122,127 (286,368 ) (152,280 ) 408,495

Non-interest expense:
Salaries and employee benefits (41,176 ) (55,536 ) (39,364 ) 14,360 (16,172 )
Other general and administrative expenses (31,390 ) (28,646 ) (25,973 ) (2,744 ) (2,673 )
Provision for guarantee liability (217 ) 4,772 (726 ) (4,989 ) 5,498
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (1,452 ) (10,636 ) (15,525 ) 9,184 4,889
Other (69 ) (5,064 ) (739 ) 4,995 (4,325 )
Total non-interest expense (74,304 ) (95,110 ) (82,327 ) 20,806 (12,783 )

Income (loss) prior to income taxes 194,930 360,836 (151,404 ) (165,906 ) 512,240

Income tax (expense) benefit (2,004 ) (2,749 ) 2,607 745 (5,356 )
Net income (loss) 192,926 358,087 (148,797 ) (165,161 ) 506,884
Less:  Net (income) loss attributable to
noncontrolling interest (2,859 ) (4,328 ) 4,070 1,469 (8,398 )

Net income (loss) attributable to CFC $190,067 $353,759 $(144,727) $(163,692 ) $498,486
Adjusted net income $153,385 $216,783 $74,977 $(63,398 ) $141,806
Adjusted interest expense $(728,617) $(748,486) $(774,624) $19,869 $26,138

TIER (1) 1.29 1.52 —
Adjusted TIER (2) 1.21 1.29 1.10
(1) For the year ended May 31, 2012, we reported a net loss of $149 million and, therefore, the TIER calculation for
that period results in a value below 1.00.
(2) Adjusted to exclude the effect of the derivative forward value from net income and to include all derivative cash
settlements in the interest expense. The derivative forward value and derivative cash settlements are combined in the
derivative gains (losses) line item in the chart above. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for further explanation
and a reconciliation of these adjustments.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income represents the difference between the interest income and applicable fees earned on our
interest-earning assets, which include loans and investment securities, and the interest expense on our interest-bearing
liabilities. Our net interest yield represents the difference between the yield on our interest-earning assets and the cost
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of our interest-bearing liabilities. We expect net interest income and our net interest yield to fluctuate based on
changes in interest rates and changes in the amount and composition of our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing
liabilities. We do not fund each individual loan
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with specific debt. Rather, we attempt to minimize costs and maximize efficiency by funding large aggregated
amounts of loans.

Table 2 presents, for each major category of our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities, the average
outstanding balances, interest income earned or interest expense incurred, and average yield or cost for fiscal years
2014, 2013 and 2012.
Table 2 also presents adjusted interest expense, which reflects the inclusion of all derivative cash settlements in
interest expense. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for a reconciliation of interest expense to adjusted interest
expense and an additional explanation of the adjustments.

Table 2: Average Balances, Interest Income/Interest Expense and Average Yield/Cost
(Dollars in
thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Assets: Average
Balance

Interest
Income/Expense

Average
Yield/Cost

Average
Balance

Interest
Income/Expense

Average
Yield/Cost

Average
Balance

Interest
Income/Expense

Average
Yield/Cost

Long-term
fixed-rate loans $18,377,834 $887,010 4.83  % $17,223,370 $874,287 5.08  % $16,440,288 $878,604 5.34  %

Long-term
variable-rate
loans

737,186 20,388 2.77 721,747 21,684 3.00 658,847 24,374 3.70

Line of credit
loans 1,278,549 31,376 2.45 1,245,635 32,378 2.60 1,072,222 30,717 2.86

Restructured
loans(1) 10,819 136 1.26 157,059 13,956 8.89 461,670 16,191 3.51

Nonperforming
loans 7,952 236 2.97 48,653 — — 39,953 — —

Total 20,412,340 939,146 4.60 19,396,464 942,305 4.86 18,672,980 949,886 5.09
Investments and
time deposits 860,983 7,080 0.82 491,591 6,325 1.29 334,732 3,934 1.18

Fee income(2) — 11,314 — — 7,123 — — 7,141 —
Total $21,273,323 $957,540 4.50  % $19,888,055 $955,753 4.81  % $19,007,712 $960,961 5.06  %

Liabilities:
Short-term debt $4,282,107 $(5,899 ) (0.14)% $3,739,450 $(6,888 ) (0.18)% $3,011,409 $(5,836 ) (0.19)%
Medium-term
notes 2,804,289 (82,978 ) (2.96) 2,623,428 (95,495 ) (3.64) 3,078,905 (173,927 ) (5.65)

Collateral trust
bonds 5,898,955 (300,014 ) (5.09) 6,202,374 (327,978 ) (5.29) 5,796,367 (314,642 ) (5.43)

Subordinated
deferrable debt 395,661 (19,000 ) (4.80) 216,669 (12,922 ) (5.96) 180,962 (11,225 ) (6.20)

Subordinated
certificates 1,663,847 (79,328 ) (4.77) 1,716,065 (81,920 ) (4.77) 1,718,055 (81,124 ) (4.72)

Long-term notes
payable 5,502,370 (150,956 ) (2.74) 4,912,791 (150,553 ) (3.06) 4,518,181 (154,606 ) (3.42)

Total 20,547,229 (638,175 ) (3.11) 19,410,777 (675,756 ) (3.48) 18,303,879 (741,360 ) (4.05)
Debt issuance
costs(3) — (7,447 ) — — (7,582 ) — — (9,044 ) —

Fee expense(4) — (9,033 ) — — (8,687 ) — — (11,374 ) —
Total $20,547,229 $(654,655) (3.19)% $19,410,777 $(692,025) (3.57)% $18,303,879 $(761,778) (4.16)%
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Derivative cash
settlements(5) $8,380,698 $(73,962 ) (0.88)% $9,148,214 $(56,461 ) (0.62)% $10,123,071 $(12,846 ) (0.13)%

Adjusted interest
expense(6) 20,547,229 (728,617 ) (3.55) 19,410,777 (748,486 ) (3.86) 18,303,879 (774,624 ) (4.23)

Net interest
income/Net yield $302,885 1.31  % $263,728 1.24  % $199,183 0.90  %

Adjusted net
interest
income/Adjusted
net yield (6)(7)

$228,923 0.95  % $207,267 0.95  % $186,337 0.83  %

(1) On September 13, 2012, we received a prepayment from one of our borrowers, with $414 million applied to the
restructured loan balance, as well as applicable interest due on the restructured loan.
(2) Primarily related to conversion fees that are deferred and recognized using the effective interest method over the
remaining original loan interest rate pricing term, except for a small portion of the total fee charged to cover
administrative costs related to the conversion, which is recognized immediately.
(3) Interest expense includes amortization of all deferred charges related to debt issuances, principally underwriter’s
fees, legal fees, printing costs and comfort letter fees. Amortization is calculated on the effective interest method. Also
includes issuance costs related to dealer commercial paper, which are recognized as incurred.
(4) Interest expense includes various fees related to funding activities, including fees paid to banks participating in our
revolving credit agreements. Fees are recognized as incurred or amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the
respective agreement.
(5) For derivative cash settlements, average volume represents the average notional amount of derivative contracts
outstanding, and the average cost represents the net difference between the average rate paid and the average rate
received for cash settlements during the period.
(6) See "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for further explanation of the adjustment we make in our financial analysis
to include the derivative cash settlements in interest expense, which affects adjusted interest expense and adjusted net
interest income.
(7) Adjusted net yield is calculated as the average yield on total interest income less the average yield on adjusted
interest expense. Adjusted interest expense includes interest expense from derivative cash settlements.
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Table 3 displays the change in our net interest income between periods and the extent to which the variance is
attributable to: (i) changes in the volume of our interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities or (ii) changes in
the interest rates of these assets and liabilities. The table also shows the change to derivative cash settlements due to
changes in the average notional amount of our derivative portfolio versus changes to the net difference between the
average rate paid and the average rate received.

Table 3: Rate/Volume Analysis of Changes in Interest Income/Interest Expense 
2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Variance due to: Variance due to:

(Dollars in thousands) Average
volume (1)

Average
 rate (2)

Net
change (3)

Average
volume (1)

Average
 rate (2)

Net
change (3)

Increase (decrease) in interest income:
Long-term fixed-rate loans $58,602 $(45,879) $12,723 $41,849 $(46,166) $(4,317 )
Long-term variable-rate loans 464 (1,760 ) (1,296 ) 2,327 (5,017 ) (2,690 )
Line of credit loans 856 (1,858 ) (1,002 ) 4,968 (3,307 ) 1,661
Restructured loans (12,995 ) (825 ) (13,820 ) (10,683 ) 8,448 (2,235 )
Nonperforming loans — 236 236 — — —
Total interest income on loans 46,927 (50,086 ) (3,159 ) 38,461 (46,042 ) (7,581 )
Investments and time deposits 4,753 (3,998 ) 755 1,844 547 2,391
Fee income — 4,191 4,191 — (18 ) (18 )
Total interest income $51,680 $(49,893) $1,787 $40,305 $(45,513) $(5,208 )

(Increase) decrease in interest expense:
Short-term debt $(1,000 ) $1,989 $989 $(1,411 ) $359 $(1,052 )
Medium-term notes (6,584 ) 19,101 12,517 25,730 52,702 78,432
Collateral trust bonds 16,045 11,919 27,964 (22,039 ) 8,703 (13,336 )
Subordinated deferrable debt (10,675 ) 4,597 (6,078 ) (2,215 ) 518 (1,697 )
Subordinated certificates 2,493 99 2,592 94 (890 ) (796 )
Long-term notes payable (18,068 ) 17,665 (403 ) (13,503 ) 17,556 4,053
Total interest expense on debt (17,789 ) 55,370 37,581 (13,344 ) 78,948 65,604
Debt issuance costs — 135 135 — 1,462 1,462
Fee expense — (346 ) (346 ) — 2,687 2,687
Total interest expense $(17,789 ) $55,159 $37,370 $(13,344 ) $83,097 $69,753
Derivative cash settlements(4) $4,737 $(22,238) $(17,501) $1,237 $(44,852) $(43,615)
Adjusted interest expense(5) (13,052 ) 32,921 19,869 (12,107 ) 38,245 26,138
Increase (decrease) in net interest income 33,891 5,266 39,157 26,961 37,584 64,545
Increase in adjusted net interest income 38,628 (16,972 ) 21,656 28,198 (7,268 ) 20,930
(1) Calculated based on the current period average balance less the prior period average balance multiplied by the prior
period average rate.
(2) Calculated based on the current period average rate less the prior period average rate multiplied by the current
period average balance.
(3) The net change attributable to the combined impact of volume and rate has been allocated to each in proportion to
the absolute dollar amounts of change.
(4) For derivative cash settlements, variance due to average volume represents the change in derivative cash
settlements that resulted from the change in the average notional amount of derivative contracts outstanding. Variance
due to average rate represents the change in derivative cash settlements that resulted from the net difference between
the average rate paid and the average rate received for interest rate swaps during the period.
(5) See "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for further explanation of the adjustment we make in our financial analysis
to include the derivative cash settlements in interest expense.
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Net interest income for the year ended May 31, 2014 increased 15% compared with the prior year while net interest
income increased 32% for the year ended May 31, 2013 compared with the prior year. The increase to the net interest
income for the years ended May 31, 2014 and 2013 as compared with the respective prior year, was due to decreases
in interest expense that exceeded the fluctuations in interest income. The primary factor driving the reduction to
interest expense for both periods was our refinancing of maturing term debt with lower-cost debt during fiscal years
2013 and 2014. We maintained a higher average
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balance of commercial paper, medium-term notes and long-term notes payable, which have a lower weighted-average
cost, in our overall funding mix and decreased the utilization of collateral trust bonds.

Adjusted net interest income for the year ended May 31, 2014 increased 10% from the prior year, while adjusted net
interest income increased 11% for the year ended May 31, 2013 compared with the prior year. The increase to
adjusted net interest income for the years ended May 31, 2014 and 2013, compared with the respective prior year, was
primarily due to the increase to the net interest income as described above. The reduction to interest expense was
partly offset by the increase to derivative cash settlements expense. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for further
explanation of the adjustment we make in our financial analysis to include all derivative cash settlements in
determining our adjusted interest expense which, in turn, affects adjusted net interest income.

Interest Income

Interest income increased by less than 1% during the year ended May 31, 2014 compared with the prior year. The
slight increase in the total interest income earned during the year ended May 31, 2014, was driven primarily by the
$13 million increase in interest income earned on our long-term fixed-rate loans and the $4 million increase in fee
income. The increase in interest income earned on long-term fixed-rate loans during the year ended May 31, 2014,
was primarily due to the $1,154 million increase in average fixed-rate loan balances, partly offset by the 25
basis-point decrease in the weighted-average rate earned on our long-term fixed-rate loans. The increase in average
fixed-rate loan balances was primarily due to a large amount of advances to CFC and NCSC borrowers to refinance
debt from other lenders, to fund capital improvements and for other purposes. The decrease in average yield on
fixed-rate loans was due to lower interest rates in the capital markets and the repricing of loans at lower interest rates.
As a cost-based lender, our fixed interest rates reflect our cost of borrowing in the capital markets marked up to cover
our cost of operations. As benchmark treasury rates and spreads tightened over the past few years, there was a
continued reduction in the rates we had to pay for funding in the capital markets and we lowered the long-term fixed
rates on our new loans. Although the average long-term fixed interest rates we offered on electric loans started to
increase during the year ended May 31, 2014, the residual impact of lower rates offered over the current and prior year
continued to result in a decrease in the average yield earned when comparing the year ended May 31, 2014 to the prior
years.

The increase in interest income during the year ended May 31, 2014 was partially offset by the $14 million decrease in
interest income earned on restructured loans primarily due to the pay-off of a $414 million restructured loan in
September 2012.

The decrease to the yields earned on long-term variable-rate loans and line of credit loans during the year ended May
31, 2014 when compared to the years ended May 31, 2013 and 2012, was due to the continued impact of the reduction
to the standard rates we charged for such loans on October 1, 2012.

During the year ended May 31, 2013, interest income decreased by 1% compared with the prior year. The pay-off of a
$414 million restructured loan mentioned above resulted in an unusual increase to the average yield on restructured
loans of 538 basis points during the year ended May 31, 2013. Excluding the impact of restructured loans, there was a
30 basis-point decrease to the weighted-average rate earned on loans, partly offset by a $1,028 million increase in the
average loan balance.

Our nonperforming and restructured loans on non-accrual status affect interest income for the current and prior years.
The effect of non-accrual loans on interest income is included in the rate variance in table 3 above. Table 4
summarizes foregone interest income as a result of holding loans on non-accrual status.

Table 4: Foregone Interest Income
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(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Electric $610 $491 $7,918
Telecommunications 192 447 433
Total $802 $938 $8,351

The decrease in interest foregone for electric loans in fiscal year 2013 compared to fiscal year 2012 was due to placing
a $420 million restructured loan on accrual status on October 1, 2011, which was paid off in September 2012. The
reduction to interest foregone for telecommunications loans in fiscal year 2014 compared to fiscal year 2013 was due
to the significantly lower balance of telecommunications loans on non-accrual status during fiscal year 2014.
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Interest Expense

During the year ended May 31, 2014, the average balance of debt outstanding increased by $1,136 million, or 6%, in
order to fund the overall growth in our balance sheet. Despite the increase in average debt outstanding, total interest
expense decreased by 5% compared with the prior year. The lower interest rates and tighter credit spreads available in
the capital markets allowed us to refinance maturing debt at a lower cost. Specifically, the decrease in interest expense
for the year ended May 31, 2014 is due to the 38 basis-point reduction in the total weighted-average cost of debt. The
lower average cost of debt is primarily due to the refinancing of $340 million of 8% medium-term notes in the second
quarter of fiscal year 2013, an overall decrease in the average volume of collateral trust bonds, and a lower average
rate on collateral trust bonds issued in fiscal year 2014 compared to those that matured, partially offset by an increase
in the average volume of subordinated deferrable debt. We funded the refinancing of higher-cost medium-term notes
as well as the overall growth in our balance sheet with a mix of lower-cost short-term debt, medium-term notes,
collateral trust bonds, and notes payable issued under our Guaranteed Underwriter Program and our agreement with
the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation. Short-term debt is our lowest cost of funding. Our utilization of
short-term debt increased from 19% to 21% of average total debt during the year ended May 31, 2014 compared with
the prior year, while the weighted-average rate paid for these instruments decreased from 18 basis points to 14 basis
points, a 22% reduction.

The decrease in interest expense during the year ended May 31, 2014 compared to the prior year was also partially
driven by the decrease in average volume of our subordinated certificates due to the call of our 7.5% member capital
securities with redemption dates that started in the third quarter of fiscal year 2014.

During the year ended May 31, 2013, interest expense decreased by 9% compared with the prior year primarily due to
the 59 basis-point reduction in the total cost of debt. The lower average cost of debt was primarily due to the
refinancing of $1,500 million of 7.25% medium-term notes throughout fiscal year 2012 and the refinancing of $340
million of 8% medium-term notes in the second quarter of fiscal year 2013. Our utilization of short-term debt
increased from 16% to 19% of average total debt during the year ended May 31, 2013 compared with the prior year,
while the weighted-average rate paid for these instruments decreased slightly from 19 basis points to 18 basis points, a
5% reduction.

The adjusted interest expense, which includes all derivative cash settlements, was $729 million for the year ended
May 31, 2014, compared with $748 million and $775 million for the years ended May 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. The decrease in adjusted interest expense during the years ended May 31, 2014 and 2013 was due to the
lower interest expense noted above, partially offset by an increase in derivative cash settlements expense during the
years ended May 31, 2014 and 2013. Our adjusted interest expense fell from an average of $65 million per month for
fiscal year 2012 to $62 million per month for fiscal year 2013 and $61 million per month for fiscal year 2014. See
"Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for further explanation of the adjustment we make in our financial analysis to
include all derivative cash settlements in interest expense.

Provision for Loan Losses

We recorded a $3 million provision for loan losses during the year ended May 31, 2014 versus a negative provision of
$70 million during the prior year. The loan loss provision for the year ended May 31, 2014 was due to an increase in
the allowance held for general loans of $2 million and an increase in the qualitative component of the general reserve
of $3 million, partially offset by a decrease in the the allowance held for impaired loans of $2 million. The negative
provision for loan losses of $70 million recognized during the year ended May 31, 2013 was due to the decrease to the
allowance held for general loans of $56 million, the decrease in the qualitative component of the general reserve of
$11 million, and the decrease to the allowance held for impaired loans of $3 million. The allowance held for the
general portfolio decreased because we updated certain assumptions used to estimate defaults, which included
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transitioning from the S&P corporate bond default table to the S&P utility sector default table, refining the linkage
between the Company’s internal risk ratings and the S&P ratings and reassessing and reducing the loss emergence
period. In addition, we refined our approach to the qualitative component of the general reserve by focusing on risk
factors not captured in the general allowance for loan loss. See "Note 3—Loans and Commitments" for additional
information on our allowance for loan losses.

Non-Interest Income

Non-interest income consists of fee and other income, gains and losses on derivatives not accounted for in hedge
accounting relationships and results from foreclosed assets.

Non-interest income decreased by $152 million for the year ended May 31, 2014 compared with the prior year
primarily due to the increase in derivative losses of $119 million, the decrease in fee income of $20 million and the
increase in loss from
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operations of foreclosed assets of $13 million. The decrease in fee and other income during the year ended May 31,
2014 is primarily due to the $13 million prepayment fee received on a capital expenditures loan in September 2012.
The increase in loss from operations of foreclosed assets is primarily due to the reversal of $10 million of previously
accrued expenses in the third quarter of fiscal year 2013 at Caribbean Asset Holdings (“CAH”), and a $3 million
settlement gain received in the second quarter of fiscal year 2013.

Non-interest income increased by $408 million for the year ended May 31, 2013 compared with the prior year mainly
due to the increase in derivative gains of $321 million, the decrease in loss from operations of foreclosed assets of $67
million and the increase in fee income of $20 million. The decrease in loss from operations of foreclosed assets is
primarily due to the $45 million impairment recorded in the third quarter of fiscal year 2012 at CAH and the $13
million in positive one-time adjustments recorded in fiscal year 2013 mentioned above. The increase in fee income
was primarily due to the $13 million prepayment fee received in September 2012 mentioned above.

The derivative gains (losses) line item includes income and losses recorded for our interest rate swaps as summarized
in table 5 for the years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Table 5: Derivative Gains (Losses)
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Derivative cash settlements $(73,962 ) $(56,461 ) $(12,846 )
Derivative forward value 39,541 141,304 (223,774 )
Derivative gains (losses) $(34,421 ) $84,843 $(236,620 )

We currently use two types of interest rate exchange agreements:  (i) we pay a fixed rate and receive a variable rate
("pay-fixed swaps") and (ii) we pay a variable rate and receive a fixed rate ("receive-fixed swaps"). Pay-fixed swaps
decrease in value and receive-fixed swaps increase in value as interest rates decrease, with the opposite occurring
when interest rates increase. Because the composition of our pay-fixed and receive-fixed derivatives varies across the
yield curve, the overall fair value gains and losses of our derivatives are sensitive to flattening and steepening of the
yield curve.

Table 6 provides a breakout of the average notional amount outstanding by type of interest rate exchange agreement
and the weighted-average interest rate paid and received for cash settlements during the years ended May 31, 2014
and 2013.

Table 6: Derivative Average Notional Balances and Average Interest Rates
2014 2013

(Dollars in thousands)
Average
Notional
Balance

Weighted-
Average
Rate Paid

Weighted-
Average
Rate Received

Average
Notional
Balance

Weighted-
Average
Rate Paid

Weighted-
Average
Rate Received

Pay fixed-receive variable $5,310,019 3.36 % 0.24 % $5,570,239 3.56 % 0.35 %
Pay variable-receive fixed 3,070,679 0.94 3.95 3,577,975 1.18 4.65
Total $8,380,698 2.47 % 1.60 % $9,148,214 2.63 % 2.03 %

During the year ended May 31, 2014, the weighted-average rate we paid on our interest rate swap agreements was 87
basis points higher than the weighted-average rate we received, compared with 60 basis points higher than the
weighted-average rate we received during the prior year. The primary reason for the increase in the weighted-average
outflow was the reduction in the average notional amount for our pay variable-receive fixed interest rate swaps, due to
a total of $575 million of pay variable-receive fixed interest rate swaps that matured since May 31, 2013.
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The derivative forward value represents the change in fair value of our interest rate swaps during the reporting period
due to changes in the estimate of future interest rates over the remaining life of our derivative contracts. The derivative
forward value recorded for the year ended May 31, 2014 decreased by $102 million compared with the prior year. For
the year ended May 31, 2014 the derivative value forward gain of $40 million was due to the upward shift and
steepening of the estimated yield curve for our swaps of 18 basis points and 13 basis points, respectively. During the
year ended May 31, 2014, the increase in fair value for our pay fixed-receive variable interest rate swaps outweighed
the decrease in fair value for pay variable-receive fixed swaps as pay fixed-receive variable interest rate swaps
represented 63% of our derivative contracts and they are more sensitive to changes in the estimated yield curve as they
have a higher weighted-average maturity than our pay variable-receive fixed interest rate swaps. For the year ended
May 31, 2014, the fair value of pay variable-receive fixed swaps declined as a result of
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swap maturities and changes in the estimated yield curve. See "Note 8—Derivative Financial Instruments" for additional
information.

Non-Interest Expense

Non-interest expense consists of salaries and employee benefit expense, general and administrative expenses,
provision for guarantee liability, losses on early extinguishment of debt and other miscellaneous expenses.

Non-interest expense decreased by $21 million during the year ended May 31, 2014 compared with prior year due to
the $14 million decrease in salaries and employee benefit expenses, the $9 million decrease in loss on early
extinguishment of debt and the $5 million decrease in other expenses. The decrease in salaries and employee benefits
during the year ended May 31, 2014 was due to the voluntary $13 million contribution that CFC made to its
NRECA-sponsored Retirement Security Plan in January 2013. The $9 million decrease in loss on early
extinguishment of debt was due to lower losses recorded in the current year related to the early redemption of $150
million of collateral trust bonds versus the losses recorded in the prior year related to the early redemption of $300
million collateral trust bonds and $186 million of subordinated deferrable debt. The decrease in other expenses during
the year ended May 31, 2014 is due to a payment of $4 million related to the ICC bankruptcy made during the prior
year. The above items were partially offset by the $5 million negative provision for guarantee losses recognized
during the year ended May 31, 2013 versus an immaterial increase in the provision for guarantee losses recognized
during the year ended May 31, 2014.

Non-interest expense increased by $13 million during the year ended May 31, 2013 compared with prior year
primarily due to the $13 million contribution to the Retirement Security Plan discussed above.

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to the Noncontrolling Interest

The net income or loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest represents 100% of the results of operations of RTFC
and NCSC as the members of RTFC and NCSC own or control 100% of the interest in their respective companies.

Noncontrolling interest for the year ended May 31, 2014 represents $2.9 million of net income, compared with net
income of $4.3 million and net loss of $4.1 million for the years ended May 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
Fluctuations in net income and loss are primarily due to fluctuations in the fair value of NCSC’s derivative
instruments.

FINANCIAL CONDITION

Loan Portfolio

We are a cost-based lender that offers long-term fixed- and variable-rate loans and line of credit variable-rate loans.
Borrowers choose between a variable interest rate or a fixed interest rate for periods of one to 35 years. When a
selected fixed interest rate term expires, the borrower may select another fixed-rate term or the variable rate.

Table 7 summarizes loans outstanding by type and by member class at May 31, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010.
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Table 7: Loans Outstanding by Type and Member Class
(Dollars in millions) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Loans by type: (1) Amount % Amount % Amount % Amount % Amount %
Long-term loans:
Long-term fixed-rate
loans $18,176 88 % $17,918 88 % $16,743 89 % $16,405 85 % $15,413 80 %

Long-term variable-rate
loans 754 4 782 4 765 4 1,278 7 2,089 11

Loans guaranteed by RUS 202 1 211 1 219 1 227 1 237 1
Total long-term loans 19,132 93 18,911 93 17,727 94 17,910 93 17,739 92
Line of credit loans 1,335 7 1,385 7 1,185 6 1,415 7 1,599 8
Total loans $20,467 100 % $20,296 100 % $18,912 100 % $19,325 100 % $19,338 100 %

Loans by member class:(1)
CFC:
Distribution $15,035 74 % $14,941 74 % $14,075 74 % $13,760 71 % $13,459 70 %
Power supply 4,086 20 4,008 20 3,597 19 4,092 21 3,770 19
Statewide and associate 68 — 71 — 74 1 90 1 86 —
CFC total 19,189 94 19,020 94 17,746 94 17,942 93 17,315 89
RTFC 450 2 503 2 572 3 859 4 1,672 9
NCSC 828 4 773 4 594 3 524 3 351 2
Total $20,467 100 % $20,296 100 % $18,912 100 % $19,325 100 % $19,338 100 %
(1) Includes loans classified as restructured and nonperforming.

The balance of loans outstanding increased by $171 million during the year ended May 31, 2014 primarily due to an
increase of $94 million in CFC distribution loans, an increase of $78 million in CFC power supply loans and an
increase of $55 million in NCSC loans, partly offset by a decrease of $53 million in RTFC loans.

During the year ended May 31, 2014, $1,164 million of CFC long-term fixed-rate loans repriced. Of this total, $984
million selected a new long-term fixed rate; $69 million selected the long-term variable rate; $21 million selected a
new rate offered as part of our loan sale program and were sold by CFC with CFC continuing to service the loans
sold; and $90 million were prepaid in full.

We provide additional information on loans in "Note 3—Loans and Commitments".
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Debt and Equity

Outstanding Debt

Table 8 shows our debt outstanding and the weighted average interest rates by type of debt at May 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012.

Table 8: Total Debt Outstanding and Weighted-Average Interest Rates
2014 2013 2012

(Dollars in thousands) Amounts
Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Interest Rate

Amounts
Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Interest Rate

Amounts
Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Interest Rate

Commercial paper sold
through dealers, net of
discounts

$1,973,557 0.14 % $2,009,884 0.16 % $1,404,901 0.18 %

Commercial paper sold
directly to members, at par 838,074 0.13 812,141 0.15 997,778 0.18

Commercial paper sold
directly to non-members, at
par

20,315 0.13 39,298 0.14 70,479 0.18

Select notes 548,610 0.27 358,390 0.34 — —
Daily liquidity fund notes 486,501 0.06 680,419 0.10 478,406 0.10
Bank bid notes 20,000 0.60 150,000 0.53 295,000 0.51
Collateral trust bonds 5,980,214 4.65 5,962,681 5.13 6,307,564 5.11
Notes payable 6,019,040 2.60 5,274,415 2.69 4,650,877 3.27
Medium-term notes 2,726,303 2.43 3,091,512 2.74 2,423,686 4.56
Subordinated deferrable debt 400,000 4.75 400,000 4.75 186,440 6.02
Membership certificates 644,944 4.90 644,757 4.90 646,279 4.90
Loan and guarantee
certificates 699,724 3.01 733,895 3.29 694,825 3.09

Member capital securities 267,560 6.12 387,750 7.49 398,350 7.50
Total debt outstanding $20,624,842 2.91 $20,545,142 3.13 $18,554,585 3.67
Percentage of fixed-rate
debt(1) 79 % 77 % 86 %

Percentage of variable-rate
debt(2) 21 23 14

Percentage of long-term debt 81 % 80 % 83 %
Percentage of short-term
debt 19 20 17

(1) Includes variable-rate debt that has been swapped to a fixed rate net of any fixed-rate debt that has been swapped to
a variable rate.
(2) The rate on commercial paper notes does not change once the note has been issued. However, the rates on new
commercial paper notes change daily, and commercial paper notes generally have maturities of less than 90 days.
Therefore, commercial paper notes are classified as variable-rate debt. Also includes fixed-rate debt that has been
swapped to a variable rate net of any variable-rate debt that has been swapped to a fixed rate.

During the year ended May 31, 2014, total debt outstanding increased by $80 million. The increase in debt
outstanding, coupled with an increase in retained equity of $149 million, was primarily due to funding for the $171
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million increase in loans outstanding. Total commercial paper, select notes, daily liquidity fund notes and bank bid
notes outstanding represented 19% and 20% of total debt at May 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. To take advantage
of the current low interest rates on short-term debt, we intend to continue to maximize the use of these short-term debt
instruments in our funding portfolio mix.

During fiscal year 2014, the CFC Board of Directors authorized management to execute the call of our 7.5% member
capital securities and offer members the option to invest in a new series of member capital securities that currently
have a 5% interest rate. As of May 31, 2014, $267 million of the 7.5% member capital securities were redeemed and
we had call notices outstanding for another $59 million. As of May 31, 2014, members have invested $147 million in
the new series of member capital securities.
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Table 9 provides additional information on our outstanding debt instruments and revolving credit agreements at May
31, 2014.

Table 9: Debt Instruments and Revolving Credit Agreements
Debt Instrument Maturity Range Market Security
Daily liquidity fund notes Demand note Members and affiliates Unsecured
Select notes 30 to 270 days Members and affiliates Unsecured
Bank bid notes Up to 3 months Bank institutions Unsecured

Commercial paper 1 to 270 days Public capital markets and
members Unsecured

Revolving credit agreements 3 to 5 years Bank institutions Unsecured
Collateral trust bonds Up to 30 years Public capital markets Secured (1)

Medium-term notes Range from 9 months to 30
years

Public capital markets and
members Unsecured

Notes payable to the Federal
Financing Bank

Range from 3 months to 20
years Government Unsecured (2)

Notes payable to Federal
Agricultural
Mortgage Corporation

Up to 16 years Private placement Secured (3)

Other notes payable Up to 30 years Private placement Varies (4)
Subordinated deferrable debt Up to 30 years (5) Public capital markets Unsecured (6)
Subordinated certificates Up to 100 years (7) Members Unsecured (8)

(1) Secured by the pledge of permitted investments and eligible mortgage notes from distribution system borrowers in
an amount at least equal to the outstanding principal amount of collateral trust bonds.
(2) Represents notes payable issued to the Federal Financing Bank with a guarantee of repayment by RUS under the
Guaranteed Underwriter Program of the USDA, which supports the Rural Economic Development Loan and Grant
program. We are required to maintain collateral on deposit equal to at least 100% of the outstanding balance of debt.
(3) We are required to pledge eligible mortgage notes from distribution and power supply system borrowers in an
amount at least equal to the outstanding principal amount under note purchase agreements with the Federal
Agricultural Mortgage Corporation.
(4) At May 31, 2014, other notes payable includes unsecured and secured Clean Renewable Energy Bonds. We are
required to pledge eligible mortgage notes from distribution and power supply system borrowers in an amount at least
equal to the outstanding principal amount under the Clean Renewable Energy Bonds Series 2009A note purchase
agreement. The remaining other notes payable relate to unsecured notes payable issued by NCSC.
(5) We have the right at any time and from time to time during the term of the subordinated deferrable debt to suspend
interest payments for a period not exceeding 20 consecutive quarters. We have the right to call the subordinated
deferrable debt any time after ten years, at par. To date, we have not exercised our option to suspend interest
payments.
(6) Subordinate and junior in right of payment to senior debt and the debt obligations we guarantee, but senior to
subordinated certificates.
(7) Membership subordinated certificates generally mature 100 years from issuance. Loan and guarantee subordinated
certificates have the same maturity as the related long-term loan. Some certificates may also amortize annually based
on the outstanding loan balance. Member capital securities generally mature 30 years or 35 years from issuance.
Member capital securities are callable at par by CFC starting five or ten years from the date of issuance and anytime
thereafter.
(8) Subordinate and junior in right of payment to senior and subordinated debt and debt obligations we guarantee.
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Table 10 summarizes short-term debt outstanding and the weighted-average interest rates at May 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012.

Table 10: Short-term Debt Outstanding and Weighted-Average Interest Rates 
2014 2013 2012

(Dollars in thousands) Debt
Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Interest
Rate

Debt
Outstanding

Weighted-Average
Interest
Rate

Debt
Outstanding

Weighted-Average
Interest
Rate

Short-term debt:
Total commercial paper $2,831,946 0.14 % $2,861,323 0.16 % $2,473,158 0.19 %
Select notes 548,610 0.27 358,390 0.34 — —
Daily liquidity fund notes 486,501 0.06 680,419 0.10 478,406 0.10
Bank bid notes 20,000 0.60 150,000 0.54 295,000 0.52
   Subtotal short-term debt 3,887,057 0.15 4,050,132 0.18 3,246,564 0.20
Long-term debt maturing
within one year 1,512,337 1.44 3,669,351 2.65 1,246,870 2.13

Total short-term debt $5,399,394 0.51 $7,719,483 1.35 $4,493,434 0.74
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Table 11: Short-term Debt - Other Information
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Weighted-average maturity outstanding at year-end:
Commercial paper 17 days 18 days 21 days
Select Notes 41 days 50 days —
Daily liquidity fund notes 1 day 1 day 1 day
Bank bid notes 9 days 20 days 6 days
   Subtotal short-term debt 19 days 18 days 17 days
   Long-term debt maturing within one year 200 days 180 days 158 days
Total 69 days 95 days 56 days
Average amount outstanding during the year:
Commercial paper $3,083,849 $2,817,305 $2,492,791
Select Notes 485,839 166,486 —
Daily liquidity fund notes 585,104 586,505 413,525
Bank bid notes 127,315 222,500 295,000
   Subtotal short-term debt 4,282,107 3,792,796 3,201,316
   Long-term debt maturing within one year 2,205,642 2,639,927 2,168,220
Total $6,487,749 $6,432,723 $5,369,536
Maximum amount outstanding at any month-end during the year:
Commercial paper $3,723,948 $3,514,679 $2,746,189
Select Notes 605,536 376,858 —
Daily liquidity fund notes 715,539 680,419 478,406
Bank bid notes 150,000 295,000 295,000
   Subtotal short-term debt 4,864,244 4,600,287 3,431,617
   Long-term debt maturing within one year 3,873,364 3,787,808 2,697,751

We provide additional information on our borrowings in "Note 5—Short-term Debt and Credit Arrangements," "Note
6—Long-term Debt" and "Note 7—Subordinated Deferrable Debt."
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Equity

Table 12 summarizes the components of equity at May 31, 2014 and 2013.

Table 12: Equity 

(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 Increase/
(Decrease)

Membership fees $973 $973 $—
Education fund 1,778 1,532 246
Members’ capital reserve 485,447 410,259 75,188
Allocated net income 630,340 591,581 38,759
Unallocated net loss(1) (6,238 ) (6,230 ) (8 )
Total members’ equity 1,112,300 998,115 114,185
Prior years cumulative derivative forward value and foreign currency
adjustments (207,025 ) (340,719 ) 133,694

Year-to-date derivative forward value income(2) 34,613 133,694 (99,081 )
Total CFC retained equity 939,888 791,090 148,798
Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,649 8,381 (4,732 )
Total CFC equity 943,537 799,471 144,066
Noncontrolling interest 26,837 11,790 15,047
Total equity $970,374 $811,261 $159,113
(1) Excludes derivative forward value.
(2) Represents the derivative forward value loss recorded by CFC for the year-to-date period.

At May 31, 2014, total equity increased by $159 million from May 31, 2013, primarily due to net income of $193
million for the year ended May 31, 2014 partially offset by the board authorized patronage capital retirement of $41
million.

In May 2013, the CFC Board of Directors authorized the allocation of $1 million of fiscal year 2013 net earnings to
the Cooperative Educational Fund. In July 2013, the CFC Board of Directors authorized the allocation of the fiscal
year 2013 net earnings as follows: $138 million to the members' capital reserve and $81 million to members in the
form of patronage capital. In July 2013, the CFC Board of Directors authorized the retirement of allocated net
earnings totaling $41 million, representing 50% of the fiscal year 2013 allocation. This amount was returned to
members in cash in October 2013. Future allocations and retirements of net earnings may be made annually as
determined by the CFC Board of Directors with due regard for CFC’s financial condition. The CFC Board of Directors
has the authority to change the current practice for allocating and retiring net earnings at any time, subject to
applicable cooperative law.

In May 2014, the CFC Board of Directors authorized the allocation of $1 million of fiscal year 2014 net earnings to
the Cooperative Educational Fund. In July 2014, the CFC Board of Directors authorized the allocation of the fiscal
year 2014 net earnings as follows: $75 million to the members’ capital reserve and $79 million to members in the form
of patronage capital. In July 2014, the CFC Board of Directors authorized the retirement of allocated net earnings
totaling $40 million, representing 50% of the fiscal year 2014 allocation. It is anticipated that this amount will be
returned to members in cash in the second quarter of fiscal year 2015. Future allocations and retirements of net
earnings may be made annually as determined by the CFC Board of Directors with due regard for CFC’s financial
condition. The CFC Board of Directors has the authority to change the current practice for allocating and retiring net
earnings at any time, subject to applicable cooperative law.
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In December 2013, the RTFC Board of Directors approved the allocation of earnings for the year ended May 31, 2013
with 99% allocated to members and 1% allocated to the Cooperative Educational Fund. A total of $2 million was
allocated to members as follows: $0.4 million in cash and $1.6 million in the form of certificates to be redeemed at a
later date. In January 2014, RTFC distributed the $0.4 million cash portion of the allocation to members.
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Ratio Analysis

Leverage Ratio

The leverage ratio is calculated by dividing the sum of total liabilities and guarantees outstanding by total equity.
Based on this formula, the leverage ratio at May 31, 2014 was 23.01-to-1, a decrease from 27.58-to-1 at May 31,
2013. The decrease in the leverage ratio is due to the increase of $159 million in total equity, the decrease of $48
million in total guarantees, partially offset by the increase of $2 million in total liabilities as discussed under
"Financial Condition—Liabilities and Equity" and "Contingent Off-Balance Sheet Obligations."

For covenant compliance on our revolving credit agreements and for internal management purposes, the leverage ratio
calculation is adjusted to exclude derivative liabilities, debt used to fund loans guaranteed by RUS, subordinated
deferrable debt and subordinated certificates from liabilities; uses members’ equity rather than total equity; and adds
subordinated deferrable debt and subordinated certificates to calculate adjusted equity.

At May 31, 2014 and 2013, the adjusted leverage ratio was 6.24-to-1 and 6.11-to-1, respectively. See "Non-GAAP
Financial Measures" for further explanation and a reconciliation of the adjustments we make to our leverage ratio
calculation. The increase to the adjusted leverage ratio was due to the increase of $252 million in adjusted liabilities
and the decrease of $34 million in adjusted equity, partially offset by the decrease of $48 million in guarantees as
discussed under "Financial Condition—Liabilities and Equity" and "Off-Balance Sheet Obligations."

Debt-to-Equity Ratio

The debt-to-equity ratio is calculated by dividing the sum of total liabilities outstanding by total equity. The
debt-to-equity ratio based on this formula at May 31, 2014 was 21.91-to-1, a decrease from 26.21-to-1 at May 31,
2013. The decrease in the debt-to-equity ratio is primarily due to the increase of $159 million in total equity as
discussed under the "Financial Condition—Liabilities and Equity"

For internal management purposes, the debt-to-equity ratio calculation is adjusted to exclude derivative liabilities,
debt used to fund loans guaranteed by RUS, subordinated deferrable debt and subordinated certificates from liabilities;
uses members’ equity rather than total equity; and adds subordinated deferrable debt and subordinated certificates to
determine adjusted equity. At May 31, 2014 and 2013, the adjusted debt-to-equity ratio was 5.90-to-1 and 5.76-to-1,
respectively. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for further explanation and a reconciliation of the adjustments
made to the debt-to-equity ratio calculation. The increase in the adjusted debt-to-equity ratio is due to the increase of
$252 million in adjusted liabilities and the decrease of $34 million in adjusted equity.

CONTINGENT OFF-BALANCE SHEET OBLIGATIONS

Guarantees

We guarantee certain contractual obligations of our members so they may obtain various forms of financing. We use
the same credit policies and monitoring procedures in providing guarantees as we do for loans and commitments. If a
member system defaults on its obligation to pay debt service, then we are obligated to pay any required amounts under
our guarantees. Meeting our guarantee obligations satisfies the underlying obligation of our member systems and
prevents the exercise of remedies by the guarantee beneficiary based upon a payment default by a member system. In
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general, the member system is required to repay any amount advanced by us with interest, pursuant to the documents
evidencing the member system’s reimbursement obligation. Table 13 shows our guarantees outstanding by type of
guarantee and by company at May 31, 2014 and 2013.

44

Edgar Filing: NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORP /DC/ - Form 10-K

89



Table 13: Guarantees Outstanding

(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 Increase/
(Decrease)

Total by guarantee type:
Long-term tax-exempt bonds $518,360 $547,970 $(29,610 )
Letters of credit 431,064 447,683 (16,619 )
Other guarantees 115,398 117,118 (1,720 )
Total $1,064,822 $1,112,771 $(47,949 )
Total by company:
CFC $997,187 $1,063,113 $(65,926 )
RTFC 2,304 3,711 (1,407 )
NCSC 65,331 45,947 19,384
Total $1,064,822 $1,112,771 $(47,949 )

In addition to the letters of credit listed in the table, under master letter of credit facilities in place at May 31, 2014, we
may be required to issue up to an additional $163 million in letters of credit to third parties for the benefit of our
members. As of May 31, 2014, all of our master letter of credit facilities were subject to material adverse change
clauses at the time of issuance. Also, at May 31, 2014 we had hybrid letter of credit facilities totaling $1,762 million
that represent commitments that may be used for the issuance of letters of credit or line of credit loan advances, at the
option of a borrower, and are included in unadvanced loan commitments for line of credit loans reported in "Note
3—Loans and Commitments." Hybrid letter of credit facilities subject to material adverse change clauses at the time of
issuance totaled $476 million at May 31, 2014. Prior to issuing a letter of credit under these facilities, we would
confirm that there has been no material adverse change in the business or condition, financial or otherwise, of the
borrower since the time the loan was approved and confirm that the borrower is currently in compliance with the letter
of credit terms and conditions. The remaining commitment under hybrid letter of credit facilities of $1,286 million
may be used for the issuance of letters of credit as long as the borrower is in compliance with the terms and conditions
of the facility.

At May 31, 2014, we were the liquidity provider for a total of $570 million  of variable-rate tax-exempt bonds issued
for our member cooperatives. As liquidity provider on these $570 million of tax-exempt bonds, we are required to
purchase bonds that are tendered or put by investors. Investors provide notice to the remarketing agent that they will
tender or put a certain amount of bonds at the next interest rate reset date. If the remarketing agent is unable to sell
such bonds to other investors by the next interest rate reset date, we have unconditionally agreed to purchase such
bonds. On a total of $445 million of the bonds for which we are liquidity provider at May 31, 2014, we also provide a
guarantee of all principal and interest, which is included in table 13 as a long-term tax-exempt bond guarantee. On a
total of $125 million of tax-exempt bonds, our obligation as liquidity provider is in the form of a letter of credit, which
is reflected in table 13 in our letters of credit. For the year ended May 31, 2014, we were not required to perform as
liquidity provider pursuant to these obligations.

At May 31, 2014 and 2013, 61% and 63% of total guarantees, respectively, were secured by a mortgage lien on
substantially all of the system’s assets and future revenue.

The decrease in total guarantees during the year ended May 31, 2014 is primarily due to a net decrease to the total
amount of long-term tax-exempt bonds and letters of credit outstanding. At May 31, 2014 and 2013, we recorded a
guarantee liability of $22 million and $25 million, respectively, which represents the contingent and non-contingent
exposures related to guarantees and liquidity obligations associated with our members’ debt.

Table 14 summarizes the off-balance sheet obligations at May 31, 2014, and the related maturities by fiscal year and
thereafter.
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Table 14: Maturities of Guaranteed Obligations 
 Outstanding
Balance

Maturities of Guaranteed Obligations
(Dollars in thousands) 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter
Guarantees (1) $1,064,822 $353,298 $31,885 $25,624 $147,843 $28,573 $477,599
(1) At May 31, 2014, we are the guarantor and liquidity provider for $445 million of tax-exempt bonds issued for our
member cooperatives. We have also issued letters of credit to provide standby liquidity for an additional $125 million
of tax-exempt bonds.
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See "Note 12—Guarantees" for additional information.

Unadvanced Loan Commitments

Unadvanced commitments represent approved and executed loan contracts for which the funds have not been
advanced. At May 31, 2014 and 2013, we had the following amount of unadvanced commitments on loans to our
borrowers.

Table 15: Unadvanced Loan Commitments
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 % of Total 2013 % of Total
Long-term $4,710,273 34 % $4,718,162 35 %
Line of credit 9,201,805 66 8,704,586 65
Total $13,912,078 100 % $13,422,748 100 %

A total of $2,274 million and $1,703 million of unadvanced commitments at May 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively,
represented unadvanced commitments related to committed lines of credit that are not subject to a material adverse
change clause at the time of each advance. As such, we would be required to advance amounts on these committed
facilities as long as the borrower is in compliance with the terms and conditions of the facility. The remaining
available amounts at May 31, 2014 and 2013 are conditional obligations because they are generally subject to material
adverse change clauses. Prior to making an advance on these facilities, we confirm that there has been no material
adverse change in the business or condition, financial or otherwise, of the borrower since the time the loan was
approved and confirm that the borrower is currently in compliance with loan terms and conditions.

Unadvanced commitments related to line of credit loans are generally revolving facilities for periods not to exceed
five years. It is our experience that unadvanced commitments related to line of credit loans are usually not fully
drawn. We believe these conditions will continue for the following reasons:

•electric cooperatives generate a significant amount of cash from the collection of revenue from their customers, sothey usually do not need to draw down on loan commitments to supplement operating cash flow;

• the majority of the line of credit unadvanced commitments provide backup liquidity to our borrowers;
and

•historically, we have experienced a very low utilization rate on line of credit loan facilities, whether or not there is amaterial adverse change clause at the time of advance.

In our experience, unadvanced commitments related to term loans may not be fully drawn and borrowings occur in
multiple transactions over an extended period of time. We believe these conditions will continue for the following
reasons:

•electric cooperatives generally execute loan contracts to cover multi-year work plans and, as such, it is expected thatadvances on such loans will occur over a multi-year period;

•
electric cooperatives generate a significant amount of cash from the collection of revenue from their customers, thus
operating cash flow is available to reduce the amount of additional funding needed for capital expenditures and
maintenance;
•we generally do not charge our borrowers a fee on long-term unadvanced commitments; and
•long-term unadvanced commitments generally expire five years from the date of the loan agreement.

Unadvanced commitments that are subject to a material adverse change clause are classified as contingent liabilities.
Based on the conditions to advance funds described above, the majority of our unadvanced loan commitments do not
represent off-balance sheet liabilities and have not been included with guarantees in our off-balance sheet disclosures
above. We do, however, record a reserve for credit losses associated with our unadvanced commitments for
committed facilities that are not subject to a material adverse change clause.
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Table 16 summarizes the available balance under committed lines of credit at May 31, 2014, and the related maturities
by fiscal year.

Table 16: Notional Maturities of Committed Lines of Credit
Available
Balance

Notional Maturities of Committed Lines of Credit
(Dollars in thousands) 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Committed lines of credit $2,274,388 $19,238 $61,000 $456,855 $678,839 $1,058,456
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CREDIT RISK

Credit Policies, Process and Monitoring

Loan Underwriting and Credit Monitoring

We have lending staff that underwrite distribution loans, power supply loans and telecommunications loans. Our
borrowers contact the lending staff to discuss the borrower’s need for funding. Our lending staff evaluates the
borrower’s request to determine whether the requested credit represents an acceptable credit risk. The lending staff's
evaluation of the proposed credit includes, but is not limited to:
•the size of the loan request;
•the intended use of proceeds;
•whether collateral is required and, if so, whether there is sufficient collateral;
•the borrower’s risk profile as measured by financial ratios and other risk characteristics; and
•other factors that might be applicable to the type of borrower or the specific loan request being considered.

If our lending staff determines that a credit request is acceptable, the staff works with the borrower to structure a loan
based on the various options we offer and prepares a credit recommendation for review by management in the lending
group as discussed further below under "Loan Approval." When considering credit requests to borrowers with large
single-obligor exposures we may use loan syndications, loan participations and whole-loan sale programs to
effectively manage portfolio risk related to credit concentrations.

Our Credit Risk Management group facilitates the activities of our internal credit review process, establishes credit
policies and oversees our internal risk rating system for all of our borrowers. We maintain an internal risk rating
system that produces a borrower rating and a facility rating. The borrower risk rating (“BRR”) measures risk of default
for each borrower based on both quantitative and qualitative measurements specific to the particular business line of
the borrower. The facility risk rating measures risk of loss in the event of default for a particular facility based on the
collateral or guarantee associated with the loan. Risk ratings are used to assess the credit quality of the overall
portfolio, segments of the portfolio and each of our borrowers and to establish credit limitations, and are factors in
determining applicable credit approval levels.

Risk ratings for borrowers with outstanding and/or unadvanced loan or guarantee commitments are updated at least
annually upon the receipt of audited financial information and are reviewed in connection with any new credit request.
Annually, an outside financial services consultant conducts a review of the accuracy of specific BRRs and the risk
rating process and credit extension practices for compliance with policy and consistency in application. Such
consultant provides recommendations to management and the boards of directors for improvement, as well as progress
on the resolution of items from prior reviews. Management is responsible for implementing the recommendations
accepted by the boards of directors. In addition, we compare our internal ratings to the publicly available ratings for
our borrowers that have public ratings.

Loan Approval

The respective boards of directors establish loan policies for CFC, RTFC, and NCSC, each of which includes a credit
approval matrix. The credit approval matrix specifies the required level of approval applicable to any proposed loan
based on factors such as the amount of the loan, the BRR, whether credit limitations are exceeded and whether the
loan is to a member associated with one of our current directors. Through the approval matrix, the respective boards
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have delegated the authority to approve certain loans to the Chief Executive Officer, who has further delegated
approval authority to the Corporate Credit Committee and management in the lending groups while retaining sole
authority to approve certain loans.

Loans that require approval at a more senior level than management in the lending group are forwarded to the
Corporate Credit Committee for consideration. The Corporate Credit Committee is a cross-functional group
comprised of senior vice president and vice president level employees with distribution, power supply and
telecommunications lending experience, credit risk management experience, legal experience, accounting experience,
regulatory experience and financial industry experience. This committee performs a vital role in maintaining a balance
between the credit needs of the borrowers and the requirements for sound credit quality of our loan and guarantee
portfolio. The Corporate Credit Committee monitors lending policies and practices and reviews extensions of credits
requiring special attention. The Corporate Credit Committee also monitors selected rating changes, analyzes rating
integrity and works to improve our internal risk rating system. The Corporate Credit Committee approves, rejects or
imposes additional conditions on the loans it reviews. Some loans require Chief Executive Officer or board
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approval. The Chief Executive Officer or board receives a credit recommendation by management from the lending
group and the Corporate Credit Committee.

Policies for each of the three boards require that any exceptions to applicable credit limitations and any loan or
extension of credit to a borrower that has a director, or immediate family member of such director, of such board, (i)
as one of its directors or officers, (ii) as a beneficial owner, or (iii) that controls such borrowers, must be approved by
the board of directors or the established committee of the relevant board, with the director associated with the
borrower requesting the loan being recused from receipt of the written materials, discussions and voting.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Chief Executive Officer has the authority to approve emergency lines of credit and
certain other loans and lines of credit, including circumstances where a director is either a director or officer of the
borrower receiving such credit. The Chief Executive Officer has the authority to approve loans originated to be sold or
participated through the Company’s whole-loan sale programs. Such lines of credit and loans must meet specific
qualifying criteria and must be underwritten in accordance with the prevailing standards and terms.

Nonperforming Loans

The Credit Risk Management group, on an ongoing basis, and the Corporate Credit Committee, on a quarterly basis,
monitor all borrowers with past due, non-accrual and restructured facilities as well as other borrowers that warrant a
higher degree of monitoring. The Credit Risk Management group presents reports on such matters to the Chief
Executive Officer and boards of directors. Once a borrower is classified as nonperforming, we typically place the loan
on non-accrual status and reverse all accrued and unpaid interest back to the date of the last payment.

A loan is written off in the period that it becomes evident that collectability is highly unlikely; however, our efforts to
recover all charged-off amounts may continue. Management makes a recommendation to the respective board of
directors as to the timing and amount of loan write-offs based on various factors, including, but not limited to, cash
flow analysis and the fair value of the collateral securing the borrower’s loans.

Advances on Previously Approved Loan Facilities

Certain of our loan facilities allow our members to draw down the loan amount over a period of time. To advance an
amount under an approved loan facility, a member must be in compliance with all terms and conditions of their
facility. The majority of our loans allow us to deny an advance if there has been a material adverse change in the
business or condition, financial or otherwise, of the borrower since the time the facility was approved.

Covenant Compliance

Borrowers are generally required to maintain certain financial ratios. In addition, members with long-term loans
outstanding are generally required to provide us with certain information and documentation on a periodic or annual
basis, including, but not limited to, audited financial statements, notices of material adverse change in the business or
condition, financial or otherwise, of the borrower, and a certificate of management confirming compliance with all
covenants.

Credit Concentration

CFC, RTFC and NCSC each have policies that limit the amount of credit that can be extended to individual borrowers
or a controlled group of borrowers. The credit limitation policies cap the total exposure and unsecured exposure to the
borrower based on an assessment of the borrower’s risk profile and our internal risk rating system. As a
member-owned cooperative lender, we balance the needs of our members and the risk associated with concentrations
of credit exposure. Each board of directors must approve new credit requests from borrowers with total exposure or
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unsecured exposure in excess of the limits in the policies. Management may use syndicated credit arrangements, loan
participations and loan sales to manage credit concentrations.

Total exposure, as defined by the policies, generally includes the following:
•loans outstanding, excluding loans guaranteed by RUS;
•our guarantees of the borrower’s obligations including letters of credit commitments;
•unadvanced loan commitments;
•borrower guarantees to us of another borrower’s debt; and
•any other indebtedness with us, unless guaranteed by the U.S. government.

The calculation of total exposure includes facilities that are approved but not yet closed and facilities that might not be
drawn by the borrower, such as lines of credit and loan commitments for projects that may be delayed or eventually
canceled.
Credit Risk Profile

Below we provide information on the credit risk profile of our loan and guarantee portfolio, including loan
concentration, security provisions, pledged loans and loans on deposit, nonperforming and restructured loans, and
allowance for loan losses.

Loan Concentration

Table 17 presents the total number of CFC, RTFC and NCSC borrowers by state or U.S. territory and the percentage
of total loans outstanding at May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012. The percentage of total loans is based on the aggregate
principal balance of the loans outstanding.
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Table 17: Loan Concentration
2014 2013

State/Territory
Number
of
Borrowers

Loan
Balance %

Number
of
Borrowers

Loan
Balance %

Texas 73 15.43 % 72 14.76 %
Georgia 45 6.40 46 6.90
Missouri 52 5.19 52 5.27
Colorado 27 4.33 28 4.72
Alaska 19 4.28 20 3.26
Kansas 35 4.18 39 4.23
Illinois 30 3.70 31 3.72
Kentucky 25 3.34 25 3.48
Minnesota 56 3.33 54 3.57
Florida 16 2.96 16 2.68
Oklahoma 28 2.98 30 2.98
Indiana 45 2.82 45 2.89
North Carolina 30 2.69 31 2.78
Pennsylvania 20 2.57 16 2.22
Arkansas 20 2.42 19 2.73
South Carolina 25 2.38 26 2.53
Utah 6 2.37 6 2.60
Ohio 34 2.20 31 2.13
Iowa 41 2.15 42 2.10
North Dakota 12 2.09 13 1.68
Wisconsin 27 1.93 26 2.08
Alabama 26 1.88 26 1.83
Mississippi 20 1.78 22 1.85
Washington 11 1.65 11 1.69
Virginia 18 1.66 19 1.80
Oregon 23 1.62 24 1.67
Nevada 5 1.54 5 1.22
Louisiana 10 1.45 12 1.46
Wyoming 13 1.27 13 1.36
Arizona 12 0.97 12 1.10
South Dakota 32 0.96 32 1.01
Maryland 3 0.91 3 1.15
Montana 26 0.76 28 0.70
Idaho 13 0.70 13 0.73
Michigan 16 0.61 16 0.71
New Hampshire 2 0.52 2 0.48
New Mexico 16 0.36 15 0.39
Tennessee 18 0.26 19 0.29
Vermont 6 0.25 6 0.31
Hawaii 2 0.22 1 0.12
Nebraska 20 0.21 19 0.21
California 4 0.17 5 0.13
New York 7 0.16 7 0.11
Delaware 1 0.11 1 0.12
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New Jersey 3 0.10 2 0.10
West Virginia 2 0.08 2 0.08
Maine 4 0.06 4 0.07
District of Columbia 1 — 1 —
Total 980 100 % 988 100 %

The service territories of our electric and telecommunications members are located throughout the United States and
its territories, including 49 states, the District of Columbia, American Samoa and Guam.

At May 31, 2014 and 2013, the largest concentration of loans to borrowers in any one state was in Texas, which had
approximately 15% of total loans outstanding. Two primary factors contributed to Texas having the largest percentage
of total loans outstanding compared with other states at May 31, 2014:
•Texas has the largest number of total borrowers compared with other states (see table above); and
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•Texas has the largest number of power supply systems (10 of our 71 power supply system borrowers), which requiresignificantly more capital than distribution systems and telecommunications systems.

At May 31, 2014 and 2013, the total exposure outstanding to any one borrower or controlled group did not exceed
2.1% and 2.2%, respectively, of total loans and guarantees outstanding. At May 31, 2014 and 2013, the 10 largest
borrowers included four distribution systems and six power supply systems. Table 18 represents the exposure to the
10 largest borrowers as a percentage of total exposure presented by type of exposure and by company at May 31, 2014
and 2013.

Table 18: Credit Exposure to 10 Largest Borrowers
2014 2013 Increase/

(Decrease)(Dollars in thousands) Amount % of Total Amount % of Total
Total by exposure type:
Loans $3,155,857 14 % $2,981,627 14 % $174,230
Guarantees 363,325 2 374,340 2 (11,015 )
Total credit exposure to 10 largest borrowers $3,519,182 16 % $3,355,967 16 % $163,215

Total by company:
CFC $3,378,698 15 % $3,240,755 15 % $137,943
NCSC 140,484 1 115,212 1 25,272
Total credit exposure to 10 largest borrowers $3,519,182 16 % $3,355,967 16 % $163,215

Security Provisions

Except when providing line of credit loans, we generally lend to our members on a senior secured basis. Long-term
loans are generally secured on parity with other secured lenders (primarily RUS), if any, by all assets and revenue of
the borrower with exceptions typical in utility mortgages. Line of credit loans are generally unsecured. Guarantee
reimbursement obligations are generally secured on parity with other secured creditors by substantially all assets and
revenue of the borrower or by the underlying financed asset. In addition to the collateral pledged to secure our loans,
borrowers are also required to set rates charged to customers to achieve certain financial ratios. At May 31, 2014 and
2013, $2,118 million and $2,243 million out of $20,467 million and $20,296 million, respectively, of total loans
outstanding were unsecured, representing 10% and 11% of total loans outstanding, respectively.

Pledged Loans and Loans on Deposit

Table 19 summarizes our secured debt or debt requiring collateral on deposit, the excess collateral pledged and our
unencumbered loans at May 31, 2014 and 2013.

Table 19: Unencumbered Loans
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013
Total loans to members $20,466,925 $20,296,317
Less: Total secured debt or debt requiring collateral on deposit (12,242,446 ) (11,380,734 )
Excess collateral pledged or on deposit (1) (1,917,184 ) (1,825,020 )
Unencumbered loans $6,307,295 $7,090,563
Unencumbered loans as a percentage of total loans 31 % 35 %
(1) Excludes cash collateral pledged to secure debt. Unless and until there is an event of default, we can withdraw
excess collateral as long as there is 100% coverage of the secured debt. If there is an event of default under most of
our indentures, we can only withdraw this excess collateral if we substitute cash of equal value.
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Nonperforming and Restructured Loans

Table 20 summarizes nonperforming and restructured loans as a percentage of total loans and total loans and
guarantees outstanding at May 31, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010.
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Table 20: Nonperforming and Restructured Loans
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Nonperforming loans (1) $2,095 $15,497 $41,213 $31,344 $560,527
Percent of loans outstanding 0.01 % 0.08 % 0.22 % 0.16 % 2.90 %
Percent of loans and guarantees
outstanding 0.01 0.07 0.20 0.15 2.73

Restructured loans $7,584 $46,953 $455,689 $474,381 $508,044
Percent of loans outstanding 0.04 % 0.23 % 2.41 % 2.45 % 2.63 %
Percent of loans and guarantees
outstanding 0.04 0.22 2.26 2.32 2.48

Total nonperforming and restructured
loans $9,679 $62,450 $496,902 $505,725 $1,068,571

Percent of loans outstanding 0.05 % 0.31 % 2.63 % 2.61 % 5.53 %
Percent of loans and guarantees
outstanding 0.05 0.29 2.46 2.47 5.21

Total non-accrual loans $9,679 $23,081 $41,213 $465,312 $1,022,924
Percent of loans outstanding 0.05 % 0.11 % 0.22 % 2.41 % 5.29 %
Percent of loans and guarantees
outstanding 0.05 0.11 0.20 2.28 4.99

(1) All loans classified as nonperforming were on non-accrual status.

A borrower is classified as nonperforming when any one of the following criteria is met:
•principal or interest payments on any loan to the borrower are past due 90 days or more;
•as a result of court proceedings, repayment on the original terms is not anticipated; or
•for some other reason, management does not expect the timely repayment of principal and interest.

Once a borrower is classified as nonperforming, we generally place the loan on non-accrual status and reverse all
accrued and unpaid interest back to the date of the last payment.

At May 31, 2014 and 2013, nonperforming loans totaled $2 million, or 0.01%, of loans outstanding and $15 million or
0.1%, of loans outstanding, respectively. One borrower in this group is currently seeking a buyer for its system, as it is
not anticipated that it will have sufficient cash flow to repay its loans without the proceeds from the sale of the
business. It is currently anticipated that even with the sale of the business, there will not be sufficient funds to repay
the full amount owed. We have approval rights with respect to the sale of this company.

At May 31, 2014 and 2013, we had restructured loans totaling $8 million, or 0.04%, of loans outstanding and $47
million, or 0.2%, of loans outstanding, respectively, all of which were performing according to their restructured
terms. Approximately $0.1 million of interest income was accrued on restructured loans during the year ended May
31, 2014 compared to approximately $14 million of interest income during the prior year. One of the restructured
loans totaling $39 million at May 31, 2013, was refinanced without concession during the first quarter of fiscal year
2014, with the new loan classified as performing at May 31, 2014.

Based on our analysis, we believe we have an appropriate allowance for loan losses for our exposure related to
nonperforming and restructured loans at May 31, 2014.

Allowance for Loan Losses
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The allowance for loan losses is determined based upon evaluation of the loan portfolio, past loss experience, specific
problem loans, economic conditions and other pertinent factors that, in management’s judgment, could affect the risk
of loss in the loan portfolio. We review and adjust the allowance quarterly to cover estimated probable losses in the
portfolio. All loans are written off in the period that it becomes evident that collectability is highly unlikely; however,
our efforts to recover all charged-off amounts may continue. Management believes the allowance for loan losses is
appropriate to cover estimated probable portfolio losses.
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Under a guarantee agreement, CFC reimburses RTFC and NCSC for loan losses. Table 21 summarizes activity in the
allowance for loan losses including a disaggregation by company.

Table 21: Allowance for Loan Losses
As of and for the years ended May 31,

(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Beginning balance $54,325 $143,326 $161,177 $592,764 $622,960
Provision for loan losses 3,498 (70,091 ) (18,108 ) (83,010 ) (30,415 )
Net (charge-offs) recoveries (1,394 ) (18,910 ) 257 (348,577 ) 219
Ending balance $56,429 $54,325 $143,326 $161,177 $592,764
`
Allowance for loan losses by company:
  CFC $45,600 $41,246 $126,941 $143,706 $177,655
  RTFC 4,282 9,158 8,562 8,389 406,214
  NCSC 6,547 3,921 7,823 9,082 8,895
Total $56,429 $54,325 $143,326 $161,177 $592,764

As a percentage of total loans outstanding 0.28 % 0.27 % 0.76 % 0.84 % 3.07 %
As a percentage of total nonperforming loans
outstanding 2,693.51 350.55 347.77 514.22 105.75

As a percentage of total restructured loans
outstanding 744.05 115.70 31.45 33.98 116.68

As a percentage of total loans on non-accrual 583.00 235.37 347.77 34.64 57.95

Our allowance for loan losses increased by $2 million during the year ended May 31, 2014, due to an increase in the
allowance held for general loans of $2 million and an increase in the qualitative component of the general reserve of
$3 million, partially offset by a decrease in the the allowance held for impaired loans of $2 million and net charge-offs
of $1 million, due primarily to the sale of one of our impaired loans during the year ended May 31, 2014.

Our allowance for loan losses decreased by $89 million during the year ended May 31, 2013 due to a decrease to the
allowance held for general loans of $56 million, a decrease in the qualitative component of the general reserve of $11
million, the decrease to the allowance held for impaired loans of $3 million and a $19 million write-off for one of our
borrowers that was moved from nonperforming loans to restructured loans during the year ended May 31, 2013. The
decrease in the allowance held for general loans is due to refinements in assumptions used to estimate our allowance
for loan losses. See "Results of Operations—Provision for Loan Losses" and "Note 3—Loans and Commitments" for
additional information.

On a quarterly basis, we review all nonperforming and restructured borrowers, as well as certain additional borrowers
selected based on known facts and circumstances, to determine if the loans to the borrowers are impaired and/or to
determine if there are changes to a previously impaired loan. We calculate a borrower’s impairment based on the
expected future cash flows or the fair value of the collateral securing our loans to the borrower if cash flow cannot be
estimated. As events related to the borrower take place and economic conditions and our assumptions change, the
impairment calculations will change. At May 31, 2014 and 2013, there was a total specific allowance for loan losses
balance of $0.4 million and $3 million, respectively, related to impaired loans totaling $10 million and $62 million,
respectively.

LIQUIDITY RISK
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We face liquidity risk in funding our loan portfolio and refinancing our maturing obligations. Our Asset Liability
Committee is responsible for monitoring our management of risks related to liquidity, interest rates, and counterparty
credit and to ensure consistent access to funding that is in alignment with our strategic goals. The committee’s mandate
is to review CFC’s liquidity, as well as the relationship of interest rates and tenor of our assets to our liabilities and, as
a result, our spread between interest income and interest expense. Functional responsibilities of this committee include
reviewing and approving funding options and investment opportunities and reviewing trends in funding alternatives
and risk exposure. Performance results and budget deviations also are reviewed. If necessary, the organization’s
asset-liability strategy is reviewed for modification to react to the current market environment. Our Asset Liability
Committee monitors liquidity risk by establishing and monitoring liquidity
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targets, as well as strategies and tactics to meet those targets, and ensuring that sufficient liquidity is available for
unanticipated contingencies.

We face liquidity risk in the funding of our loan portfolio based on member demand for new loans, although as
presented in Table 23, our projected sources and uses of liquidity chart, we expect over the next six quarters that
advances on our long-term loans will exceed long-term loan repayments by an estimated $522 million. We offer
long-term loans to our members with maturities of up to 35 years, and the weighted average maturity for our loan
portfolio is currently about 16 years. We typically do not match fund individual loans with a debt instrument of
similar final maturity. Debt instruments such as membership subordinated certificates and loan and guarantee
subordinated certificates have maturities that vary from the term of the associated loan or guarantee to 100 years;
member capital securities have maturities of 30 or 35 years; and subordinated deferrable debt has been issued with
maturities of up to 30 years. Collateral trust bonds and medium-term notes have typically been issued with maturities
of two, three, five, seven and 10 years.

At May 31, 2014, we had $3,887 million of commercial paper, select notes, daily liquidity fund notes and bank bid
notes scheduled to mature during the next 12 months. We expect to continue to maintain member investments in
commercial paper, select notes and the daily liquidity fund notes at recent levels of approximately $1,869 million.
Dealer commercial paper and bank bid notes decreased from $2,160 million at May 31, 2013 to $1,994 million at
May 31, 2014. We expect that the dealer commercial paper balance will fluctuate to offset changes in demand from
our members. We intend to maintain the current level of commercial paper outstanding while favorable market
conditions exist. We intend to limit the balance of dealer commercial paper and bank bid notes outstanding to 15% or
less of total debt outstanding. At May 31, 2014, 15% of total debt outstanding was $3,094 million. In order to access
the commercial paper markets at current levels, we believe we need to maintain our current ratings for commercial
paper of P1 from Moody’s Investors Service and A1 from Standard & Poor’s Corporation.

We use our bank lines of credit primarily as backup liquidity for dealer and member commercial paper. At May 31,
2014, we had $3,224 million in available lines of credit with financial institutions. We expect to be in compliance with
the covenants under our revolving credit agreements; therefore, we could draw on these facilities to repay dealer or
member commercial paper that cannot be rolled over in the event of market disruptions.

At May 31, 2014, we had long-term debt maturing in the next 12 months totaling $1,512 million. In addition to our
access to the dealer and member commercial paper markets as discussed above, we believe we will be able to
refinance these maturing obligations because:

•
Based on our funding sources available and past history, we believe we will meet our obligation to refinance the
remaining $378 million of medium-term notes sold through dealers and $383 million of medium-term notes sold to
members that mature over the next 12 months with new medium-term notes including those in the retail notes market.

•We expect to maintain the ability to obtain funding through the capital markets. During the year ended May 31, 2014
we issued $1,264 million of medium-term notes and $1,618 million of collateral trust bonds.

•

We had up to $2,232 million available under a note purchase agreement with the Federal Agricultural Mortgage
Corporation at May 31, 2014. We can borrow up to $3,900 million under this revolving note purchase agreement at
any time through January 11, 2016, subject to market conditions for debt issued by the Federal Agricultural Mortgage
Corporation. During the year ended May 31, 2014, we issued notes totaling $151 million under this agreement.

•

We had up to $624 million available under committed loan facilities from the Federal Financing Bank at May 31,
2014. A total of $124 million is available for advance through October 15, 2015 and a total of $500 million is
available for advance through October 15, 2016. During the year ended May 31, 2014, we borrowed $625 million
under our committed loan facilities with the Federal Financing Bank.
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As discussed in further detail under "Off-Balance Sheet Obligations," at May 31, 2014, we were the liquidity provider
for a total of $570 million of variable-rate tax-exempt bonds issued for our member cooperatives. During the year
ended May 31, 2014, we were not required to perform as liquidity provider pursuant to these obligations.

At May 31, 2014, we had a total of $431 million of letters of credit outstanding for the benefit of our members. That
total includes $125 million for the purpose of providing liquidity for pollution control bonds. The remaining $306
million represents obligations for which we may be required to advance funds based on various trigger events
included in the letters of credit. If we are required to advance funds, the member is obligated to pay such amounts to
CFC.

We expect that our current sources of liquidity, along with our $339 million of cash on hand, $55 million of
investments and $550 million of time deposits at May 31, 2014, will allow us to meet our obligations and to fund our
operations over the next 12 to 18 months.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources Profile

The following section discusses our expected sources and uses of liquidity. At May 31, 2014, we expect that our
current sources of liquidity will allow us to issue the debt required to fund our operations over the next 12 to 18
months.

Contractual Obligations

In the normal course of business, we enter into various contractual obligations that may require future cash payments
that affect our short- and long-term liquidity and capital resource needs. Table 22 summarizes, by remaining
contractual maturity, our significant contractual cash obligations based on the undiscounted future cash payments as
of May 31, 2014. The actual timing and amounts of future cash payments may differ from the amounts presented
below due to a number of factors, such as discretionary debt repurchases. Table 22 excludes certain obligations where
the obligation is subject to valuation based on market factors, such as derivatives. Contractual obligations related to
entities included in foreclosed assets are also excluded from the table.

Table 22: Contractual Obligations
(Dollars in millions) 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter Total
Short-term debt $3,887 $— $— $— $— $— $3,887
Long-term debt due in less than one year 1,512 — — — — — $1,512
Long-term debt 170 1,494 1,445 766 1,808 7,621 13,304
Subordinated deferrable debt — — — — — 400 400
Members’ subordinated certificates(1) 61 21 15 11 19 1,267 1,394
Contractual interest on long-term debt(2) 579 552 527 475 383 4,727 7,243
Total contractual obligations $6,209 $2,067 $1,987 $1,252 $2,210 $14,015 $27,740
(1) Excludes loan subordinated certificates totaling $127 million that amortize annually based on the outstanding
balance of the related loan and $1 million in payments not received on certificates subscribed and unissued. There are
many items that affect the amortization of a loan, such as loan conversions, loan repricing at the end of an interest rate
term and prepayments; therefore, an amortization schedule cannot be maintained for these certificates. Over the past
fiscal year, annual amortization on these certificates was $13 million. In fiscal year 2014, amortization represented
10% of amortizing loan subordinated certificates outstanding.
(2) Represents the interest obligation on our long-term debt based on terms and conditions at May 31, 2014.

Projected Near-Term Sources and Uses of Liquidity

Table 23 shows the projected sources and uses of cash by quarter through November 30, 2015. In analyzing our
projected liquidity position, we track key items identified in the table below. The long-term debt maturities represent
the scheduled maturities of our outstanding term debt for the period presented. The long-term loan advances represent
our current best estimate of the member demand for our loans, the amount and the timing of which are subject to
change. The long-term loan amortization and repayments represent the scheduled long-term loan amortization for the
outstanding loans at May 31, 2014, as well as our current estimate for the repayment of long-term loans. The estimate
of the amount and timing of long-term loan repayments is subject to change. We assumed the issuance of commercial
paper, medium-term notes and other long-term debt, including collateral trust bonds and private placement of term
debt, to maintain matched funding within our loan portfolio and to allow our revolving lines of credit to provide
backup liquidity for our outstanding commercial paper. Commercial paper repayments in the table below do not
represent scheduled maturities but rather the assumed use of excess cash to pay down the commercial paper balance.
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Table 23: Projected Sources and Uses of Liquidity
Projected Sources of Liquidity Projected Uses of Liquidity

(Dollars in
millions)

Long-term
Loan
Amortization
and
Repayment

Debt
Issuance-Commercial
Paper

Debt
Issuance-Long-term
Debt

Total
Sources
of
Liquidity

Long-term
Debt
Maturities

Debt
Repayment-Commercial
Paper

Long-term
 Loan
Advances

Total
Uses of
Liquidity

Cumulative
Excess
Sources over
Uses of
Liquidity
(1)

4Q14 $944
1Q15 $347 $ 150 $ 400 $ 897 $436 $ — $ 514 $950 891
2Q15 293 250 400 943 164 100 717 981 853
3Q15 461 300 500 1,261 557 125 574 1,256 858
4Q15 275 250 300 825 415 200 211 826 857
1Q16 290 150 150 590 61 300 233 594 853
2Q16 293 450 300 1,043 692 100 232 1,024 872
Totals $1,959 $ 1,550 $ 2,050 $ 5,559 $2,325 $ 825 $ 2,481 $5,631
(1) Cumulative excess sources over uses of liquidity includes cash and investments.

The chart above represents our best estimate of the funding requirements and how we expect to manage such funding
requirements through November 30, 2015. Our estimates assume that the balance of our time deposit investments will
remain consistent with current levels over the next six quarters. These estimates will change on a quarterly basis based
on the factors described above.

Sources of Liquidity

Capital Market Debt Issuance

As a well-known seasoned issuer, we have the following effective shelf registration statements on file with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") for the issuance of debt:
•unlimited amount of collateral trust bonds until September 2016;

•unlimited amount of medium-term notes, member capital securities and subordinated deferrable debt until November2014; and

•daily liquidity fund notes for a total of $20,000 million with a $3,000 million limitation on the aggregate principalamount outstanding at any time until April 2016.

While we register member capital securities and the daily liquidity fund with the SEC, these securities are not
available for sale to the general public. Medium-term notes are available for sale to both the general public and
members. During the year ended May 31, 2014, we issued $825 million of 1-year and 3-year floating-rate
medium-term notes in registered offerings.

Commercial paper issued through dealers and bank bid notes totaled $1,994 million and represented 10% of total debt
outstanding at May 31, 2014. We intend to maintain the balance of dealer commercial paper and bank bid notes at
15% or less of total debt outstanding during fiscal year 2015. Our bank lines of credit may be used for general
corporate purposes; however, we use them primarily as backup liquidity for dealer and member commercial paper.

In May 2014, we completed an exchange of $209 million of our outstanding 8% medium-term notes, Series C, due
2032 for $218 million of 4.023% collateral trust bonds due 2032 and $91 million of cash. During the year ended May
31, 2014, we issued a total of $1,618 million of collateral trust bonds.
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Private Debt Issuance

We have access to liquidity from private debt issuances through a note purchase agreement with the Federal
Agricultural Mortgage Corporation. At May 31, 2014 and 2013, we had secured notes payable of $1,668 million and
$1,542 million, respectively, outstanding to the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation under a note purchase
agreement totaling $3,900 million. Under the terms of our March 2011 note purchase agreement, we can borrow up to
$3,900 million at any time from the date of the agreement through January 11, 2016 and thereafter automatically
extend the agreement on each anniversary date of the closing for an additional year, unless prior to any such
anniversary date, the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation provides CFC with a notice that the draw period will
not be extended beyond the remaining term. The agreement with the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation is a
revolving credit facility that allows us to borrow, repay and re-borrow funds at
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any time through maturity or from time to time as market conditions permit. Each borrowing under a note purchase
agreement is evidenced by a secured note setting forth the interest rate, maturity date and other related terms as we
may negotiate with the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation at the time of each such borrowing. We may select
a fixed rate or variable rate at the time of each advance with a maturity as determined in the applicable pricing
agreement. On May 2, 2014 and May 23, 2014, we issued notes totaling $60 million and $91 million, respectively,
under the agreement with the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation. At May 31, 2014, we had up to $2,232
million available under this agreement, subject to market conditions for debt issued by the Federal Agricultural
Mortgage Corporation.

At May 31, 2014 and 2013, we had $4,299 million and $3,674 million, respectively, of unsecured notes payable
outstanding under bond purchase agreements with the Federal Financing Bank and a bond guarantee agreement with
RUS issued under the Guaranteed Underwriter Program, which supports the Rural Economic Development Loan and
Grant program and provides guarantees to the Federal Financing Bank. During the year ended May 31, 2014, we
borrowed $625 million under our committed loan facilities from the Federal Financing Bank as part of this program at
a weighted average interest rate of 2.85% with a repricing period ranging from 5 to 10 years and a final maturity of 20
years. On November 21, 2013, we closed a $500 million commitment from RUS to guarantee a loan from the Federal
Financing Bank as part of the Guaranteed Underwriter Program that is available for advance through October 15,
2016. Advances under this facility have a 20-year maturity repayment period. At May 31, 2014, we had up to $624
million available under committed loan facilities from the Federal Financing Bank as part of this program.

Member Loan Repayments

Table 24 summarizes scheduled repayments include the principal amortization of long-term loans in each of the five
fiscal years following May 31, 2014 and thereafter.

Table 24: Member Loan Repayments
(Dollars in thousands) Amortization (1)
2015 $1,157,972
2016 1,094,947
2017 1,126,260
2018 985,748
2019 934,428
Thereafter 13,832,083
Total $19,131,438
(1) Represents scheduled amortization based on current rates without consideration for loans that reprice.

Member Loan Interest Payments

During the year ended May 31, 2014, interest income on the loan portfolio was $939 million, representing an average
rate of 4.60% compared with 4.86% and 5.09% for the years ended May 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. For the past
three fiscal years, interest income on the loan portfolio has averaged $944 million. At May 31, 2014, 90% of the total
loans outstanding had a fixed rate of interest, and 10% of loans outstanding had a variable rate of interest.

Bank Revolving Credit Agreements

At May 31, 2014 and 2013, we had $3,226 million and $3,100 million, respectively, of commitments under revolving
credit agreements. We may request letters of credit for up to $100 million under each agreement in place at May 31,
2014, which then reduces the amount available under the facility. Our bank lines of credit may be used for general
corporate purposes; however, we use them primarily as backup liquidity for dealer and member commercial paper.
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Table 25 presents the total available and the outstanding letters of credit under our revolving credit agreements.
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Table 25: Revolving Credit Agreements

Total Available Letters of Credit
Outstanding

(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2014 2013 Maturity Annual Facility
Fee (1)

Three-year agreement $— $219,000 $— $— March 21, 2014 15 basis points

Three-year agreement 1,036,000 916,000 — — October 28,
2016 10 basis points

Four-year agreement 1,122,500 1,007,500 — — October 28,
2017 10 basis points

Five-year agreement 1,065,609 954,012 1,891 3,488 October 28,
2018 10 basis points

Total $3,224,109 $3,096,512 $1,891 $3,488
(1) Facility fee determined by CFC’s senior unsecured credit ratings based on the pricing schedules put in place at the
inception of the related agreement.

During the year ended May 31, 2014, we amended our three-year, four-year, and five-year revolving credit
agreements to extend the maturity dates by one year each to October 28, 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively. In
addition, we exercised our option to increase the commitment level for the three-year, four-year, and five-year
revolving credit agreements by $120 million, $115 million and $110 million, respectively, to $1,036 million, $1,122
million, and $1,068 million, respectively.

The facility fee and applicable margin under each agreement are determined by the pricing matrices in the agreements
based on our senior unsecured credit ratings. With respect to the borrowings, we have the right to choose between a (i)
Eurodollar rate plus an applicable margin or (ii) base rate calculated based on the greater of prime rate, the federal
funds effective rate plus 0.50% or the one-month LIBOR rate plus 1%, plus an applicable margin. Our ability to
borrow or obtain a letter of credit under all of the agreements is not conditioned on the absence of material adverse
changes with regard to CFC. We also have the right, subject to certain terms and conditions, to increase the aggregate
amount of the commitments under (i) the three-year credit facility to a maximum of $1,500 million, (ii) the four-year
credit facility to a maximum of $1,300 million and (iii) the five-year credit facility to a maximum of $1,300 million.

The revolving credit agreements do not contain a material adverse change clause or ratings triggers that limit the
banks’ obligations to fund under the terms of the agreements, but we must be in compliance with their other
requirements to draw down on the facilities, including financial ratios. For further discussion, see "Liquidity
Risk—Liquidity and Capital Resources Profile—Compliance with Debt Covenants."

Member Investments

Table 26 shows the components of our member investments included in total debt outstanding at May 31, 2014 and
2013.
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Table 26: Member Investments
2014 2013 Increase/

(Decrease)(Dollars in thousands) Amount % of Total (1) Amount % of Total (1)
Commercial paper $838,074 30 % $812,141 28 % $25,933
Select notes 544,510 99 353,190 99 $191,320
Daily liquidity fund notes 486,501 100 680,419 100 $(193,918)
Medium-term notes 498,262 18 574,108 19 $(75,846 )
Members’ subordinated certificates 1,612,228 100 1,766,402 100 $(154,174)
Total $3,979,575 $4,186,260 $(206,685)

Percentage of total debt outstanding 19 % 20 %
(1) Represents the percentage of each line item outstanding to our members.

Member investments averaged $4,107 million outstanding over the last three fiscal years. We view member
investments as a more stable source of funding than capital market issuances.

During the year ended May 31, 2013, CFC started offering Select Notes, a flexible short-term investment product.
Select Notes may be purchased only by our members and their affiliates. These notes are senior unsecured debt
securities with terms ranging from 30 days to 270 days that require a larger minimum investment than our commercial
paper sold to members and as a result, offer a higher interest rate than our commercial paper. While the commercial
paper investments are backed by CFC’s revolving lines of credit, the Select Notes are not.

Cash, Investments and Time Deposits

At May 31, 2014, cash, investments and time deposits totaled $944 million.The interest rate earned on the investments
and time deposits provides an overall benefit to our net interest yield. The total represents an additional source of
liquidity that is available to support our operations.

Cash Flows from Operations

For the year ended May 31, 2014, cash flows provided by operating activities were $190 million compared with $163
million for the prior year. Our cash flows from operating activities are driven primarily by a combination of cash
flows from operations and the timing and amount of loan interest payments we received compared with interest
payments we made on our debt.

Compliance with Debt Covenants

At May 31, 2014, we were in compliance with all covenants and conditions under our revolving credit agreements and
senior debt indentures.

For calculating the required financial covenants in our revolving credit agreements, we adjust net income, senior debt
and total equity to exclude the non-cash adjustments from the accounting for derivative financial instruments and
foreign currency translation. Additionally, the TIER and senior debt-to-total equity ratio include the following
adjustments:

•
The adjusted TIER, as defined by the agreements, represents the interest expense adjusted to include the derivative
cash settlements plus net income prior to the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle and dividing that
total by the interest expense adjusted to include the derivative cash settlements.
•The senior debt-to-total equity ratio includes adjustments to senior debt to exclude RUS-guaranteed loans,
subordinated deferrable debt and members’ subordinated certificates. Total equity is adjusted to include subordinated
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deferrable debt and members’ subordinated certificates. Senior debt includes guarantees; however, it excludes:

◦ guarantees for members where the long-term unsecured debt of the member is rated at least BBB+ by Standard
& Poor’s Corporation or Baa1 by Moody’s Investors Service; and

◦
the payment of principal and interest by the member on the guaranteed indebtedness if covered by insurance or
reinsurance provided by an insurer having an insurance financial strength rating of AAA by Standard & Poor’s
Corporation or a financial strength rating of Aaa by Moody’s Investors Service.

•The CAH results of operations and other comprehensive income are eliminated from the CFC financial results used tocalculate both the adjusted TIER ratio and the senior debt-to-total equity ratio.
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Table 27 represents our required and actual financial ratios under the revolving credit agreements at or for the years
ended May 31, 2014 and 2013.

Table 27: Financial Ratios under Revolving Credit Agreements
Actual

Requirement 2014 2013

Minimum average adjusted TIER over the six most recent fiscal quarters
(1) 1.025 1.28 1.27

Minimum adjusted TIER for the most recent fiscal year (1) (2) 1.05 1.23 1.29

Maximum ratio of adjusted senior debt-to-total equity (1) 10.00 5.79 5.85
(1) In addition to the adjustments made to the leverage ratio set forth under "Non-GAAP Financial Measures", senior
debt excludes guarantees to member systems that have certain investment-grade ratings from Moody’s Investors
Service and Standard & Poor’s Corporation. The TIER and debt-to-equity calculations include the adjustments set
forth under "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" and exclude the results of operations and other comprehensive income
for CAH.
(2) We must meet this requirement to retire patronage capital.

The revolving credit agreements prohibit liens on loans to members except liens:
•under our indentures,
•related to taxes that are not delinquent or contested,
•stemming from certain legal proceedings that are being contested in good faith,

•created by CFC to secure guarantees by CFC of indebtedness the interest on which is excludable from the grossincome of the recipient for federal income tax purposes,
•granted by any subsidiary to CFC, and

•

to secure other indebtedness of CFC of up to $7,500 million plus an amount equal to the incremental increase in CFC’s
allocated Guaranteed Underwriter Program obligations, provided that the aggregate amount of such indebtedness may
not exceed $10,000 million. As of May 31, 2014, the amount of our secured indebtedness for purposes of this
provision of all three revolving credit agreements was $5,985 million.

The revolving credit agreements limit total investments in foreclosed assets held by CAH to $275 million without
consent by the required banks. These investments at May 31, 2014 did not exceed this limit.

Table 28 summarizes our required and actual financial ratios as defined under our 1994 collateral trust bonds
indenture and our medium-term notes indentures in the United States markets at May 31, 2014 and 2013.

Table 28: Financial Ratios under Indentures 
Actual

Requirement 2014 2013
Maximum ratio of adjusted senior debt to total equity (1) 20.00 6.74 6.72
(1) The ratio calculation includes the adjustments made to the leverage ratio under "Non-GAAP Financial Measures,"
with the exception of the adjustments to exclude the non-cash impact of derivative financial instruments and
adjustments from total liabilities and total equity.

We are required to pledge collateral equal to at least 100% of the outstanding balance of debt issued under our
collateral trust bond indentures and note purchase agreements with the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation. In
addition, we are required to maintain collateral on deposit equal to at least 100% of the outstanding balance of debt to

Edgar Filing: NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORP /DC/ - Form 10-K

117



the Federal Financing Bank under the Guaranteed Underwriter Program of the USDA, which supports the Rural
Economic Development Loan and Grant program, for which distribution and power supply loans may be deposited.
See "Note 3—Loans and Commitments—Pledging of Loans and Loans on Deposit" for additional information related to
collateral.

Although not required, we typically maintain pledged collateral and collateral on deposit in excess of the required
100% of the outstanding balance of debt issued. However, our revolving credit agreements limit pledged collateral to
150% of the outstanding balance of debt issued. The excess collateral ensures that required collateral levels are
maintained and, when an opportunity exists, facilitates timely execution of debt issuances by reducing or eliminating
the lead time required to pledge collateral. Collateral levels fluctuate because:

•distribution and power supply loans typically amortize, while the debt issued under secured indentures andagreements typically has bullet maturities;
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•individual loans may become ineligible for various reasons, some of which may be temporary; and
•distribution and power supply borrowers have the ability to prepay their loans.

We may request the return of collateral pledged or held on deposit in excess of the 100% of the principal balance
requirement or may move the collateral from one program to another to facilitate a new debt issuance, provided that
all conditions of eligibility under the different programs are satisfied.

The $4,299 million and $3,674 million, respectively, of notes payable to the Federal Financing Bank at May 31, 2014
and 2013 contain a rating trigger related to our senior secured credit ratings from Standard & Poor’s Corporation and
Moody’s Investors Service. A rating trigger event occurs if our senior secured debt does not have at least two of the
following ratings: (i) A- or higher from Standard & Poor’s Corporation, (ii) A3 or higher from Moody’s Investors
Service and (iii) an equivalent rating from a successor rating agency to any of the above rating agencies. If our senior
secured credit ratings fall below the levels listed above, the mortgage notes on deposit at that time, which totaled
$5,076 million at May 31, 2014, would be pledged as collateral rather than held on deposit. Also, if during any portion
of a fiscal year, our senior secured credit ratings fall below the levels listed above, we may not make cash patronage
capital distributions in excess of 5% of total patronage capital. At May 31, 2014, our senior secured debt ratings from
Standard & Poor’s Corporation and Moody’s Investors Service were A+ and A1 respectively. At May 31, 2014, both
Standard & Poor’s Corporation and Moody’s Investors Service had our ratings on stable outlook.

A total of $4,299 million and $3,674 million of these notes payable to the Federal Financing Bank at May 31, 2014
and 2013, respectively, have a second trigger requiring that a director on the CFC Board of Directors satisfies the
requirements of a financial expert as defined by Section 407 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. A financial expert
triggering event will occur if the financial expert position remains vacant for more than 90 consecutive days. If CFC
does not satisfy the financial expert requirement, the mortgage notes on deposit at that time, which totaled $5,076
million at May 31, 2014, would be pledged as collateral rather than held on deposit. The financial expert position on
the CFC Board of Directors has been filled since March 2007.

Table 29 summarizes the amount of notes pledged or on deposit as collateral as a percentage of the related debt
outstanding under the debt agreements noted above at May 31, 2014 and 2013.

Table 29: Collateral Pledged or on Deposit
Requirement Actual

Debt Agreement Debt Indenture
Minimum

Revolving Credit
Agreements
Maximum

2014 2013

Collateral trust bonds 1994 indenture 100 % 150 % 117 % 112 %
Collateral trust bonds 2007 indenture 100 150 114 125
Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation 100 150 114 116
Clean Renewable Energy Bonds Series 2009A 100 150 117 118
Federal Financing Bank Series (1) (2) 100 150 118 106
(1)Represents collateral on deposit as a percentage of the related debt outstanding.
(2)All pledge agreements previously entered into with RUS and U.S. Bank National Association were consolidated
into one amended, restated and consolidated pledge agreement in December 2012.

Uses of Liquidity

Loan Advances
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Loan advances are either from new loans approved to a borrower or from the unadvanced portion of loans previously
approved. At May 31, 2014, unadvanced loan commitments totaled $13,912 million. Of that total, $2,274 million
represented unadvanced commitments related to line of credit loans that are not subject to a material adverse change
clause at the time of each loan advance. As such, we would be required to advance amounts on these committed
facilities as long as the borrower is in compliance with the terms and conditions of the loan. New advances under 34%
of these committed line of credit loans would be advanced at rates determined by CFC based on our cost and,
therefore, any increase in CFC’s costs to obtain funding required to make the advance could be passed on to the
borrower. The other 66% of committed line of credit loans represent loan syndications where the pricing is set at a
spread over a market index as agreed upon by all of the participating banks and
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market conditions at the time of syndication. The remaining $11,638 million of unadvanced loan commitments at May
31, 2014 were generally subject to material adverse change clauses. Prior to making an advance on these facilities, we
would confirm that there has been no material adverse change in the borrower's business or condition, financial or
otherwise, since the time the loan was approved and confirm that the borrower is currently in compliance with loan
terms and conditions. In some cases, the borrower’s access to the full amount of the facility is further constrained by
the imposition of borrower-specific restrictions, or by additional conditions that must be met prior to advancing funds.

Since we generally do not charge a fee for the borrower to have an unadvanced amount on a loan facility that is
subject to a material adverse change clause, our borrowers tend to request amounts in excess of their immediate
estimated loan requirements. It has been our history that we do not see significant loan advances from the large
amount of long-term unadvanced loan amounts that are subject to material adverse change clauses at the time of the
loan advance. We have a very low historical average utilization rate on all our line of credit facilities, including
committed line of credit facilities. Unadvanced commitments related to line of credit loans are typically revolving
facilities for periods not to exceed five years. Long-term unadvanced commitments generally expire five years from
the date of the loan agreement. These reasons, together with the other limitations on advances as described above, all
contribute to our expectation that the majority of the unadvanced commitments reported will expire without being
fully drawn upon and that the total commitment amount does not necessarily represent future cash funding
requirements at May 31, 2014.

We currently expect to make long-term loan advances totaling approximately $2,016 million to our members over the
next 12 months.

Interest Expense on Debt

For the year ended May 31, 2014, interest expense on debt was $638 million, representing an average cost of 3.11%
compared with 3.48% and 4.05% for the years ended May 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. For the past three fiscal
years, interest expense on debt has averaged $685 million. At May 31, 2014, 79% of outstanding debt had a fixed
interest rate and 21% had a variable interest rate.

Principal Repayments on Long-Term Debt

Table 30 summarizes the principal amount of long-term debt, subordinated deferrable debt and members' subordinated
certificates maturing by fiscal year and thereafter.

Table 30: Principal Maturity of Long-term Debt

(Dollars in thousands) Amount
Maturing (1)

Weighted-Average
Interest Rate

May 31, 2015 $1,743,142 1.77 %
May 31, 2016 1,514,974 2.28
May 31, 2017 1,460,440 2.70
May 31, 2018 777,260 5.14
May 31, 2019 1,826,377 6.92
Thereafter 9,288,103 3.46
Total $16,610,296 3.56
(1)Excludes loan subordinated certificates totaling $127 million that amortize annually based on the outstanding
balance of the related loan and $1 million in payments not received on certificates subscribed and unissued. There are
many items that affect the amortization of a loan, such as loan conversions, loan repricing at the end of an interest rate
term and prepayments; therefore, an amortization schedule cannot be maintained for these certificates. Over the past
fiscal year, annual amortization on these certificates was $13 million. In fiscal year 2014, amortization represented
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10% of amortizing loan subordinated certificates outstanding.

Patronage Capital Retirements

CFC has made annual retirements of allocated net earnings in 34 of the last 35 fiscal years. In July 2013, the CFC
Board of Directors approved the allocation of $81 million from fiscal year 2013 net earnings to CFC’s members. CFC
made a cash payment of $41 million to its members in October 2013 as retirement of 50% of allocated net earnings
from the prior year as approved by the CFC Board of Directors. The remaining portion of allocated net earnings will
be retained by CFC for 25 years under guidelines adopted by the CFC Board of Directors in June 2009. In July 2014,
the CFC Board of Directors approved the allocation of $79 million from fiscal year 2014 net earnings to CFC’s
members. CFC will make a cash payment of $40 million 
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to its members in the second quarter of fiscal year 2015 as retirement of 50% of allocated net earnings from the prior
year as approved by the CFC Board of Directors. The remaining portion of allocated net earnings will be retained by
CFC for 25 years under guidelines adopted by the CFC Board of Directors in June 2009. The board of directors has
the authority to change the current practice for allocating and retiring net earnings at any time, subject to applicable
laws and regulation.

MARKET RISK

Our primary market risks are interest rate risk and counterparty risk as a result of entering into derivative financial
instruments.

Interest Rate Risk

Our interest rate risk exposure is related to the funding of the fixed-rate loan portfolio. The Asset Liability Committee
reviews a complete interest rate risk analysis, reviews proposed modifications, if any, to our interest rate risk
management strategy and considers adopting strategy changes. Our Asset Liability Committee monitors interest rate
risk by meeting at least monthly to review the following information: national economic forecasts, forecasts for the
federal funds rate and the interest rates that we set, interest rate gap analysis, liquidity position, schedules of loan and
debt maturities, short-term and long-term funding needs, anticipated loan demands, credit concentration status,
derivatives portfolio and financial forecast. The Asset Liability Committee also discusses the composition of
fixed-rate versus variable-rate lending, new funding opportunities, changes to the nature and mix of assets and
liabilities for structural mismatches, and interest rate swap transactions.

Matched Funding Practice

We provide our members with many options on loans with regard to interest rates, the term for which the selected
interest rate is in effect and the ability to convert or prepay the loan. Long-term loans have maturities of up to 35
years. Borrowers may select fixed interest rates for periods of one year through the life of the loan. We do not match
fund the majority of our fixed-rate loans with a specific debt issuance at the time the loans are advanced. To monitor
and mitigate interest rate risk in the funding of fixed-rate loans, we perform a monthly interest rate gap analysis, a
comparison of fixed-rate assets repricing or maturing by year to fixed-rate liabilities and members’ equity maturing by
year (see table 31 below). Fixed-rate liabilities include debt issued at a fixed rate as well as variable-rate debt swapped
to a fixed rate using interest rate swaps. Fixed-rate debt swapped to a variable rate using interest rate swaps is
excluded from the analysis since it is used to match fund the variable-rate loan pool. With the exception of members’
subordinated certificates, which are generally issued at rates below our long-term cost of funding and with extended
maturities, and commercial paper, our liabilities have average maturities that closely match the repricing terms (but
not the maturities) of our fixed-interest-rate loans.

We fund the amount of fixed-rate assets that exceed fixed-rate debt and members’ equity with short-term debt,
primarily commercial paper. We also have the option to enter pay fixed-receive variable interest rate swaps. Our
funding objective is to manage the matched funding of asset and liability repricing terms within a range of total assets
(excluding derivative assets) deemed appropriate by the Asset Liability Committee based on the current environment
and extended outlook for interest rates. Due to the flexibility we offer our borrowers, there is a possibility of
significant changes in the composition of the fixed-rate loan portfolio, and the management of the interest rate gap is
very fluid. We may use interest rate swaps to adjust the interest rate gap based on our needs for fixed-rate or
variable-rate funding as changes arise. The interest rate risk is deemed minimal on variable-rate loans since the loans
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are eligible to be repriced at least monthly, therefore minimizing the variance to the cost of variable-rate debt used to
fund the loans. At May 31, 2014 and 2013, 10% and 11%, respectively, of loans carried variable interest rates.

Our interest rate gap analysis also allows us to analyze the effect on the overall adjusted TIER of issuing a certain
amount of debt at a fixed rate for various maturities before the issuance of the debt. See "Non-GAAP Financial
Measures" for further explanation and a reconciliation of the adjustments to TIER.

Table 31 shows the scheduled amortization and repricing of fixed-rate assets and liabilities outstanding at May 31,
2014.
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Table 31: Interest Rate Gap Analysis

(Dollars in millions)

May 31,
2015
or
prior

June 1,
2015 to
May 31,
2017

June 1,
2017 to
May 31,
2019

June 1,
2019 to
May 31,
2024

June 1,
2024 to
May 31,
2034

Beyond
June 1,
2034

Total

Assets amortization and repricing $2,312 $3,690 $2,826 $3,554 $4,463 $1,517 $18,362
Liabilities and members’ equity:
Long-term debt $1,062 $2,752 $3,432 $2,831 $3,379 $527 $13,983
Subordinated certificates 166 77 56 136 795 762 1,992
    Members’ equity (1) — — — — 919 228 1,147
Total liabilities and members’ equity $1,228 $2,829 $3,488 $2,967 $5,093 $1,517 $17,122
Gap (2) $1,084 $861 $(662 ) $587 $(630 ) $— $1,240
Cumulative gap 1,084 1,945 1,283 1,870 1,240 1,240
Cumulative gap as a % of total assets 4.88 % 8.75 % 5.77 % 8.41 % 5.58 % 5.58 %
Cumulative gap as a % of adjusted
total assets (3) 4.92 8.83 5.83 8.49 5.63 5.63

(1) Includes the portion of the allowance for loan losses and subordinated deferrable debt allocated to fund fixed-rate
assets and excludes non-cash adjustments from the accounting for derivative financial instruments.
(2) Assets less liabilities and members’ equity.
(3) Adjusted total assets represent total assets in the consolidated balance sheet less derivative assets.

At May 31, 2014, we had $18,362 million of fixed-rate assets amortizing or repricing, funded by $13,983 million of
fixed-rate liabilities maturing during the next 30 years and $3,139 million of members’ equity and members’
subordinated certificates, a portion of members' equity does not have a scheduled maturity. The difference of $1,240
million, or 5.58% of total assets and 5.63% of total assets excluding derivative assets, represents the fixed-rate assets
maturing during the next 30 years in excess of the fixed-rate debt and members’ equity. Our Asset Liability Committee
believes that the difference in the matched funding at May 31, 2014 as a percentage of total assets less derivative
assets is appropriate based on the extended outlook for interest rates and allows the flexibility to maximize funding
opportunities in the current low interest rate environment. Funding fixed-rate loans with short-term debt presents a
liquidity risk of being able to roll over the short-term debt until we issue term debt to fund the fixed-rate loans through
their repricing or maturity date. Factors that mitigate this risk include our maintenance of liquidity available at
May 31, 2014 through committed revolving credit agreements totaling $3,224 million, $624 million under committed
loan facilities from the Federal Financing Bank, and, subject to market conditions, up to $2,232 million under a
revolving note purchase agreement with the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We are an end user of derivative financial instruments and not a swap dealer. We use derivatives such as interest rate
swaps and treasury rate locks to mitigate interest rate risk. These derivatives are used when they provide a lower cost
of funding or minimize interest rate risk as part of our overall interest rate matching strategy. As an end user and not a
swap dealer, we have not entered into derivative financial instruments for investing, speculating or trading purposes in
the past and do not anticipate doing so in the future. At May 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no foreign currency
derivative instruments outstanding.

We are required to record all derivative instruments in the consolidated balance sheets as either an asset or liability
measured at fair value. Changes in the derivative instrument’s fair value are required to be recognized currently in
earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. Generally, our derivatives do not qualify for hedge
accounting. A large portion of our interest rate exchange agreements use a LIBOR index or the 30-day composite
commercial paper index as the receive leg, which has not been highly correlated enough to our own commercial paper
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rates to qualify for hedge accounting on a consistent basis. We believe that the LIBOR index or the 30-day composite
commercial paper index are the rates that most closely relate to the rates we pay on our own commercial paper, and,
therefore, we believe we are economically hedging our net interest income on loans with our interest rate exchange
agreements. At May 31, 2014 and 2013, we did not have any interest rate exchange agreements that were accounted
for using hedge accounting. Cash settlements that we pay and receive for derivative instruments that do not qualify for
hedge accounting are recorded in the derivative gains (losses) line in the consolidated statements of operations.

Table 32 provides the notional amount, average interest rates and maturities by fiscal year and thereafter for the
interest rate exchange agreements to which we were a party at May 31, 2014.
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Table 32: Interest Rate Exchange Agreements
Notional Amortization and Maturities

(Dollars in millions) Notional
AmountInstruments Fair Value 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter

Interest rate exchange agreements $(178) $8,447 $687 $682 $1,059 $695 $552 $4,772
Weighted-average pay rate 2.41 %
Weighted-average receive rate 1.48

At May 31, 2014, 63% of our interest rate swaps were pay fixed-receive variable and 37% were pay variable-receive
fixed. As a result, each 25 basis-point increase or decrease to the 30-day composite commercial paper index and the
one-month and three-month LIBOR rates would result in a $5 million decrease and a $4 million increase, respectively,
in our net cash settlements. There were no cross currency or cross-currency interest rate exchange agreements to
which we were a party at May 31, 2014 and 2013.

We provide additional information on our use of derivatives and exposure "Note 1—General Information and
Accounting Policies—Derivative Financial Instruments" and "Note 8—Derivative Financial Instruments."

Other Financial Instruments

Table 33 provides information about our financial instruments other than derivatives that are sensitive to changes in
interest rates. All of our financial instruments at May 31, 2014 were entered into or contracted for purposes other than
trading. For debt obligations, the table presents principal cash flows and related average interest rates by expected
maturity dates at May 31, 2014.

Table 33: Other Financial Instruments
Principal Amortization and Maturities

(Dollars in millions) Outstanding
Balance

Fair
Value

Remaining
YearsInstruments 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Assets:
Investments in time
deposits $550 $550 $550 $— $— $— $— $—

Investments in equity
securities $55 $55 $— $— $— $— $— $55

Long-term fixed-rate loans
(1) $18,352 $18,961 $1,070 $1,040 $1,070 $920 $874 $13,378

Average rate 5.01 % 4.62 % 4.65 % 4.43 % 4.73 % 4.80 % 5.15 %
Long-term variable-rate
loans (2) $770 $770 $88 $55 $55 $65 $60 $447

       Average rate 2.87 % — — — — — —
Line of credit loans $1,335 $1,335 $1,335 $— $— $— $— $—
       Average rate 2.40 % 2.40 % — — — — —
Nonperforming loans (3) $2 $2 $— $— $— $— $— $—
       Average rate (3) — % — — — — — —
Restructured loans (3) $8 $8 $— $— $— $— $1 $7
       Average rate (3) — % — — — — — —
Liabilities and equity:
Short-term debt (4) $5,399 $5,403 $5,399 $— $— $— $— $—
Average rate 0.51 % 0.51 % — — — — —
Long-term debt $13,304 $14,526 $170 $1,494 $1,445 $766 $1,808 $7,621
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Average rate 3.66 % 2.66 % 2.28 % 2.68 % 5.17 % 6.94 % 3.23 %
Subordinated deferrable
debt $400 $386 $— $— $— $— $— $400

Average rate 4.75 % — — — — — 4.75 %
Membership sub certificates
(5) $1,394 $1,394 $61 $21 $15 $11 $19 $1,267

Average rate 4.57 % 7.50 % 2.24 % 4.19 % 3.19 % 5.54 % 4.47 %
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(1) The principal amount of fixed-rate loans is the total of scheduled principal amortizations without consideration for
loans that reprice. Includes $185 million of loans guaranteed by RUS.
(2) Long-term variable-rate loans include $17 million of loans guaranteed by RUS.
(3) Because repayment schedule is uncertain for nonperforming loans, no amounts are included for future principal
cash flows. All nonperforming loans were on non-accrual status at May 31, 2014. Average rate on restructured loans
represents current accrual rate. Interest accrual rate cannot be estimated for future periods.
(4) Short-term debt includes commercial paper, select notes, daily liquidity fund notes, bank bid notes and long-term
debt due in one year or less.
(5) Carrying value and fair value exclude loan subordinated certificates totaling $127 million that amortize annually
based on the outstanding balance of the related loan; therefore, there is no scheduled amortization and $1 million in
payments not received on certificates subscribed and unissued. Over the past fiscal year, annual amortization on these
certificates was $13 million. In fiscal year 2014, amortization represented 10% of amortizing loan subordinated
certificates outstanding.

Counterparty Risk

We are exposed to counterparty risk related to the performance of the parties with which we entered into financial
transactions, primarily for derivative instruments and cash and time deposits that we have with various financial
institutions. To mitigate this
risk, we only enter into these transactions with financial institutions with investment-grade ratings. Our cash and time
deposits with financial institutions have an original maturity of less than one year. For our derivative instruments, at
May 31, 2014 and 2013, the highest percentage concentration of total notional exposure to any one counterparty was
21% and 20% of total derivative instruments, respectively. At the time counterparties are selected to participate in our
exchange agreements, the counterparty must be a participant in one of our revolving credit agreements. In addition,
the derivative instruments executed for each counterparty are based on key characteristics such as the following:
notional concentration, credit risk exposure, tenor, bid success rate, total credit commitment and credit ratings. At
May 31, 2014, our derivative instrument counterparties had credit ratings ranging from AA- to BBB+ as assigned by
Standard & Poor’s Corporation and Aa2 to Baa2 as assigned by Moody’s Investors Service. Based on the fair market
value of our derivative instruments at May 31, 2014, there were three counterparties that would be required to make a
payment to us totaling $48 million if all of our derivative instruments were terminated on that day. The largest amount
owed to us by a single counterparty was $35 million, or 71% of the total exposure to us, at May 31, 2014.

Rating Triggers

Some of our interest rate swaps have credit risk-related contingent features referred to as rating triggers. Rating
triggers are not separate financial instruments and do not meet the definitional elements for embedded derivatives.

At May 31, 2014, the following notional amounts of derivative instruments had rating triggers based on our senior
unsecured credit ratings from Moody’s Investors Service or Standard & Poor’s Corporation falling to a level specified
in the applicable agreements and are grouped into the categories below. In calculating the payments and collections
required upon termination, we netted the agreements for each counterparty, as allowed by the underlying master
agreements. At May 31, 2014, our senior unsecured credit ratings from Moody’s Investors Service and Standard &
Poor’s Corporation were A2 and A, respectively. At May 31, 2014, both Moody’s Investors Service and Standard &
Poor’s Corporation had our ratings on stable outlook.

Table 34: Rating Triggers for Derivatives

(Dollars in thousands) Notional
Amount

Our Required
Payment

Amount We
Would Collect

Net
Total

Mutual rating trigger if ratings:
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fall to Baa1/BBB+ (1) $— $— $— $—
fall below Baa1/BBB+ (1) 6,693,197 (173,269 ) 48,387 (124,882 )
Total $6,693,197 $(173,269 ) $48,387 $(124,882 )
(1) Stated senior unsecured credit ratings are for Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s Corporation,
respectively. Under these rating triggers, if the credit rating for either counterparty falls to the level specified in the
agreement, the other counterparty may, but is not obligated to, terminate the agreement. If either counterparty
terminates the agreement, a net payment may be due from one counterparty to the other based on the fair value,
excluding credit risk, of the underlying derivative instrument.

In addition to the rating triggers listed above, at May 31, 2014, we had a total notional amount of $450 million of
derivative instruments with one counterparty that would require the pledging of collateral totaling $10 million (the fair
value of such derivative instruments excluding credit risk) if our senior unsecured ratings from Moody’s Investors
Service were to fall below Baa2 or if our ratings from Standard & Poor’s Corporation were to fall below BBB. The
aggregate fair value, net of the credit risk valuation adjustment, of all interest rate swaps with rating triggers that were
in a net liability position at May 31, 2014 including credit risk was $181 million.
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At May 31, 2014, the credit rating for two counterparties was below the rating trigger level in the interest swap
contracts with these counterparties. As a result, we have the option to terminate all interest rate swaps with these
counterparties. At May 31, 2014, the interest rate swap contracts with these counterparties have a total notional
amount of $776 million. If we were to decide to terminate the interest rate swaps with these counterparties, the
contracts would be settled based on the fair value at the date of termination. At May 31, 2014, we estimate that we
would have to make a payment of approximately $19 million to settle the interest rate swaps with these counterparties.
Because we use our interest rate swaps as part of our matched funding strategy we generally do not terminate such
agreements early. At this time, we have not provided notice to either counterparty that we intend to terminate the
interest rate swaps. We will continue to evaluate the overall credit worthiness of these counterparties and to monitor
our overall matched funding position.

For additional information about the risks related to our business, see "Item 1A. Risk Factors."

OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is inherent in all business activities and the management of such risk is important to the achievement
of our objectives. Operational risk represents the risk of loss resulting from conducting our operations, including the
execution of unauthorized transactions by employees; errors relating to loan documentation, transaction processing
and technology; the inability to perfect liens on collateral; breaches of internal control and information systems; and
the risk of fraud by employees or persons outside the Company. This risk of loss also includes potential legal actions
that could arise as a result of operational deficiencies, noncompliance with covenants in our revolving credit
agreements and indentures, employee misconduct or adverse business decisions. In the event of a breakdown in the
internal control system, improper access to or operation of systems or improper employee actions, we could incur
financial loss. Operational/business risk may also include breaches of our technology and information systems
resulting from unauthorized access to confidential information or from internal or external threats, such as
cyber-attacks.

We maintain business policies and procedures, employee training, an internal control framework and a comprehensive
business continuity and disaster recovery plan that are intended to provide a sound operational environment. Our
business policies and controls have been designed to manage operational risk at appropriate levels given our financial
strength, the business environment and markets in which we operate, the nature of our businesses, and considering
factors such as competition and regulation. Our Corporate Compliance group monitors compliance with established
procedures that are designed to ensure adherence to generally accepted conduct, ethics and business practices defined
in our corporate policies. We provide employee compliance training programs, such as for our “Code of Conduct” and
those regarding information protection, suspicious activity reporting and operational risk. Our Internal Audit group
examines the design and operating effectiveness of our internal controls and operational and financial reporting
systems on an ongoing basis.

Our business continuity and disaster recovery plan establishes the basic principles and framework necessary to ensure
emergency response, resumption, restoration and permanent recovery of CFC’s operations and business activities
during a business interruption event. This plan includes a duplication of our production information systems at an
off-site facility coupled with an extensive business continuity and recovery process to leverage those remote systems.
Each of our departments are required to develop, exercise, test and maintain business resumption plans for the
resumption and recovery of business functions and processing resources to minimize disruption for our members and
other parties with whom we do business. We conduct disaster recovery exercises twice a year that include both the
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information technology group and business areas. The business resumption plans are based on a risk assessment that
considers potential losses due to unavailability of service versus the cost of resumption. These plans anticipate a
variety of probable scenarios ranging from local to regional crises.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

We make certain adjustments to financial measures in assessing our financial performance that are not in accordance
with GAAP. These non-GAAP adjustments fall primarily into two categories: (i) adjustments related to the calculation
of TIER and (ii) adjustments related to the calculation of the leverage and debt-to-equity ratios. These adjustments
reflect management’s perspective on our operations, and in several cases, adjustments used to measure covenant
compliance under our revolving credit agreements. Therefore, we believe these are useful financial measures for
investors. We refer to our non-GAAP financial measures as “adjusted” throughout this document.
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Adjustments to Net Income and the Calculation of TIER

Our primary performance measure is TIER. TIER is calculated by adding the interest expense to net income prior to
the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle and dividing that total by the interest expense. TIER is a
measure of our ability to cover interest expense requirements on our debt. We adjust the TIER calculation to add the
derivative cash settlements to the interest expense and to remove the derivative forward value and foreign currency
adjustments from total net income. Adding the cash settlements back to the interest expense also has a corresponding
effect on our adjusted net interest income. We make these adjustments to our TIER calculation for covenant
compliance on our revolving credit agreements.

We use derivatives to manage interest rate risk on our funding of the loan portfolio. The derivative cash settlements
represent the amount that we receive from or pay to our counterparties based on the interest rate indexes in our
derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting. We adjust the reported interest expense to include the derivative
cash settlements. We use the adjusted cost of funding to set interest rates on loans to our members and believe that the
interest expense adjusted to include derivative cash settlements represents our total cost of funding for the period. For
computing compliance with our revolving credit agreement covenants, we are required to adjust our interest expense
to include the derivative cash settlements. TIER calculated by adding the derivative cash settlements to the interest
expense reflects management’s perspective on our operations and, therefore, we believe that it represents a useful
financial measure for investors.

The derivative forward value and foreign currency adjustments do not represent our cash inflows or outflows during
the current period and, therefore, do not affect our current ability to cover our debt service obligations. The derivative
forward value included in the derivative gains (losses) line of the statement of operations represents a present value
estimate of the future cash inflows or outflows that will be recognized as net cash settlements for all periods through
the maturity of our derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting. We have not issued foreign-denominated debt
since 2007, and at May 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no foreign currency derivative instruments outstanding.

For making operating decisions, we subtract the derivative forward value and foreign currency adjustments from our
net income when calculating TIER and for other net income presentation purposes. The covenants in our revolving
credit agreements also exclude the effects of derivative forward value and foreign currency adjustments. In addition,
since the derivative forward value and foreign currency adjustments do not represent current period cash flows, we do
not allocate such funds to our members and, therefore, exclude the derivative forward value and foreign currency
adjustments from net income in calculating the amount of net income to be allocated to our members. TIER calculated
by excluding the derivative forward value and foreign currency adjustments from net income reflects management’s
perspective on our operations and, therefore, we believe that it represents a useful financial measure for investors.

Our total equity includes the non-cash impact of changes in derivative forward values and foreign currency
adjustments that are recorded in net income. In addition, the accumulated other comprehensive income component of
total equity includes the impact of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges as well as
the remaining transition adjustment recorded when we adopted the accounting guidance requiring that all derivatives
be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. In evaluating our leverage and debt-to-equity ratios discussed further
below, we make adjustments to equity similar to the adjustments made in calculating TIER. We exclude from total
equity the cumulative impact of changes in derivative forward values and foreign currency adjustments and amounts
included in accumulated other comprehensive income related to derivatives designated for cash flow hedge accounting
and the remaining derivative transition adjustment to derive non-GAAP adjusted equity.

Table 35 provides a reconciliation between interest expense and net interest income, and these financial measures
adjusted to include the impact of derivatives. Additionally, it provides a reconciliation of net income and this financial
measure adjusted to exclude the impact of derivatives and foreign currency adjustments for the years ended May 31,
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2014, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010.
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Table 35: Adjusted Financial Measures - Income Statement 
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Interest expense $(654,655 ) $(692,025 ) $(761,778 ) $(841,080 ) $(912,111 )
Derivative cash settlements (73,962 ) (56,461 ) (12,846 ) (6,848 ) (23,304 )
Adjusted interest expense $(728,617 ) $(748,486 ) $(774,624 ) $(847,928 ) $(935,415 )

Net interest income $302,885 $263,728 $199,183 $167,831 $131,524
Derivative cash settlements (73,962 ) (56,461 ) (12,846 ) (6,848 ) (23,304 )
Adjusted net interest income $228,923 $207,267 $186,337 $160,983 $108,220

Net income (loss) $192,926 $358,087 $(148,797 ) $151,215 $110,547
Derivative forward value (39,541 ) (141,304 ) 223,774 23,388 (2,696 )
Adjusted net income $153,385 $216,783 $74,977 $174,603 $107,851

Table 36 presents our TIER and adjusted TIER for the years ended May 31, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

Table 36: TIER and Adjusted TIER
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

TIER (1) (2) 1.29 1.52 — 1.18 1.12
Adjusted TIER (3) 1.21 1.29 1.10 1.21 1.12
(1) For the year ended May 31, 2012, we reported a net loss of $149 million; therefore, the TIER for this period results
in a value below 1.00.
(2) TIER using GAAP financial measures is calculated by dividing interest expense plus net income prior to
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle by interest expense.
(3) Adjusted TIER is calculated by dividing adjusted interest expense plus adjusted net income by adjusted interest
expense.

Adjustments to the Calculation of Leverage and Debt-to-Equity Ratios

Our adjusted leverage and debt-to-equity ratios include adjustments to:
•subtract debt used to fund loans that are guaranteed by RUS from total liabilities;

•subtract from total liabilities, and add to total equity, debt with equity characteristics issued to our members and in thecapital markets; and

•exclude the non-cash impact of derivative financial instruments and foreign currency adjustments from total liabilitiesand total equity.

For computing compliance with our revolving credit agreement covenants, we are required to make these adjustments
to our leverage ratio calculation. The revolving credit agreements prohibit us from incurring senior debt in an amount
in excess of 10 times the sum of equity, members’ subordinated certificates and subordinated deferrable debt, as
defined by the agreements. In addition to the adjustments we make to calculate the adjusted leverage ratio, guarantees
to our member systems that have an investment-grade rating from Moody’s Investors Service and Standard & Poor’s
Corporation are excluded from the calculation of the leverage ratio under the terms of the revolving credit agreements.

We are an eligible lender under the RUS loan guarantee program. Loans issued under this program carry the U.S.
government’s guarantee of all interest and principal payments. We have little or no risk associated with the collection
of principal and interest payments on these loans. Therefore, we believe there is little or no risk related to the
repayment of the liabilities used to fund RUS-guaranteed loans and we subtract such liabilities from total liabilities to
calculate our leverage and debt-to-equity ratios. For computing compliance with our revolving credit agreement
covenants, we are required to adjust our leverage ratio by subtracting liabilities used to fund RUS-guaranteed loans
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from total liabilities. The leverage and debt-to-equity ratios adjusted to subtract debt used to fund RUS-guaranteed
loans from total liabilities reflect management’s perspective on our operations and, therefore, we believe that these are
useful financial measures for investors.

Members may be required to purchase subordinated certificates as a condition of membership and as a condition to
obtaining a loan or guarantee. The subordinated certificates are accounted for as debt under GAAP. The subordinated
certificates have long-dated maturities and pay no interest or pay interest that is below market, and under certain
conditions we are prohibited
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from making interest payments to members on the subordinated certificates. For computing compliance with our
revolving credit agreement covenants, we are required to adjust our leverage ratio by subtracting members’
subordinated certificates from total liabilities and adding members’ subordinated certificates to total equity. The
leverage and debt-to-equity ratios adjusted to treat members’ subordinated certificates as equity rather than debt reflect
management’s perspective on our operations and, therefore, we believe these are useful financial measures for
investors.

We also sell subordinated deferrable debt in the capital markets with maturities of up to 30 years and the option to
defer interest payments. The characteristics of subordination, deferrable interest and long-dated maturity are all equity
characteristics. For computing compliance with our revolving credit agreement covenants, we are required to adjust
our leverage ratio by subtracting subordinated deferrable debt from total liabilities and adding it to total equity. The
leverage and debt-to-equity ratios adjusted to treat subordinated deferrable debt as equity rather than debt reflect
management’s perspective on our operations and, therefore, we believe these are useful financial measures for
investors.

We record derivative instruments at fair value on our consolidated balance sheets. For computing compliance with our
revolving credit agreement covenants, we are required to adjust our leverage ratio by excluding the non-cash impact of
our derivative accounting from liabilities and equity. The leverage and debt-to-equity ratios adjusted to exclude the
impact of our derivative accounting from liabilities and equity reflect management’s perspective on our operations and,
therefore, we believe these are useful financial measures for investors. For computing compliance with our revolving
credit agreement covenants, we are also required to adjust our leverage ratio by excluding the impact of foreign
currency valuation adjustments from liabilities and equity. The leverage and debt-to-equity ratios adjusted to exclude
the effect of foreign currency translation reflect management’s perspective on our operations and, therefore, we believe
these are useful financial measures for investors.

Table 37 reconciles the liabilities and equity on the consolidated balance sheets to the amounts used to calculate the
adjusted leverage and debt-to-equity ratios as of the years ended May 31, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

Table 37: Adjusted Financial Measures - Balance Sheet 
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Liabilities $21,262,369 $21,260,390 $19,460,580 $19,874,313 $19,556,448
Less:
Derivative liabilities (388,208 ) (475,278 ) (654,125 ) (477,433 ) (482,825 )
Debt used to fund loans guaranteed by RUS (201,863 ) (210,815 ) (219,084 ) (226,695 ) (237,356 )
Subordinated deferrable debt (400,000 ) (400,000 ) (186,440 ) (186,440 ) (311,440 )
Subordinated certificates (1,612,228 ) (1,766,402 ) (1,739,454 ) (1,813,652 ) (1,810,715 )
Adjusted liabilities $18,660,070 $18,407,895 $16,661,477 $17,170,093 $16,714,112
Total equity $970,374 $811,261 $490,755 $687,309 $586,767
Less:
Prior year cumulative derivative forward
value and foreign currency adjustments 224,722 366,026 142,252 118,864 121,560
Year-to-date derivative forward value
(income) loss (39,541 ) (141,304 ) 223,774 23,388 (2,696 )

Accumulated other comprehensive income
(1) (6,320 ) (7,287 ) (8,270 ) (9,273 ) (7,489 )

Plus:
Subordinated certificates (2) 1,612,228 1,766,402 1,739,454 1,813,652 1,810,715
Subordinated deferrable debt 400,000 400,000 186,440 186,440 311,440
Adjusted equity $3,161,463 $3,195,098 $2,774,405 $2,820,380 $2,820,297
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Guarantees (3) $1,064,822 $1,112,771 $1,249,330 $1,104,988 $1,171,109
(1) Represents the accumulated other comprehensive income related to derivatives. Excludes $0.4 million of
accumulated other comprehensive loss at May 31, 2014 and $1 million of accumulated other comprehensive income at
May 31, 2013 and 2012, related to the unrecognized gains on our investments. At May 31, 2014, it also excludes $2
million of accumulated other comprehensive loss related to foreclosed assets.
(2) Includes $91 million, $37 million, $17 million and $12 million of loan and guarantee subordinated certificates, and
member capital securities that were reclassified as short-term debt at May 31, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.
(3) Guarantees are used in the calculation of leverage and adjusted leverage ratios below.

Table 38 provides the calculated ratio for leverage and debt-to-equity, as well as the adjusted ratio calculations, as of
the years ended May 31, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011 and 2010.
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Table 38: Leverage and Debt-to-Equity and Adjusted Leverage and Adjusted Debt-to-Equity Ratios
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Leverage ratio (1) 23.01 27.58 42.20 30.52 35.33
Adjusted leverage ratio (2) 6.24 6.11 6.46 6.48 6.34
Debt-to-equity ratio (3) 21.91 26.21 39.65 28.92 33.33
Adjusted debt-to-equity ratio (4) 5.90 5.76 6.01 6.09 5.93
(1) The leverage ratio using GAAP financial measures is calculated by dividing liabilities plus guarantees outstanding
by total equity.
(2) The debt-to-equity ratio using GAAP financial measures is calculated by dividing liabilities by total equity.
(3) The adjusted leverage ratio is calculated by dividing adjusted liabilities plus guarantees outstanding by adjusted
equity.
(4) The adjusted debt-to-equity ratio is calculated by dividing adjusted liabilities by adjusted equity.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

For quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk, see "Item 7. MD&A—Market Risk."
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Members of
National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation
Dulles, Virginia

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance
Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of May 31, 2014, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for the year then ended. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. The accompanying consolidated financial statements of
National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation and subsidiaries as of May 31, 2013, were audited by other
auditors whose report thereon dated August 28, 2013, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements, before
the adoption of Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-11, Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities, and
Accounting Standards Update No. 2013-01, Clarifying the Scope of Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and
Liabilities (collectively “ASU 2011-11”), as described in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the 2014 consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation and subsidiaries as of May 31, 2014,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited the adoption of ASU 2011-11 as described in note 16. In our opinion, the disclosures as of May
31, 2013, in note 16 related to the adoption of ASU 2011-11 are appropriate. We were not engaged to audit, review, or
apply any procedures to the 2013 consolidated financial statements of the Company other than with respect to such
disclosures related to the adoption of ASU 2011-11 and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form
of assurance on the 2013 consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

/s/ KPMG LLP    

McLean, Virginia
August 28, 2014 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Members of
National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation
Dulles, Virginia

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance
Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of May 31, 2013, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended
May 31, 2013. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation and subsidiaries as of May 31, 2013, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended May 31, 2013, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

McLean, Virginia
August 28, 2013
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NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORPORATION
       CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

May 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $338,715 $177,062
Restricted cash 520 7,696
Investments 55,177 31,632
Time deposits 550,000 700,000
Loans to members 20,476,642 20,305,874
Less: Allowance for loan losses (56,429 ) (54,325 )
Loans to members, net 20,420,213 20,251,549
Accrued interest and other receivables 200,656 175,183
Fixed assets, net 107,070 104,508
Debt service reserve funds 39,353 39,803
Debt issuance costs, net 42,058 38,949
Foreclosed assets, net 245,651 261,472
Derivative assets 209,759 257,878
Other assets 23,571 25,919
Total assets $22,232,743 $22,071,651

Liabilities:
Short-term debt $5,399,394 $7,719,483
Accrued interest payable 118,381 144,945
Long-term debt 13,303,931 10,696,433
Deferred income 78,040 25,717
Derivative liabilities 388,208 475,278
Subordinated deferrable debt 400,000 400,000
Members’ subordinated certificates:
Membership subordinated certificates 644,944 644,757
Loan and guarantee subordinated certificates 667,963 696,719
Member capital securities 208,610 387,750
Total members’ subordinated certificates 1,521,517 1,729,226
Other liabilities 52,898 69,308
Commitments and contingencies
Total liabilities 21,262,369 21,260,390
Equity:
CFC equity:
Retained equity 939,888 791,090
Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,649 8,381
Total CFC equity 943,537 799,471
Noncontrolling interest 26,837 11,790
Total equity 970,374 811,261
Total liabilities and equity $22,232,743 $22,071,651

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORPORATION
        CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the years ended May 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Interest income $957,540 $955,753 $960,961
Interest expense (654,655 ) (692,025 ) (761,778 )
Net interest income 302,885 263,728 199,183
Provision for loan losses (3,498 ) 70,091 18,108
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 299,387 333,819 217,291
Non-interest income:
Fee and other income 17,762 38,181 17,749
Derivative (losses) gains (34,421 ) 84,843 (236,620 )
Results of operations of foreclosed assets (13,494 ) (897 ) (67,497 )
Total non-interest income (30,153 ) 122,127 (286,368 )
Non-interest expense:
Salaries and employee benefits (41,176 ) (55,536 ) (39,364 )
Other general and administrative expenses (31,390 ) (28,646 ) (25,973 )
Provision for guarantee liability (217 ) 4,772 (726 )
Loss on early extinguishment of debt (1,452 ) (10,636 ) (15,525 )
Other (69 ) (5,064 ) (739 )
Total non-interest expense (74,304 ) (95,110 ) (82,327 )
Income (loss) prior to income taxes 194,930 360,836 (151,404 )
Income tax (expense) benefit (2,004 ) (2,749 ) 2,607
Net income (loss) 192,926 358,087 (148,797 )
Less: Net (income) loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest (2,859 ) (4,328 ) 4,070
Net income (loss) attributable to CFC $190,067 $353,759 $(144,727 )

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORPORATION
        CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended May 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Net income (loss) $192,926 $358,087 $(148,797 )
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Unrealized (losses) gains on securities (1,455 ) 165 444
Unrealized (losses) gains on foreclosed assets (2,310 ) — —
Realized gains on derivatives (983 ) (1,004 ) (1,028 )
Other comprehensive loss (4,748 ) (839 ) (584 )
Total comprehensive income (loss) 188,178 357,248 (149,381 )
Less: Total comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling
interest (2,843 ) (4,307 ) 4,095

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to CFC $185,335 $352,941 $(145,286 )

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORPORATION
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Dollars in
thousands)

Membership
fees and
education
fund

Patronage
capital
allocated

Members’
capital
reserve

Unallocated
net income
(loss)

CFC
retained
equity

CFC
Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income

Total
CFC
equity

Non-controlling
interest Total

Balance as of
May 31, 2011 $2,431 $521,897 $272,126 $(130,689) $665,765 $ 9,758 $675,523 $ 11,786 $687,309

Net income
(loss) 835 70,690 — (216,252 ) (144,727 ) — (144,727 ) (4,070 ) (148,797 )

Other
comprehensive
loss

— — — — — (559 ) (559 ) (25 ) (584 )

Patronage
capital
retirement

— (46,221 ) — — (46,221 ) — (46,221 ) (44 ) (46,265 )

Other (853 ) — — — (853 ) — (853 ) (55 ) (908 )
Balance as of
May 31, 2012 $2,413 $546,366 $272,126 $(346,941) $473,964 $ 9,199 $483,163 $ 7,592 $490,755

Net income 920 81,449 138,133 133,257 353,759 — 353,759 4,328 358,087
Other
comprehensive
loss

— — — — — (818 ) (818 ) (21 ) (839 )

Patronage
capital
retirement

— (36,234 ) — 429 (35,805 ) — (35,805 ) (794 ) (36,599 )

Other (828 ) — — — (828 ) — (828 ) 685 (143 )
Balance as of
May 31, 2013 $2,505 $591,581 $410,259 $(213,255) $791,090 $ 8,381 $799,471 $ 11,790 $811,261

Net income 950 79,324 75,188 34,605 190,067 — 190,067 2,859 192,926
Other
comprehensive
loss

— — — — — (4,732 ) (4,732 ) (16 ) (4,748 )

Patronage
capital
retirement

— (40,565 ) — — (40,565 ) — (40,565 ) (400 ) (40,965 )

Other (704 ) — — — (704 ) — (704 ) 12,604 11,900
Balance as of
May 31, 2014 $2,751 $630,340 $485,447 $(178,650) $939,888 $ 3,649 $943,537 $ 26,837 $970,374

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended May 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $192,926 $358,087 $(148,797 )
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities
Amortization of deferred income (10,137 ) (8,766 ) (10,409 )
Amortization of debt issuance costs and deferred charges 7,367 7,582 10,897
Amortization of discount on long-term debt 5,690 4,314 —
Amortization of issuance costs for revolving bank lines of credit 2,827 2,932 —
Depreciation 5,646 5,381 4,324
Provision for loan losses 3,498 (70,091 ) (18,108 )
Provision for guarantee liability 217 (4,772 ) 726
Results of operations of foreclosed assets 13,494 897 67,497
Derivative forward value (39,541 ) (141,304 ) 223,774
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accrued interest and other receivables (25,736 ) 17,092 26,164
Accounts payable (1,390 ) 5,801 (3,204 )
Accrued interest payable (26,564 ) (16,872 ) (33,042 )
Deferred income 62,460 8,352 18,820
Other (772 ) (5,152 ) 5,428
Net cash provided by operating activities 189,985 163,481 144,070
Cash flows from investing activities:
Advances made on loans (7,795,237 ) (9,027,063 ) (6,244,701 )
Principal collected on loans 7,623,829 7,623,527 6,654,443
Net investment in fixed assets (8,229 ) (7,119 ) (18,300 )
Proceeds from foreclosed assets 13,667 48,144 39,566
Investments in foreclosed assets (13,650 ) (87,037 ) (49,728 )
Proceeds from sale of (investments in) time deposits 150,000 (700,000 ) —
Proceeds from early redemption of equity securities — 57,578 —
Investments in equity securities (25,000 ) (30,000 ) —
Change in restricted cash 7,176 (2 ) (4 )
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (47,444 ) (2,121,972 ) 381,276
Cash flows from financing activities:
(Repayments of) proceeds from issuances of short-term debt, net (122,385 ) 681,612 74,721
Proceeds from issuances of short-term debt with original maturity greater
than 90 days 742,935 639,148 411,750

Repayments of short term-debt with original maturity greater than 90 days (783,625 ) (517,192 ) (560,277 )
Issuance costs for revolving bank lines of credit (3,121 ) (3,159 ) (3,672 )
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 3,592,292 2,640,850 2,081,533
Payments for retirement of long-term debt (3,122,790 ) (1,569,555 ) (2,519,650 )
Proceeds from issuance of subordinated debt — 395,724 —
Payments for retirement of subordinated debt — (186,440 ) —
Proceeds from issuance of members’ subordinated certificates 153,921 66,620 34,325
Payments for retirement of members’ subordinated certificates (307,271 ) (34,780 ) (102,115 )
Payments for retirement of patronage capital (40,030 ) (35,036 ) (44,409 )
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Cash portion of debt exchange premium (90,814 ) (133,406 ) —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 19,112 1,944,386 (627,794 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 161,653 (14,105 ) (102,448 )
Beginning cash and cash equivalents 177,062 191,167 293,615
Ending cash and cash equivalents $338,715 $177,062 $191,167

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended May 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $665,334 $694,069 $783,923
Cash paid for income taxes 157 89 293
Non-cash financing and investing activities:
Subordinated certificates applied against loan balances $— $670 $534
Patronage capital applied against loan balances (160 ) 160 134
Noncontrolling interest patronage capital applied against loan balances — 58 44
Charge-offs of allowance for loan losses applied against loan balances 1,606 19,122 —
Net decrease in debt service reserve funds/debt service reserve
certificates (450 ) — (5,859 )

Collateral trust bonds issued as debt exchange premium 2,408 39,647 —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1—GENERAL INFORMATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General Information

National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (“CFC”) is a member-owned cooperative association
incorporated under the laws of the District of Columbia in April 1969. CFC’s principal purpose is to provide its
members with financing to supplement the loan programs of the Rural Utilities Service (“RUS”) of the USDA. CFC
makes loans to its rural electric members so they can acquire, construct and operate electric distribution, generation,
transmission and related facilities. CFC also provides its members with credit enhancements in the form of letters of
credit and guarantees of debt obligations. CFC is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(4) of the
Internal Revenue Code. As a member-owned cooperative lender, CFC’s objective is to offer its members cost-based
financial products and services consistent with sound financial management and is not to maximize net income.

Rural Telephone Finance Cooperative (“RTFC”) is a cooperative association originally incorporated in South Dakota in
1987 and reincorporated as a member-owned cooperative association in the District of Columbia in 2005. RTFC’s
principal purpose is to provide and arrange financing for its rural telecommunications members and their affiliates. As
a member-owned cooperative lender, RTFC’s objective is to offer its members cost-based financial products and
services consistent with sound financial management and is not to maximize net income. RTFC’s membership consists
of a combination of not-for-profit entities and for-profit entities. RTFC’s results of operations and financial condition
are consolidated with CFC in the accompanying financial statements. RTFC is headquartered with CFC in Dulles,
Virginia. RTFC is a taxable cooperative that pays income tax based on its net income, excluding patronage-sourced
net earnings allocated to its patrons, as permitted under Subchapter T of the Internal Revenue Code.

National Cooperative Services Corporation (“NCSC”) was incorporated in 1981 in the District of Columbia as a
member-owned cooperative association. NCSC’s principal purpose is to provide financing to members of CFC, entities
eligible to be members of CFC and the for-profit and nonprofit entities that are owned, operated or controlled by or
provide significant benefit to certain members of CFC. As a member-owned cooperative lender, NCSC’s objective is
to offer its members cost-based financial products and services consistent with sound financial management and is not
to maximize net income. At May 31, 2014, NCSC’s membership consisted primarily of distribution systems that were
members of CFC or were eligible for such membership. NCSC’s results of operations and financial condition are
consolidated with CFC in the accompanying financial statements. NCSC is headquartered with CFC in Dulles,
Virginia. NCSC is a taxable cooperative that pays income tax on the full amount of its reportable taxable income and
allowable deductions.

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements include the consolidated accounts of CFC, RTFC and NCSC and certain
entities created and controlled by CFC to hold foreclosed assets and accommodate loan securitization transactions,
after elimination of intercompany accounts and transactions. Unless stated otherwise, references to “we, “our” or “us”
represent the consolidation of CFC, RTFC, NCSC and certain entities controlled by CFC to hold foreclosed assets and
to accommodate loan securitization transactions.

Edgar Filing: NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORP /DC/ - Form 10-K

151



CFC established limited liability corporations and partnerships to hold foreclosed assets and facilitate loan
securitization transactions. CFC owns and controls all of these entities and, therefore, consolidates their financial
results. A full consolidation is presented for the entity formed for loan securitization transactions. CFC presents the
companies formed to hold foreclosed assets in one line on the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated
statements of operations. Foreclosed assets are held by two subsidiaries controlled by CFC. Denton Realty Partners,
LP (“DRP”) holds assets including a land development loan and limited partnership interest in certain real estate
developments and related receivables, developed lots and retail land. Caribbean Asset Holdings (“CAH”) holds our
investment in cable and telecommunications operating entities in the United States Virgin Islands (“USVI”), British
Virgin Islands and St. Maarten.

Based on the accounting standards governing consolidations, equity controlled by RTFC and NCSC is classified as
noncontrolling interest on the consolidated balance sheet, and the subsidiary earnings controlled by RTFC and NCSC
are reported as net income or net loss attributable to the noncontrolling interest on the consolidated statement of
operations.

CFC manages the lending activities of RTFC and NCSC. We are required to consolidate the financial results of RTFC
and NCSC because CFC is the primary beneficiary of variable interests in RTFC and NCSC due to its exposure to
absorbing the
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NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

majority of their expected losses. Under separate guarantee agreements, RTFC and NCSC pay CFC a fee to indemnify
against loan losses. CFC is the sole lender to and manages the business operations of RTFC through a management
agreement in effect until December 1, 2016, which is automatically renewed for one-year terms thereafter unless
terminated by either party. CFC is the primary source of funding to and manages the lending activities of NCSC
through a management agreement that is automatically renewable on an annual basis unless terminated by either party.
NCSC funds its lending programs through loans from CFC or debt guaranteed by CFC.

All loans that require RTFC board approval also require approval by CFC for funding under RTFC’s credit facilities
with CFC. CFC is not a member of RTFC and does not elect directors to the RTFC board. RTFC has a non-voting
associate member relationship with CFC. RTFC members elect directors to the RTFC board based on one vote for
each member. All loans that require NCSC board approval also require CFC board approval. CFC is not a member of
NCSC. If CFC becomes a member of NCSC, it would control the nomination process for one NCSC director. NCSC
members elect directors to the NCSC board based on one vote for each member. NCSC is a service organization
member of CFC.

RTFC and NCSC creditors have no recourse against CFC in the event of a default by RTFC and NCSC, unless there is
a guarantee agreement under which CFC has guaranteed NCSC or RTFC debt obligations to a third-party. At May 31,
2014, CFC had guaranteed $97 million of NCSC debt, derivative instruments and guarantees with third parties, and
CFC’s maximum potential exposure for these instruments totaled $103 million. The maturities for NCSC obligations
guaranteed by CFC extend through 2031. Guarantees of NCSC debt and derivative instruments are not included in
Note 12, Guarantees, as the debt and derivatives are reported on the consolidated balance sheet. At May 31, 2014,
CFC guaranteed $2 million of RTFC guarantees with third parties. The maturities for RTFC obligations guaranteed by
CFC extend through 2015 and are renewed on an annual basis. All CFC loans to RTFC and NCSC are secured by all
assets and revenue of RTFC and NCSC. At May 31, 2014, RTFC had total assets of $560 million including loans
outstanding to members of $450 million, and NCSC had total assets of $852 million including loans outstanding of
$828 million. At May 31, 2014, CFC had committed to lend RTFC up to $4,000 million, of which $430 million was
outstanding. At May 31, 2014, CFC had committed to provide up to $3,000 million of credit to NCSC, of which $911
million was outstanding, representing $814 million of outstanding loans and $97 million of credit enhancements.

At May 31, 2014, after taking into consideration systems that are members of both CFC and NCSC and eliminating
memberships between CFC, RTFC and NCSC, our consolidated membership totaled 1,460 members and 229
associates. Our membership includes the following:
•838 distribution systems;
•71 power supply systems;
•486 telecommunications members;
•64 statewide and regional associations; and
•1 national association of cooperatives.

Associates are eligible to borrow, however, they are not eligible to vote on matters submitted to the membership for
approval. Our members and associates are located in 49 states, the District of Columbia and two U.S. territories. All
references to members within this document include members and associates.

During the preparation of our consolidated balance sheets for the quarter ended February 28, 2014, we determined that
an intercompany elimination entry related to the consolidation of RTFC had been misclassified in each period since
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May 31, 2009, resulting in an overstatement of other liabilities and an understatement of noncontrolling interest at the
end of each reported period. We corrected the misclassification in the quarter ended February 28, 2014, which resulted
in a decrease of $11.5 million in other liabilities and a corresponding increase in noncontrolling interest. We
concluded that the correction of the misclassification was not material to our financial position in the current period,
and the misclassification was not material to our financial position in the previously reported periods. Accordingly, we
did not revise prior period balance sheet amounts. The misclassification had no impact on our consolidated statements
of operations and comprehensive income, total assets, total liabilities and equity, or cash flows for any of our
previously filed annual or quarterly financial statements, and did not impact the compliance with any of our financial
debt covenants for any period.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash, certificates of deposit and other investments with original maturities of less than 90 days are classified as cash
and cash equivalents.
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Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents cash and cash equivalents for which use is contractually restricted.

Investments

We account for our investments in Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation Series A Common Stock, Federal
Agricultural Mortgage Corporation Series A and Series B Preferred Stock as available-for-sale securities based on the
accounting standards for debt and equity securities. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value. Unrealized
holding gains and losses on these securities are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income. Realized
gains or losses are measured and reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into earnings when
investments are sold or when an other-than-temporary impairment exists. We continually monitor these investments
for possible impairment. Other-than-temporary impairments are recognized in earnings.

Time Deposits

Time deposits are deposits that we make with financial institutions in interest-bearing accounts. These deposits have a
maturity of less than one year as of the reporting date and are valued at carrying value, which approximates fair value.

Loans to Members

Loans to members are reported at historical cost based on their outstanding principal balances. Loan origination costs
are deferred and amortized using the straight-line method, which approximates the effective interest method, over the
life of the loan as a reduction to interest income.

Unadvanced Loan Commitments

Unadvanced commitments represent amounts for which we have approved and executed loan contracts, but the funds
have not been advanced. The majority of the unadvanced commitments reported represent amounts that are subject to
material adverse change clauses at the time of the loan advance. Prior to making an advance on these facilities, we
would confirm that there has been no material adverse change in the business or condition, financial or otherwise, of
the borrower since the time the loan was approved and confirm that the borrower is currently in compliance with loan
terms and conditions. The remaining unadvanced commitments relate to line of credit loans that are not subject to a
material adverse change clause at the time of each loan advance. As such, we would be required to advance amounts
on these committed facilities as long as the borrower is in compliance with the terms and conditions of the loan.

Unadvanced commitments related to line of credit loans are typically for periods not to exceed five years and are
generally revolving facilities used for working capital and backup liquidity purposes. Historically, we have a very low
utilization rate on line of credit loan facilities, whether or not there is a material adverse change clause. Since we
generally do not charge a fee on the unadvanced portion of the majority of our loan facilities, our borrowers will
typically request long-term facilities to cover multiple-year maintenance and capital expenditure work plans for
periods of up to five years and draw down on the facility over that time. In addition, borrowers will typically request
an amount in excess of their immediate estimated loan requirements to avoid the expense related to seeking additional
loan funding for unexpected items. These factors contribute to our expectation that the majority of the unadvanced
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commitments reported will expire without being fully drawn upon and that the total commitment amount does not
necessarily represent future cash funding requirements.

Allowance for Credit Losses

Allowance for Loan Losses
We maintain an allowance for loan losses at a level estimated by management to provide for probable losses inherent
in the loan portfolio. The allowance for loan losses is reported separately on the consolidated balance sheet, and the
provision for loan losses is reported as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of operations.

We review the estimates and assumptions used in the calculations of the allowance for loan losses on a quarterly basis.
The estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on a review of the composition of the loan portfolio, past loss
experience, specific problem loans, current economic conditions, available market data and/or projection of future
cash flows and other pertinent factors that in management’s judgment may contribute to incurred losses. The allowance
is based on estimates and,
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accordingly, actual losses may differ from the allowance amount. The methodology used to calculate the allowance
for loan losses is summarized below.

The allowance for loan losses is calculated by dividing the portfolio into two categories of loans:
(1)the general portfolio, which comprises loans that are performing according to the contractual agreements; and

(2)

the impaired portfolio, which comprises loans that (i) are not currently performing or (ii) for various reasons we do
not expect to collect all amounts as and when due and payable under the loan agreement or (iii) are performing
according to a restructured loan agreement, but as a result of the troubled debt restructuring are required to be
classified as impaired.

General Portfolio
The general portfolio of loans consists of all loans not specifically identified in the impaired category. We
disaggregate the loans in the general portfolio by company: CFC, RTFC and NCSC. We further disaggregate the CFC
loan portfolio by member class: distribution, power supply and statewide and associates.

We use the following factors to determine the allowance for loan losses for the general portfolio category:

•Internal risk ratings system. We maintain risk ratings for our borrowers that are updated at least annually and are
based on the following:
◦general financial condition of the borrower;
◦our judgment of the quality of the borrower’s management;
◦our judgment of the borrower’s competitive position within its service territory and industry;
◦our estimate of the potential impact of proposed regulation and litigation; and
◦other factors specific to individual borrowers or classes of borrowers.

•

Standard & Poor’s historical utility sector default table. The table provides expected default rates for the utility sector
based on rating level and the remaining maturity. We correlate our internal risk ratings to the ratings used in the utility
sector default table. We use the default table to assist in estimating our allowance for loan losses because we have
limited history from which to develop loss expectations.

•Loss Emergence Period. Based on the estimated time between the loss causing event(s) and the date that we chargeoff the unrecoverable portion of the loan.

•
Recovery rates. Estimated recovery rates are based on our historical recovery experience by member class calculated
by comparing loan balances at the time of default to the total loss recorded on the loan. We have been lending to
electric cooperatives since our incorporation in 1969.

In addition to the allowance for loan losses for the general portfolio, we maintain a qualitative reserve for the general
portfolio based on risk factors not captured in the general allowance for loan losses. The overriding factor that creates
the necessity for this additional component of loan loss reserves not captured in our loan loss model is lag in the
timing of receipt of information regarding our borrowers. We actively monitor the operations and financial
performance of our borrowers through the review of audited financial statements, review of borrower prepared
financial statements (if required) and discussions with borrower management. As a result of the lag, there could be
credit events or circumstances that exist with our borrowers for which we have not been made aware that could
potentially lead to reassessing/downgrading of certain borrower risk ratings (“BRRs”) to better reflect the risk of default
and ultimate loss. Additional qualitative considerations include our expectations with respect to loan workouts, risks
associated with large loan exposures and economic and environmental factors.
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To measure these additional risk factors supporting an additional reserve for the general portfolio, we perform an
internal credit risk ratings portfolio stress test quantifying the impact that both upgrades and downgrades in internal
credit risk ratings would have on our estimate of losses inherent in the portfolio.

Impaired Loans

A loan is considered to be impaired when we do not expect to collect all principal and interest payments as scheduled
by the original loan terms, other than an insignificant delay or an insignificant shortfall in amount. Factors considered
in determining impairment may include, but are not limited to:

• the review of the borrower’s audited financial statements and interim financial statements if
available,

•the borrower’s payment history,
•communication with the borrower,
•economic conditions in the borrower’s service territory,
•pending legal action involving the borrower,
•restructure agreements between us and the borrower and
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•estimates of the value of the borrower’s assets that have been pledged as collateral to secure our loans.

We generally measure impairment for individually impaired loans based on the difference between the recorded
investment of the loan and the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest
rate of the loan. If the loan is collateral dependent, we measure impairment based upon the fair value of the underlying
collateral, which we determine based on the current fair value of the collateral less estimated selling costs. Loans are
identified as collateral dependent if we believe that collateral is the expected source of repayment.

In calculating the impairment on a loan, the estimates of the expected future cash flows or collateral value are the key
estimates made by management. Changes in the estimated future cash flows or collateral value affect the amount of
the calculated impairment. The change in cash flows required to make the change in the calculated impairment
material will be different for each borrower and depend on the period covered, the effective interest rate at the time the
loan became impaired and the amount of the loan outstanding. Estimates are not used to determine our investment in
the receivables or the discount rate since, in all cases, the investment is equal to the loan balance outstanding at the
reporting date, and the discount rate is equal to the effective interest rate on the loan at the time the loan became
impaired.

We recognize interest income on impaired loans on a case-by-case basis. An impaired loan to a borrower that is
nonperforming will typically be placed on non-accrual status and we will reverse all accrued and unpaid interest. We
generally apply all cash received during the non-accrual period to the reduction of principal, thereby foregoing interest
income recognition. Interest income may be recognized on an accrual basis for restructured impaired loans where the
borrower is performing and is expected to continue to perform based on agreed-upon terms.

All loans are written off in the period that it becomes evident that collectability is highly unlikely; however, our
efforts to recover all charged-off amounts may continue. The determination to write off all or a portion of a loan
balance is made based on various factors on a case-by-case basis including, but not limited to, cash flow analysis and
the fair value of collateral securing the borrower’s loans.

Allowance for Unadvanced Loan Commitments

We do not maintain an allowance for the majority of our unadvanced loan commitments as the loans are generally
subject to material adverse change clauses that would not require us to lend or continue to lend to a borrower
experiencing a material adverse change in their business or condition, financial or otherwise. The methodology used
to determine an estimate of probable losses for unadvanced commitments related to committed lines of credit that are
not subject to a material adverse change clause at the time of each loan advance is consistent with the methodology
used to determine the allowance for loan losses. Due to the nature of unadvanced commitments, the estimate of
probable losses also considers the probability of funding such loans based on our historical average utilization rate for
committed lines of credit. The allowance for unadvanced commitments is included in the other liabilities line item on
the consolidated balance sheet. Changes to the allowance for unadvanced commitments are recorded in the
consolidated statement of operations in other non-interest expense.

Guarantee Liability
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We maintain a guarantee liability that represents our contingent and non-contingent exposure related to guarantees and
standby liquidity obligations associated with our members’ debt. The guarantee liability is included in the other
liabilities line item on the consolidated balance sheet, and the provision for guarantee liability is reported in
non-interest expense as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of operations.

The contingent portion of the guarantee liability represents management’s estimate of our exposure to losses within the
guarantee portfolio. The methodology used to estimate the contingent guarantee liability is consistent with the
methodology used to determine the allowance for loan losses.

We record a non-contingent guarantee liability for all new or modified guarantees since January 1, 2003. Our
non-contingent guarantee liability represents our obligation to stand ready to perform over the term of our guarantees
and liquidity obligations that we have entered into or modified since January 1, 2003. Our non-contingent obligation is
estimated based on guarantee and liquidity fees charged for guarantees issued, which represents management’s
estimate of the fair value of our obligation to stand ready to perform. The fees are deferred and amortized using the
straight-line method into interest income over the term of the guarantee.
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Nonperforming Loans

We classify loans as nonperforming when any one of the following criteria is met:
•principal or interest payments on any loan to the borrower are past due 90 days or more;
•as a result of court proceedings, repayment on the original terms is not anticipated; or
•for other reasons, management does not expect the timely repayment of principal and interest.

A loan is considered past due if a full payment of principal and interest is not received within 30 days of its due date.
Once a borrower is classified as nonperforming, we typically place the loan on non-accrual status and reverse any
accrued and unpaid interest recorded during the period in which the borrower stopped performing. We generally apply
all cash received during the non-accrual period to the reduction of principal, thereby foregoing interest income
recognition. The decision to return a loan to accrual status is determined on a case-by-case basis.

Loan Sales

We account for the transfer of loans resulting from direct loan sales to third parties by removing the loans from our
consolidated balance sheets when control has been surrendered. We retain the servicing performance obligations on
these loans and recognize related servicing fees on an accrual basis over the period for which servicing activity is
provided. Because the loans are sold at par, we record immaterial losses on the sale of these loans for unamortized
deferred loan origination costs. We do not hold any continuing interest in the loans sold to date other than servicing
performance obligations. We have no obligation to repurchase loans from the purchaser, except in the case of breaches
of representations and warranties.

During the years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, we sold CFC loans with outstanding balances totaling $111
million, $149 million, and $192 million, respectively, at par for cash. During the years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, we recognized $3 million in servicing fees on direct loan sales.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense ($6 million, $5 million and $4
million in fiscal years 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively) is computed on the straight-line method over estimated
useful lives ranging from 2 to 40 years. CFC owns its headquarters facility in Loudoun County, Virginia, which is
included in the building and building equipment balance below. Fixed assets consisted of the following as of May 31,
2014 and 2013.

(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013
Building and building equipment $50,008 $49,168
Furniture and fixtures 5,071 5,046
Computer software and hardware 30,966 27,580
Other 916 911
Less: accumulated depreciation (24,867 ) (19,500 )
Land 37,847 38,678
Construction-in-progress and software 7,129 2,625
Fixed assets, net $107,070 $104,508
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Debt Service Reserve Fund

At May 31, 2014 and 2013, we had $39 million and $40 million, respectively, pledged to the trustee for our members’
obligations to repay tax-exempt bonds, for which we are the guarantor. The member cooperatives are required to
purchase debt service reserve subordinated certificates from us as a condition to obtaining the guarantee. We are
required to pledge the proceeds from the members’ purchase of the debt service reserve subordinated certificates to the
trustee.

A deficiency in the fund may occur when (i) the member does not pay the full amount of the periodic debt service
payments as due to the trustee or (ii) upon maturity, the trustee uses the amount of the debt service reserve fund to
reduce the final payment required by the member. If there is a deficiency in the bond payment due from a member, the
trustee will first use the pledged amounts in the related debt service reserve fund to make up the deficiency. If there is
still a deficiency after the debt service reserve fund amount is used, then we are required to perform under our
guarantee. The member cooperatives are required to
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make up any deficiency in their specific debt service reserve fund. We record a guarantee liability, which is based on
the full amount of the tax-exempt bonds guaranteed. We do not have any additional liability specific to the debt
service reserve fund as we have the right at any time to offset the member’s investment in the debt service
subordinated certificate against the amount that the member is required to pay to replenish the debt service reserve
fund. There were no deficiencies in the debt service reserve fund at May 31, 2014 and 2013. Earnings on the debt
service reserve fund inure to the benefit of the member cooperatives but are pledged to the trustee and used to reduce
the periodic interest payments due from the member cooperatives.

During the year ended May 31, 2014, $1 million of guaranteed bonds requiring a debt service reserve fund were fully
repaid, and no new guarantees requiring a debt service reserve fund were made. This resulted in a reduction of $0.5
million to the debt service reserve fund and member investments in debt service reserve subordinated certificates.
During the year ended May 31, 2013, no guaranteed bonds requiring a debt service reserve fund were fully repaid and
no new guarantees requiring a debt service reserve fund were made. This resulted in no change to the debt service
reserve fund and member investments in debt service reserve subordinated certificates for the year ended May 31,
2013. At maturity, the trustee uses the debt service reserve fund to repay the bonds, reducing the amount that the
member must pay. The member is obligated to replenish the debt service reserve fund so the trustee can return the
pledged funds to us since the guaranteed tax-exempt bonds have been repaid. We offset our requirement to repay the
member the amount of the debt service reserve subordinated certificate against our right to collect the amount of the
debt service reserve fund from the trustee. As a result, the member’s obligation to replenish the debt service reserve
fund is met. The reduction to the debt service reserve fund and the debt service reserve subordinated certificates on
our consolidated balance sheet are offsetting and disclosed as a non-cash transaction in the consolidated statement of
cash flows. At inception of the guarantee transaction, the trustee sets aside the required debt service reserve fund
amount out of the bond proceeds to be held as the asset pledged by CFC. CFC records a liability for the member’s
investment in debt service reserve subordinated certificates and records an asset for the debt service reserve fund.
Since the trustee holds the cash out of the proceeds, the increase to the debt service reserve fund and increase to the
debt service reserve subordinated certificates are disclosed as a non-cash transaction in the consolidated statement of
cash flows.

Foreclosed Assets

We initially record foreclosed assets received in satisfaction of loan receivables at fair value or fair value less costs to
sell and maintain these assets on the consolidated balance sheets as foreclosed assets. We intend to sell foreclosed
assets. We evaluate whether our foreclosed assets meet the conditions to qualify for assets held for sale and, if so, we
record these assets at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell at each reporting date with
changes for the period recorded in the consolidated statement of operations. Foreclosed assets that do not qualify as
assets held for sale are periodically evaluated for impairment. Any loss due to impairment for the period is recorded in
the consolidated statement of operations and establishes a new cost basis. Subsequent increases in fair value on certain
foreclosed assets including those that qualify as held for sale are recorded as gains, and are limited to the cumulative
amount of loss in fair value recognized in prior periods. If applicable, no depreciation is recorded on such foreclosed
assets. The results of operations from foreclosed assets are shown separately on the consolidated statements of
operations.

Derivative Financial Instruments
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We are an end user of derivative financial instruments and do not engage in derivative trading. We use derivatives,
primarily interest rate swaps and treasury rate locks, to manage interest rate risk. In accordance with the accounting
standards for derivatives and hedging activities, we record derivative instruments at fair value as either a derivative
asset or derivative liability on our consolidated balance sheets. We report derivative asset and liability amounts on a
gross basis based on individual contracts, which does not take into consideration the effects of master netting
agreements or collateral netting. Accrued interest related to derivatives is reported on our consolidated balance sheets
as a component of either accrued interest and other receivables or accrued interest payable.

If we do not elect hedge accounting treatment, changes in the fair value of derivative instruments, which consist of
periodic derivative cash settlements and derivative forward value amounts, are recognized in our consolidated
statements of operations under derivative gains (losses). If we elect hedge accounting treatment for derivatives, we
formally document, designate and assess the effectiveness of the hedge relationship. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives designated as qualifying fair value hedges are recorded in earnings together with offsetting changes in the
fair value of the hedged item and any related ineffectiveness. Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as
qualifying cash flow hedges are recorded as a component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”), to the extent that the
hedge relationships are effective, and reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) to earnings
using the effective interest method over the term of the
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forecasted transaction. Any ineffectiveness in the hedging relationship is recognized as a component of derivative
gains (losses) in our consolidated statement of operations.

We generally do not designate interest rate swaps, which represent the substantial majority of our derivatives, for
hedge accounting. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps are reported in our consolidated
statements of operations under derivative gains (losses). Cash settlements related to interest rate swaps are classified
as an operating activity in our consolidated statements of cash flows.

We typically designate treasury rate locks as cash flow hedges of forecasted debt issuances. Accordingly, changes in
the fair value of the derivative instruments are recorded as a component of OCI and reclassified to interest expense
when the forecasted transaction occurs using the effective interest method. Any ineffectiveness in the hedging
relationship is recognized as a component of derivative gains (losses) in our consolidated statements of operations.

At June 1, 2001, as a result of the adoption of the derivative accounting guidance that required derivatives to be
reported at fair value on the balance sheet, we recorded a transition adjustment net loss in AOCI. The transition
adjustment net loss is being reclassified into earnings and reported as a component of derivative gains (losses) in our
consolidated statements of operations. We expect to continue to reclassify the remaining balance of the transition
adjustment into earnings through 2029.

Debt

Debt securities are reported at cost net of discounts or premiums. Issuance costs on debt and discounts are deferred as
per applicable accounting guidance, and amortized as interest expense using the effective interest method or a method
approximating the effective interest method over the legal maturity of each bond issue. Issuance costs on dealer
commercial paper and medium-term notes are recognized as incurred.

Membership Fees

Members are charged a one-time membership fee based on member class. CFC distribution system members, power
supply system members and national associations of cooperatives pay a $1,000 membership fee. CFC service
organization members pay a $200 membership fee and CFC associates pay a $1,000 fee. RTFC voting members pay a
$1,000 membership fee and RTFC associates pay a $100 fee. NCSC members pay a $100 membership fee.
Membership fees are accounted for as members’ equity.

Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk

In the normal course of business, we are a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk to meet the
financing needs of our member borrowers. These financial instruments include committed lines of credit, standby
letters of credit and guarantees of members’ obligations.

Interest Income

Interest income on loans is recognized using the effective interest method. The following table presents the
components of interest income for the years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.
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(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Interest on long-term fixed-rate loans $887,010 $874,287 $878,604
Interest on long-term variable-rate loans 20,388 21,684 24,374
Interest on line of credit loans 31,376 32,378 30,717
Interest on restructured loans 136 13,956 16,191
Interest on nonperforming loans 236 — —
Interest on investments 7,080 6,325 3,934
Fee income (1) 11,314 7,123 7,141
Total interest income $957,540 $955,753 $960,961
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(1) Primarily related to conversion fees that are deferred and recognized using the effective interest method over the
remaining original loan interest rate pricing term, except for a small portion of the total fee charged to cover
administrative costs related to the conversion, which is recognized immediately.

Deferred income on the consolidated balance sheets primarily includes deferred conversion fees totaling $73 million
and $21 million at May 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Interest Expense

The following table presents the components of interest expense for the years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Interest expense on debt (1):
Short-term debt $5,899 $6,888 $5,836
Medium-term notes 82,978 95,495 173,927
Collateral trust bonds 300,014 327,978 314,642
Subordinated deferrable debt 19,000 12,922 11,225
Subordinated certificates 79,328 81,920 81,124
Long-term notes payable 150,956 150,553 154,606
Debt issuance costs (2) 7,447 7,582 9,044
Fee expense (3) 9,033 8,687 11,374
Total interest expense $654,655 $692,025 $761,778
(1) Represents interest expense and the amortization of discounts on debt.
(2) Includes amortization of all deferred charges related to the issuance of debt, principally underwriters’ fees, legal
fees, printing costs and comfort letter fees. Amortization is calculated using the effective interest method or a method
approximating the effective interest method. Also includes issuance costs related to dealer commercial paper, which
are recognized as incurred.
(3) Includes various fees related to funding activities, including fees paid to banks participating in our revolving credit
agreements. Fees are recognized as incurred or amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the respective
agreement.

We exclude indirect costs, if any, related to funding activities from interest expense.

Early Extinguishment of Debt

We redeem outstanding debt early from time to time to manage liquidity and interest rate risk. When we redeem
outstanding debt early, we recognize a gain or loss related to the difference between the amount paid to redeem the
debt and the net book value of the extinguished debt as a component of non-interest expense in the gain (loss) on early
extinguishment of debt line item.

On December 16, 2013, we redeemed $150 million of our $600 million, 4.75%, collateral trust bonds due March 1,
2014. The premium and unamortized issuance costs totaling $1.5 million were recorded as a loss on extinguishment of
debt during the third quarter of fiscal year 2014.
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Income Taxes

While CFC is exempt under Section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code, it is subject to tax on unrelated business
taxable income. RTFC is a taxable cooperative under Subchapter T of the Internal Revenue Code and is not subject to
income taxes on income from patronage sources that is allocated to its borrowers, as long as the allocation is properly
noticed and at least 20% of the amount allocated is retired in cash prior to filing the applicable tax return. NCSC is a
taxable cooperative that pays income tax on the full amount of its reportable taxable income and allowable deductions.

The income tax benefit (expense) recorded in the consolidated statement of operations for the years ended May 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012 represents the income tax benefit (expense) for RTFC and NCSC at the applicable federal and
state income tax rates resulting in a tax rate of approximately 38%. Additionally, fines or penalties assessed against
RTFC and NCSC, if any, are recorded in income tax expense.
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Reclassifications

Reclassifications of prior period amounts have been made to conform to the current reporting format and the
presentation in our Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 2014. Specifically, time deposits with financial institutions
have been reclassified from the investments line item into its separate line item on the consolidated balance sheet as of
May 31, 2013.

Use of Estimates and Uncertainties

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses reported in the financial statements, as well as amounts included in the notes thereto, including discussion
and disclosure of contingent liabilities. Items that require our most significant estimates and subjective judgments, and
involve inherent uncertainty, include the allowance for loan losses, the determination of the fair value of our
derivative instruments and impairment assessments related to our foreclosed assets. Our judgment regarding estimates
and assumptions may change as new and unforeseen events occur; additional information is obtained through the
passage of time; and through changes in economic conditions and the operating environment. Actual results could
differ from our estimates.

Accounting Standards Adopted in Fiscal Year 2014

Disclosures about Offsetting Asset and Liabilities

In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU")
2011-11, Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities, which requires enhanced disclosures about certain
financial assets and liabilities that are subject to enforceable master netting agreements or similar agreements, or that
have otherwise been offset on the balance sheet under certain specific conditions that permit net presentation. In
January 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-01, Clarifying the Scope of Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and
Liabilities, which clarifies that the scope of the above guidance is limited to derivatives, repurchase and reverse
repurchase agreements, and securities borrowing and lending transactions. The guidance was effective for us
beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2014. Our adoption of this guidance, which we applied retrospectively, had
no effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity, as it only affects our disclosures. See "Note 8—
Derivative Financial Instruments" for additional disclosures about offsetting assets and liabilities.

Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-02 , Reporting of Amounts Reclassified out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income, which requires enhanced disclosures of the amounts reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income by component. In addition, an entity is required to present, either on the face of the statement
where net income is presented or in the notes, significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income by the respective line items of net income, but only if the amount reclassified is required under
GAAP to be reclassified to net income in its entirety in the same reporting period. The guidance was effective for us
beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2014. Our adoption of the guidance did not have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements, as the amounts reclassified out of other comprehensive income are immaterial for
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all periods presented.

Recently Issued but Not Yet Adopted Accounting Standards

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which clarifies the principles
for recognizing revenue from contracts with customers. The new accounting guidance, which does not apply to
financial instruments, is effective for us beginning in the first quarter of fiscal year 2018. We do not expect the new
guidance to have a material impact on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity, as CFC's primary
business and source of revenue is from lending.
NOTE 2—INVESTMENTS

Our investment portfolio consists of Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation ("Farmer Mac") preferred and
common stock. At May 31, 2014 and 2013, our investments in preferred stock and common stock are classified as
available for sale and
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therefore recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recorded as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income.

The following tables summarize our available-for-sale securities as of and for the years ended May 31, 2014 and 2013.
2014

(Dollars in thousands) Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized
Losses Fair Value

Farmer Mac Series A Preferred Stock $30,000 $— $(2,220 ) $27,780
Farmer Mac Series B Preferred Stock 25,000 500 — 25,500
Farmer Mac Class A Common Stock 538 1,359 — 1,897
Total available-for-sale securities $55,538 $1,859 $(2,220 ) $55,177

2013

(Dollars in thousands) Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized
Losses Fair Value

Farmer Mac Series A Preferred Stock $30,000 $— $(564 ) $29,436
Farmer Mac Class A Common Stock 538 1,658 — 2,196
Total available-for-sale securities $30,538 $1,658 $ (564 ) $31,632

As of May 31, 2014, our Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation Series A preferred stock was in a continuous
unrealized loss position for 12 months or longer. The unrealized loss position was due to changes in interest rates and
not because of credit quality of the issuer. We do not intend to sell this investment in the foreseeable future and we
expect to fully recover our cost.

NOTE 3—LOANS AND COMMITMENTS

We are a cost-based lender that offers long-term fixed- and variable-rate loans and line of credit loans. On long-term
loans, borrowers choose between a variable interest rate or a fixed interest rate for periods of one to 35 years. When a
selected fixed interest rate term expires, the borrower may select another fixed-rate term or the variable rate.
Unadvanced commitments are approved and executed loan contracts for which the funds have not yet been advanced.
Collateral and security requirements for advances on commitments are identical to those required at the time of the
initial loan approval.

Loans outstanding to members and unadvanced commitments by loan type and by member class are summarized as
follows at May 31, 2014 and 2013.
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2014 2013

(Dollars in thousands) Loans
Outstanding

Unadvanced
Commitments (1)

Loans
Outstanding

Unadvanced
Commitments (1)

Total by loan type: (2)
Long-term fixed-rate loans $18,175,656 $— $17,918,268 $—
Long-term variable-rate loans 753,918 4,710,273 782,006 4,718,162
Loans guaranteed by RUS 201,863 — 210,815 —
Line of credit loans 1,335,488 9,201,805 1,385,228 8,704,586
Total loans outstanding (3) 20,466,925 13,912,078 20,296,317 13,422,748
Deferred origination costs 9,717 — 9,557 —
Loans to members $20,476,642 $13,912,078 $20,305,874 $13,422,748

Total by member class:(2)
CFC:
Distribution $15,035,365 $9,531,315 $14,941,192 $8,948,826
Power supply 4,086,163 3,025,423 4,007,669 3,145,518
Statewide and associate 67,902 105,961 70,956 102,087
CFC total 19,189,430 12,662,699 19,019,817 12,196,431
RTFC 449,546 304,500 503,359 317,344
NCSC 827,949 944,879 773,141 908,973
Total loans outstanding $20,466,925 $13,912,078 $20,296,317 $13,422,748
(1) The interest rate on unadvanced commitments is not set until drawn, therefore, the long-term unadvanced loan
commitments have been classified in this table as variable-rate unadvanced commitments. However, at the time of the
advance, the borrower may select a fixed or a variable rate on the new loan.
(2) Includes nonperforming and restructured loans.
(3) Includes the unpaid principal balance excluding deferred origination costs.

Unadvanced Loan Commitments

A total of $2,274 million and $1,703 million of unadvanced commitments at May 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively,
represented unadvanced commitments related to committed lines of credit loans that are not subject to a material
adverse change clause at the time of each loan advance. As such, we will be required to advance amounts on these
committed facilities as long as the borrower is in compliance with the terms and conditions of the facility.

The following table summarizes the available balance under committed lines of credit at May 31, 2014 and the related
maturities by fiscal year as follows:

Available
balance

Notional Maturities of Committed Lines of Credit
(Dollars in thousands) 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Committed lines of credit $2,274,388 $19,238 $61,000 $456,855 $678,839 $1,058,456

The remaining unadvanced commitments totaling $11,638 million and $11,720 million at May 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively, were generally subject to material adverse change clauses. Prior to making an advance on these facilities,
we confirm that there has been no material adverse change in the business or condition, financial or otherwise, of the
borrower since the time the loan was approved and confirm that the borrower is currently in compliance with loan
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terms and conditions. In some cases, the borrower’s access to the full amount of the facility is further constrained by
the imposition of borrower-specific restrictions, or by additional conditions that must be met prior to advancing funds.

Unadvanced commitments related to line of credit loans are typically for periods not to exceed five years and are
generally revolving facilities used for working capital and backup liquidity purposes. Historically, we have
experienced a very low utilization rate on line of credit loan facilities, whether or not there is a material adverse
change clause. Since we generally do not charge a fee on the unadvanced portion of the majority of our loan facilities,
our borrowers will typically request long-term facilities to cover maintenance and capital expenditure work plans for
periods of up to five years and draw down on the facility
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over that time. In addition, borrowers will typically request an amount in excess of their immediate estimated loan
requirements to avoid the expense related to seeking additional loan funding for unexpected items. These factors
contribute to our expectation that the majority of the unadvanced commitments will expire without being fully drawn
upon and that the total unadvanced amount does not necessarily represent future cash funding requirements.

Payment Status of Loans

The tables below show an analysis of the age of the recorded investment in loans outstanding by member class at May
31, 2014 and 2013.

2014

(Dollars in thousands) Current 30-89 Days
Past Due

90 Days or
More
Past Due (1)

Total
Past Due

Total
Financing
Receivables

Non-accrual
Loans

CFC:
Distribution $15,035,365 $— $— $— $15,035,365 $7,584
Power supply 4,086,163 — — — 4,086,163 —
Statewide and associate 67,902 — — — 67,902 —
CFC total 19,189,430 — — — 19,189,430 7,584
RTFC 449,546 — — — 449,546 1,695
NCSC 827,949 — — — 827,949 400
Total loans outstanding $20,466,925 $— $— $— $20,466,925 $9,679

As a % of total loans 100.00 % — % — % — % 100.00 % 0.05 %
(1) All loans 90 days or more past due are on non-accrual status.

2013

(Dollars in thousands) Current 30-89 Days
Past Due

90 Days or
More
Past Due (1)

Total
Past Due

Total
Financing
Receivables

Non-accrual
Loans

CFC:
Distribution $14,938,351 $2,841 $— $2,841 $14,941,192 $7,584
Power supply 4,002,669 — 5,000 5,000 4,007,669 5,000
Statewide and
associate 70,956 — — — 70,956 —

CFC total 19,011,976 2,841 5,000 7,841 19,019,817 12,584
RTFC 495,040 4,163 4,156 8,319 503,359 10,497
NCSC 773,141 — — — 773,141 —
Total loans
outstanding $20,280,157 $7,004 $9,156 $16,160 $20,296,317 $23,081

As a % of total loans 99.92 % 0.03 % 0.05 % 0.08 % 100.00 % 0.11 %
(1) All loans 90 days or more past due are on non-accrual status.

Credit Quality
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We monitor the credit quality and performance statistics of our financing receivables in an ongoing manner to provide
a balance between the credit needs of our members and the requirements for sound credit quality of the loan portfolio.
We evaluate the credit quality of our loans using an internal risk rating system that employs similar criteria for all
member classes.

Our internal risk rating system is based on a determination of a borrower’s risk of default utilizing both quantitative
and qualitative measurements.

We have grouped our risk ratings into the categories of pass and criticized based on the criteria below.
(i)  Pass:  Borrowers that are not experiencing difficulty and/or not showing a potential or well-defined credit
weakness.
(ii) Criticized:  Includes borrowers categorized as special mention, substandard and doubtful as described below:
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•Special mention:  Borrowers that may be characterized by a potential credit weakness or deteriorating financialcondition that is not sufficiently serious to warrant a classification of substandard or doubtful.

•Substandard:  Borrowers that display a well-defined credit weakness that may jeopardize the full collection ofprincipal and interest.

•Doubtful:  Borrowers that have a well-defined weakness and the full collection of principal and interest isquestionable or improbable.

Borrowers included in the pass, special mention, and substandard categories are generally reflected in the general
portfolio of loans. Borrowers included in the doubtful category are reflected in the impaired portfolio of loans. Each
risk rating is reassessed annually based on the receipt of the borrower’s audited financial statements; however, interim
downgrades and upgrades may take place at any time as significant events or trends occur.

The following table presents our loan portfolio by risk rating category and member class based on available data as of
May 31, 2014 and 2013.

2014 2013
(Dollars in thousands) Pass Criticized Total Pass Criticized Total
CFC:
Distribution $15,018,642 $16,723 $15,035,365 $14,922,558 $18,634 $14,941,192
Power supply 4,086,163 — 4,086,163 4,002,669 5,000 4,007,669
Statewide and associate 67,625 277 67,902 70,668 288 70,956
CFC total 19,172,430 17,000 19,189,430 18,995,895 23,922 19,019,817
RTFC 447,851 1,695 449,546 483,058 20,301 503,359
NCSC 825,736 2,213 827,949 770,419 2,722 773,141
Total loans outstanding $20,446,017 $20,908 $20,466,925 $20,249,372 $46,945 $20,296,317

Credit Concentration

The service territories of our electric and telecommunications members are located throughout the United States and
its territories, including 49 states, the District of Columbia, American Samoa and Guam. At May 31, 2014 and 2013,
loans outstanding to borrowers in any state or territory did not exceed 16% and 15%, respectively, of total loans
outstanding. CFC, RTFC and NCSC each have policies limiting the amount of credit that can be extended to
individual borrowers or a controlled group of borrowers. At May 31, 2014 and 2013, the total exposure outstanding to
any one borrower or controlled group did not exceed 2.1% and 2.2%, respectively, of total loans and guarantees
outstanding. At May 31, 2014 and 2013, the 10 largest borrowers included four distribution systems and six power
supply systems. The following table shows the exposure to the 10 largest borrowers as a percentage of total credit
exposure broken down by exposure type and by borrower type at May 31, 2014 and 2013.

2014 2013
(Dollars in thousands) Amount % Amount %
Total by type:
Loans $3,155,857 14 % $2,981,627 14 %
Guarantees 363,325 2 374,340 2
Total credit exposure to 10 largest borrowers $3,519,182 16 % $3,355,967 16 %

Total by borrower type:
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CFC $3,378,698 15 % $3,240,755 15 %
NCSC 140,484 1 115,212 1
Total credit exposure to 10 largest borrowers $3,519,182 16 % $3,355,967 16 %
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Interest Rates

Below is the weighted-average loan balance and weighted-average yield earned during the fiscal years ended May 31,
2014 and 2013.

2014 2013

(Dollars in thousands)

Weighted-
Average
Loans
Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Yield

Weighted-
Average
Loans
Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Yield

Total by loan type:
Long-term fixed-rate loans $18,377,834 4.83 % $17,223,370 5.08 %
Long-term variable-rate loans 737,186 2.77 721,747 3.00
Line of credit loans 1,278,549 2.45 1,245,635 2.60
Restructured loans 10,819 1.26 157,059 8.89
Nonperforming loans 7,952 2.97 48,653 —
Total loans $20,412,340 4.60 $19,396,464 4.86

Total by borrower type:
CFC $19,192,656 4.63 % $18,169,399 4.88 %
RTFC 471,045 4.41 539,850 4.77
NCSC 748,639 4.00 687,215 4.37
Total $20,412,340 4.60 $19,396,464 4.86

In general, a borrower can select a fixed interest rate on long-term loans for periods of one to 35 years or a variable
rate. Upon expiration of the selected fixed interest rate term, the borrower must select a variable rate or select another
fixed-rate term for a period that does not exceed the remaining loan maturity. We set long-term fixed rates daily and
variable rates monthly. Upon notification to borrowers, variable-rate loans are eligible to be reset at least monthly.

Loan Repricing
Long-term fixed-rate loans outstanding at May 31, 2014, which will be subject to interest rate repricing during the
next five fiscal years and thereafter, are summarized as follows (due to principal repayments, amounts subject to
interest rate repricing may be lower at the actual time of interest rate repricing):

(Dollars in thousands) Amount
Repricing

Weighted-Average
Interest Rate

2015 $1,283,402 4.51 %
2016 978,378 4.62
2017 823,077 4.58
2018 799,236 4.80
2019 627,833 5.02
Thereafter 2,083,375 5.29

Loan Amortization
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On most long-term loans, level quarterly payments are required with respect to principal and interest in amounts
sufficient to repay the loan principal, generally over periods of up to 35 years from the date of the secured promissory
note.

The following table summarizes the principal amortization of long-term loans by loan type in each of the five fiscal
years following May 31, 2014 and thereafter as follows:
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Fixed-Rate Variable-Rate

(Dollars in thousands) Loan
Amortization (1)

Weighted-Average
Interest Rate

Loan
Amortization (1)

Total Loan
Amortization (1)

2015 $1,069,663 4.62 % $88,309 $1,157,972
2016 1,039,741 4.65 55,206 1,094,947
2017 1,070,614 4.43 55,646 1,126,260
2018 920,648 4.73 65,100 985,748
2019 874,562 4.80 59,866 934,428
Thereafter 13,384,730 5.15 447,353 13,832,083
Total $18,359,958 5.01 % $771,480 $19,131,438
(1) Represents scheduled amortization based on current rates without consideration for loans that reprice.

Loan Security

Except when providing line of credit loans, we typically lend to our members on a senior secured basis. Long-term
loans are typically secured on a parity with other secured lenders (primarily RUS), if any, by all assets and revenue of
the borrower with exceptions typical in utility mortgages. Line of credit loans are generally unsecured. In addition to
the lien and security interest we receive under the mortgage, our member borrowers are also required to achieve
certain financial ratios as required by loan covenants.

The following table summarizes our secured and unsecured loans outstanding by loan type and by company as of May
31, 2014 and 2013.
(Dollars in
thousands) 2014 2013

Total by loan
type: Secured % Unsecured % Total Secured % Unsecured % Total

Long-term
fixed-rate
loans

$17,185,456 95 % $990,200 5 % $18,175,656 $16,871,594 94 % $1,046,674 6 % $17,918,268

Long-term
variable-rate
loans

650,211 86 103,707 14 753,918 676,075 86 105,931 14 782,006

Loans
guaranteed
by RUS

201,863 100 — — 201,863 210,815 100 — — 210,815

Line of
credit loans 311,103 23 1,024,385 77 1,335,488 294,575 21 1,090,653 79 1,385,228

Total loans
outstanding $18,348,633 90 $2,118,292 10 $20,466,925 $18,053,059 89 $2,243,258 11 $20,296,317

Total by
company:
CFC $17,313,990 90 % $1,875,440 10% $19,189,430 $17,049,029 90 % $1,970,788 10% $19,019,817
RTFC 429,626 96 19,920 4 449,546 482,647 96 20,712 4 503,359
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NCSC 605,017 73 222,932 27 827,949 521,383 67 251,758 33 773,141
Total loans
outstanding $18,348,633 90 $2,118,292 10 $20,466,925 $18,053,059 89 $2,243,258 11 $20,296,317

Allowance for Loan Losses

We maintain an allowance for loan losses at a level estimated by management to provide for probable losses inherent
in the loan portfolio. Under a guarantee agreement, CFC reimburses RTFC and NCSC for loan losses.

The activity in the allowance for loan losses summarized in the tables below, reflects a disaggregation by company
based on borrower type as of and for the years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.
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2014
(Dollars in thousands) CFC RTFC (1) NCSC (1) Total
Balance as of May 31, 2013 $41,246 $9,158 $3,921 $54,325
Provision for loan losses 4,142 (3,270 ) 2,626 3,498
Charge-offs — (1,606 ) — (1,606 )
Recoveries of loans previously charged-off 212 — — 212
Balance as of May 31, 2014 $45,600 $4,282 $6,547 $56,429

2013
(Dollars in thousands) CFC RTFC (1) NCSC (1) Total
Balance as of May 31, 2012 $126,941 $8,562 $7,823 143,326
Provision for loan losses (66,785 ) 596 (3,902 ) (70,091 )
Charge-offs (19,122 ) — — (19,122 )
Recoveries of loans previously charged-off 212 — — 212
Balance as of May 31, 2013 $41,246 $9,158 $3,921 54,325

2012
(Dollars in thousands) CFC RTFC (1) NCSC (1) Total
Balance as of May 31, 2011 $143,706 $8,389 $9,082 $161,177
Provision for loan losses (16,976 ) 127 (1,259 ) (18,108 )
Recoveries of loans previously charged-off 211 46 — 257
Balance as of May 31, 2012 $126,941 $8,562 $7,823 $143,326
(1) The allowance for loan losses recorded for RTFC and NCSC are held at CFC.

Our allowance for loan losses includes a specific valuation allowance related to individually-evaluated impaired loans,
as well as a general reserve for other probable incurred losses for loans that are collectively evaluated. The tables
below present the allowance for loan losses and the recorded investment in outstanding loans by impairment
methodology and by company as of and for the years ended May 31, 2014 and 2013.

2014
(Dollars in thousands) CFC RTFC NCSC Total
Ending balance of the allowance:
Collectively evaluated $45,600 $3,876 $6,527 $56,003
Individually evaluated — 406 20 426
Total ending balance of the allowance $45,600 $4,282 $6,547 $56,429

Recorded investment in loans:
Collectively evaluated $19,181,846 $447,851 $827,549 $20,457,246
Individually evaluated 7,584 1,695 400 9,679
Total recorded investment in loans $19,189,430 $449,546 $827,949 $20,466,925

Loans to members, net (1) $19,143,830 $445,264 $821,402 $20,410,496
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2013
(Dollars in thousands) CFC RTFC NCSC Total
Ending balance of the allowance:
Collectively evaluated $41,246 $5,731 $3,921 $50,898
Individually evaluated — 3,427 — 3,427
Total ending balance of the allowance $41,246 $9,158 $3,921 $54,325

Recorded investment in loans:
Collectively evaluated $18,967,864 $492,862 $773,141 $20,233,867
Individually evaluated 51,953 10,497 — 62,450
Total recorded investment in loans $19,019,817 $503,359 $773,141 $20,296,317

Loans to members, net(1) $18,978,571 $494,201 $769,220 $20,241,992
(1) Excludes deferred origination costs of $10 million at May 31, 2014 and 2013.

Impaired Loans

Our recorded investment in individually-impaired loans and the related specific valuation allowance is summarized
below by member class at May 31, 2014 and 2013.

2014 2013

(Dollars in thousands) Recorded
Investment

Related
Allowance

Recorded
Investment

Related
Allowance

With no specific allowance recorded:
CFC/Distribution $7,584 $— $46,953 $—
CFC/Power Supply — — 5,000 —
Total 7,584 — 51,953 —

With a specific allowance recorded:
NCSC 400 20 — —
RTFC 1,695 406 10,497 3,427
Total 2,095 426 10,497 3,427
Total impaired loans $9,679 $426 $62,450 $3,427

The recorded investment for impaired loans was equal to the total unpaid principal balance for impaired loans as of
May 31, 2014 and 2013.

The table below represents the average recorded investment in impaired loans and the interest income recognized by
member class for the years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Average Recorded Investment Interest Income Recognized 
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
CFC/Distribution $10,850 $171,928 $490,609 $136 $13,956 $16,191
CFC/Power Supply 4,250 5,000 3,167 5 — —
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NCSC 218 — — 7 — —
RTFC 6,235 6,942 6,196 224 — —
Total impaired loans $21,553 $183,870 $499,972 $372 $13,956 $16,191
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Nonperforming and Restructured Loans

Nonperforming and restructured loans outstanding and unadvanced commitments to members are summarized as
follows by loan type and by company at May 31, 2014 and 2013.

2014 2013

(Dollars in thousands) Loans
Outstanding

Unadvanced
Commitments(1)

Loans
Outstanding

Unadvanced
Commitments(1)

Nonperforming and restructured loans:
Nonperforming loans:
CFC:
Line of credit loans (2) $— $— $5,000 $—
RTFC:
Long-term fixed-rate loans — — 3,690 —
Long-term variable-rate loans 1,695 — 6,807 —
NCSC:
       Line of credit loans 400 — — —
Total nonperforming loans $2,095 $— $15,497 $—

Restructured loans:
CFC:
Long-term fixed-rate loans $7,584 $— $46,953 $—
Line of credit loans (3) — — — 5,000
Total restructured loans $7,584 $— $46,953 $5,000
(1) The interest rate on unadvanced commitments is not set until drawn, therefore, the long-term unadvanced loan
commitments have been classified in this table as variable-rate unadvanced commitments. However, at the time of the
advance, the borrower may select a fixed or a variable rate on the new loan.
(2) The unadvanced commitment is available under a debtor-in-possession facility for which the principal and interest
has priority over all other claims.
(3) The unadvanced commitment is part of the terms outlined in the related restructure agreement. Loans advanced
under these commitments would be classified as performing. Principal and interest due under these performing loans
would be in addition to scheduled payments due under the restructured loan agreement.

The following table shows foregone interest income as a result of holding loans on non-accrual status as of each of the
years ended May 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Nonperforming loans $314 $597 $1,637
Restructured loans 488 341 6,714
Total $802 $938 $8,351

At May 31, 2014 and 2013, nonperforming loans totaled $2 million, or 0.01%, of loans outstanding and $15 million or
0.1%, of loans outstanding, respectively. One borrower in this group is currently seeking a buyer for its system, as it is
not anticipated that it will have sufficient cash flow to repay its loans without the proceeds from the sale of the
business. It is currently anticipated that even with the sale of the business, there will not be sufficient funds to repay
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the full amount owed. We have approval rights with respect to the sale of this company.

At May 31, 2014 and 2013, we had restructured loans totaling $8 million, or 0.04%, of loans outstanding and $47
million, or 0.2%, of loans outstanding, respectively, all of which were performing according to their restructured
terms. Approximately $0.1 million of interest income was accrued on restructured loans during the year ended May
31, 2014 compared to approximately $14 million of interest income during the prior year. One of the restructured
loans totaling $39 million at May 31, 2013, was refinanced without concession during the first quarter of fiscal year
2014, with the new loan classified as performing at May 31, 2014.

We believe our allowance for loan losses is appropriate to cover the losses inherent in our loan portfolio at May 31,
2014.
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Pledging of Loans and Loans on Deposit

We are required to pledge eligible mortgage notes in an amount at least equal to the outstanding balance of our
secured debt.

The following table summarizes our loans outstanding as collateral pledged to secure our collateral trust bonds, Clean
Renewable Energy Bonds and notes payable to the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation and the amount of the
corresponding debt outstanding (see "Note 5—Short-Term Debt and Credit Arrangements" and "Note 6—Long-Term
Debt") at May 31, 2014 and 2013.
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013
Collateral trust bonds:
2007 indenture:
Distribution system mortgage notes $5,987,767 $5,674,804
RUS guaranteed loans qualifying as permitted investments 161,372 165,823
Total pledged collateral $6,149,139 $5,840,627
Collateral trust bonds outstanding 5,397,711 4,679,372

1994 indenture:
Distribution system mortgage notes $1,005,058 $1,641,858
Collateral trust bonds outstanding 860,000 1,465,000

Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation:
Distribution and power supply system mortgage notes $1,907,607 $1,795,947
Notes payable outstanding 1,667,505 1,542,474

Clean Renewable Energy Bonds Series 2009A:
Distribution and power supply system mortgage notes $21,398 $23,536
Cash 520 7,634
Total pledged collateral $21,918 $31,170
Notes payable outstanding 18,230 19,888

We are required to maintain collateral on deposit in an amount at least equal to the balance of debt outstanding to the
Federal Financing Bank of the United States Treasury issued under the Guaranteed Underwriter Program of the U.S.
Department of Agriculture (the “Guaranteed Underwriter Program”). See "Note 5—Short-Term Debt and Credit
Arrangements" and "Note 6—Long-Term Debt."

The following table shows the collateral on deposit and the amount of the corresponding debt outstanding at May 31,
2014 and 2013.
(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013
Federal Financing Bank:
Distribution and power supply system mortgage notes on deposit $5,076,428 $3,903,786
Notes payable outstanding 4,299,000 3,674,000
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The $4,299 million and $3,674 million, respectively, of notes payable to the Federal Financing Bank at May 31, 2014
and 2013 contain a rating trigger related to our senior secured credit ratings from Standard & Poor’s Corporation and
Moody’s Investors Service. A rating trigger event exists if our senior secured debt does not have at least two of the
following ratings: (i) A- or higher from Standard & Poor’s Corporation, (ii) A3 or higher from Moody’s Investors
Service or (iii) an equivalent rating from a successor rating agency to any of the above rating agencies. If our senior
secured credit ratings fall below the levels listed above, the mortgage notes on deposit at that time, which totaled
$5,076 million at May 31, 2014, would be pledged as collateral rather than held on deposit. Also, if during any portion
of a fiscal year, our senior secured credit ratings fall below the levels
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listed above, we may not make cash patronage capital distributions in excess of 5% of total patronage capital. At May
31, 2014, our senior secured debt ratings from Standard & Poor’s Corporation and Moody’s Investors Service were A+
and A1, respectively. At May 31, 2014, both Standard & Poor’s Corporation and Moody’s Investors Service had our
ratings on stable outlook.

A total of $4,299 million and $3,674 million of these notes payable to the Federal Financing Bank at May 31, 2014
and 2013, respectively, have a second trigger requiring that a director on the CFC Board of Directors satisfies the
requirements of a financial expert as defined by Section 407 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. A financial expert
triggering event will occur if the financial expert position remains vacant for more than 90 consecutive days. If CFC
does not satisfy the financial expert requirement, the mortgage notes on deposit at that time, which totaled $5,076
million at May 31, 2014, would be pledged as collateral rather than held on deposit. The financial expert position on
the CFC Board of Directors has been filled since March 2007.

NOTE 4—FORECLOSED ASSETS

Assets received in satisfaction of loan receivables are initially recorded at fair value when received and are
subsequently periodically evaluated for impairment. These assets are classified on the consolidated balance sheets as
foreclosed assets. At May 31, 2014, all foreclosed assets were held by DRP and CAH, which are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of CFC.

The activity for foreclosed assets is summarized below as of and for the year ended May 31, 2014.
2014

(Dollars in thousands) CAH DRP Total
Balance as of May 31, 2013 $248,049 $13,423 $261,472
Results of operations (11,853 ) (1,641 ) (13,494 )
Other comprehensive loss (2,310 ) — (2,310 )
Net cash investments (proceeds) 5,233 (5,250 ) (17 )
Balance as of May 31, 2014 $239,119 $6,532 $245,651

On October 6, 2010, CFC, through its wholly owned subsidiary CAH, obtained control of 100% of the equity interests
of Innovative Communication Corporation's (“ICC”) USVI operating entities and on March 1, 2011, CAH obtained
control of 100% of the equity interests of ICC’s British Virgin Island and St. Maarten operating entities. The
transaction, completed in two phases, resulted from the transfer of ICC’s assets in bankruptcy.

The transfer of ICC’s operating entities to CAH was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and
resulted in the establishment of goodwill on the balance sheet of CAH.

The USVI, British Virgin Island and St. Maarten entities transferred to CFC include the following:

•a regulated incumbent local exchange carrier offering local telephone and data services to business and residentialcustomers in the USVI;
•an Internet service provider offering broadband services to residential and business customers in the USVI;

•a long-distance service provider offering interstate and international voice and data services for both business andresidential markets in the USVI;
•a wireless telephone service provider in the USVI; and
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•providers of cable television services in St. Thomas, St. John and St. Croix, USVI, the British Virgin Islands and St.Maarten.

As a result of our impairment assessment of our investments in foreclosed assets, we recorded an impairment charge
of $1 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, related to our investment in CAH. The impairment charge,
which is included as a component of results of operations of foreclosed assets in our consolidated statements of
operations, was attributable to the write-down of the value of certain trade names associated with CAH entities.
Results of operations of foreclosed assets are excluded in determining our compliance with debt covenants under our
existing indentures and credit facility agreements.
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As of May 31, 2014, CAH had total assets of $295 million, which consisted primarily of property, plant and
equipment and goodwill and other intangible assets. As of May 31, 2014, CAH reported total liabilities of $236
million, which included $180 million in loans and interest payable to CFC that is eliminated in consolidation.

During the year, our investment in the DRP foreclosed assets decreased primarily due to net cash proceeds received of
$5 million from the sale of raw land and developed lots and bond reimbursements received.

NOTE 5—SHORT-TERM DEBT AND CREDIT ARRANGEMENTS

The following is a summary of short-term debt outstanding and the weighted-average interest rates at May 31, 2014
and 2013.

2014 2013

(Dollars in thousands) Debt
Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Interest Rate

Debt
Outstanding

Weighted-Average
Interest Rate

Short-term debt:
Commercial paper sold through dealers, net of
discounts (1) $1,973,557 0.14 % $2,009,884 0.16 %

Commercial paper sold directly to members, at par (1) 838,074 0.13 812,141 0.16
Commercial paper sold directly to non-members, at par
(1) 20,315 0.13 39,298 0.18

Select notes 548,610 0.27 358,390 0.34
Daily liquidity fund notes 486,501 0.06 680,419 0.10
Bank bid notes 20,000 0.60 150,000 0.54
    Subtotal short-term debt 3,887,057 0.15 4,050,132 0.18

Long-term debt maturing within one year:
Medium-term notes sold through dealers 377,819 0.56 989,607 0.76
Medium-term notes sold to members 383,149 0.94 391,318 1.51
Secured collateral trust bonds 404,712 1.08 1,504,949 4.47
Loan and guarantees subordinated certificates 31,761 2.73 37,176 2.63
Member capital securities 58,950 7.50 — —
Secured notes payable 237,046 2.44 742,402 2.06
Unsecured notes payable 18,900 3.53 3,899 5.15
     Total long-term debt maturing within one year 1,512,337 1.44 3,669,351 2.65
Total short-term debt $5,399,394 0.51 $7,719,483 1.35
(1) Backup liquidity is provided by our revolving credit agreements.

We issue commercial paper for periods of one to 270 days. We also issue select notes for periods ranging from 30 to
270 days, which are unsecured obligations that do not require backup bank lines of credit for liquidity purposes. These
notes require a larger minimum investment than our commercial paper sold to members and as a result, offer a higher
interest rate than our commercial paper. We also issue daily liquidity fund notes, which are unsecured obligations that
do not require backup bank lines of credit for liquidity purposes. We also enter into short-term bank bid note
agreements, which are unsecured obligations that do not require backup bank lines of credit for liquidity purposes. We

Edgar Filing: NATIONAL RURAL UTILITIES COOPERATIVE FINANCE CORP /DC/ - Form 10-K

191



do not pay a commitment fee for bank bid notes. The commitments are generally subject to termination at the
discretion of the individual banks. We also issue medium-term notes, which represent unsecured obligations that may
be issued through dealers in the capital markets or directly to our members.

Revolving Credit Agreements

At May 31, 2014 and 2013, we had $3,226 million and $3,100 million, respectively, of commitments under revolving
credit agreements. We may request letters of credit for up to $100 million under each agreement in place at May 31,
2014, which then reduces the amount available under the facility. The following table presents the total available and
the outstanding letters of credit under our revolving credit agreements at May 31, 2014 and 2013.
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Total Available Letters of Credit
Outstanding

(Dollars in thousands) 2014 2013 2014 2013 Maturity Annual Facility
Fee (1)

Three-year agreement $— $219,000 $— $— March 21, 2014 15 basis points

Three-year agreement 1,036,000 916,000 — — October 28,
2016 10 basis points

Four-year agreement 1,122,500 1,007,500 — — October 28,
2017 10 basis points

Five-year agreement 1,065,609 954,012 1,891 3,488 October 28,
2018 10 basis points

Total $3,224,109 $3,096,512 $1,891 $3,488
(1) Facility fee determined by CFC’s senior unsecured credit ratings based on the pricing schedules put in place at the
inception of the related agreement.

During the year ended May 31, 2014, we amended our three-year, four-year, and five-year revolving credit
agreements to extend the maturity dates by one year each to October 28, 2016, 2017, and 2018, respectively. During
the year ended May 31, 2014, we exercised our option to increase the commitment level for the three-year, four-year,
and five-year revolving credit agreements by $120 million, $115 million and $110 million, respectively, to $1,036
million, $1,122 million, and $1,068 million, respectively.

The facility fee and applicable margin under each agreement are determined by the pricing matrices in the agreements
based on our senior unsecured credit ratings. With respect to the borrowings, we have the right to choose between a (i)
Eurodollar rate plus an applicable margin or (ii) base rate calculated based on the greater of prime rate, the federal
funds effective rate plus 0.50 percent or the one-month LIBOR rate plus 1 percent, plus an applicable margin. Our
ability to borrow or obtain a letter of credit under all of the agreements is not conditioned on the absence of material
adverse changes with regard to CFC. We also have the right, subject to certain terms and conditions, to increase the
aggregate amount of the commitments under (i) the three-year credit facility to a maximum of $1,500 million, (ii) the
four-year credit facility to a maximum of $1,300 million and (iii) the five-year credit facility to a maximum of $1,300
million.

For calculating the required financial covenants in our revolving credit agreements, we adjust net income, senior debt
and total equity to exclude the non-cash adjustments from the accounting for derivative financial instruments and
foreign currency translation. Additionally, the times interest earned ratio (“TIER”) and senior debt to total equity ratio
include the following adjustments:

•
The adjusted TIER, as defined by the agreements, represents the interest expense adjusted to include the derivative
cash settlements plus net income prior to the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle and dividing that
total by the interest expense adjusted to include the derivative cash settlements.

•
The senior debt to total equity ratio includes adjustments to senior debt to exclude RUS-guaranteed loans,
subordinated deferrable debt and members’ subordinated certificates. Total equity is adjusted to include subordinated
deferrable debt and members’ subordinated certificates. Senior debt includes guarantees; however, it excludes:

◦ guarantees for members where the long-term unsecured debt of the member is rated at least BBB+ by Standard
& Poor’s Corporation or Baa1 by Moody’s Investors Service; and

◦
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the payment of principal and interest by the member on the guaranteed indebtedness if covered by insurance or
reinsurance provided by an insurer having an insurance financial strength rating of AAA by Standard & Poor’s
Corporation or a financial strength rating of Aaa by Moody’s Investors Service.

•The CAH results of operations and other comprehensive income are eliminated from the CFC financial results used tocalculate both the adjusted TIER ratio and the senior debt-to-equity ratio.

The following represents our required and actual financial ratios under the revolving credit agreements at or for the
years ended May 31, 2014 and 2013.

Actual
Requirement 2014 2013

Minimum average adjusted TIER over the six most recent fiscal
quarters(1) 1.025 1.28 1.27

Minimum adjusted TIER for the most recent fiscal year (1) (2)
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